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EVOLUTION

t's what allows us to learn from the past,
pinpoint the keys to our success, advance the
present and envision the future. In a world where
market fluctuations have global implications,
Sagicor is heavily invested in the forward thinking
necessary to keep our company strong, stable
and agile, regardless of inevitable economic ebbs

and flows. As a result, our future is evolving to

look brighter than ever.
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OVERVIEW

Sagicor is an integrated, international financial services Group. Our
vision is “To be a great company committed to improving the lives
of the people in the communities in which we operate.”

With a proud history dating back to 1840, Sagicor is a dynamic,
indigenous Group which has been redefining financial services in
the Caribbean, building a strong base from which it has expanded
into the international financial services market. Sagicor now
operates in 22 countries in the Caribbean, Latin America, the UK
and the USA. In 2002, after 162 years as The Barbados Mutual
Life Assurance Society, the company demutualised, with the
overwhelming support of its policyholders, and Sagicor Financial
Corporation was formed as a publicly-listed holding company.
Sagicor, the new Company name, means “wise judgment”,

and reflects a new vision for financial advice and services. For
172 years, we have worked to help families by providing the
assurance and peace of mind needed, especially during their most
challenging times. This has not changed.

Our name and identity draw on the strength, stability and financial
prudence that are our heritage, but this identity also represents the
freedom that wise financial thinking can bring to our customers
throughout their lives. Through a wide range of financial products
and services, Sagicor offers “wise judgment” throughout the entire
life cycle — whether it is the purchase of a new home, planning a
child’s future and higher education, retirement, or simply providing
security for loved ones. Sagicor will meet financial needs now and
for the future.

Sagicor has developed an incomparable reputation because of its
financial stability. That solid reputation is based on the Company’s
excellent financial performance and financial prudence over

the years. Our insurance subsidiaries, Sagicor Life Inc, Sagicor
Capital Life, Sagicor Life Insurance Company and Sagicor General
Insurance are rated “A-” (Excellent) by A.M. Best and Company,
and Sagicor at Lloyd’s, a member of Lloyd’s of London, is rated

“A+" by A.M. Best and Company. Sagicor Life Jamaica is rated
“BBB”. Sagicor Life Inc has a financial strength rating of BBB- from
Standard and Poor’s.

Sagicor’s objective is to create a leading international financial
services group which provides world class products and services to
customers, while generating excellent returns for Shareholders. The
Company’s medium term strategy to achieve this objective is to:

-  Optimise the use of capital to maximise shareholder
returns;

«  Re-engineer operations to achieve significant
improvement in efficiency and customer service;

- Grow revenues organically, while pursuing opportunities
for measured expansion, and

«  Promote a strong governance and risk management
culture.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Stephen McNamara

Chairman

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Sagicor Financial
Corporation, | am pleased to report to you on the 2011
performance of the Sagicor Group.

The year 2011 was one of mixed fortune for the Sagicor Group.

A strong performance from Sagicor Life Jamaica, together with
solid performances from the rest of Sagicor in the Caribbean and
Sagicor USA, allowed the Sagicor Group to counter the impact of
exceptional catastrophe losses at Sagicor at Lloyds, to post Group
net income of US $31.8 million for the financial year 2011. Group
net income for 2010 was US $41.6 million. Net income attributable
to shareholders for 2011 was US $1.0 million, compared to

US $16.6 million in 2010.

As reported in previous quarters, 2011 was a record year for
catastrophes. As a result, Sagicor at Lloyd’s incurred significant
underwriting losses on its international property reinsurance
assumed business during the year. In addition, the segment also
incurred losses in its UK motor direct business. Together, these
combined to produce losses at Sagicor at Lloyds of

US $33.4 million for 2011. These losses dampened an otherwise
solid performance for the remainder of the Sagicor Group. The
overall impact of the results of Sagicor at Lloyd’s on net income is
illustrated in the table below.

Group [Shareholder

in US $ millions 2011 2010|2011 2010

Net income excluding Sagicor at Lloyd’s| 65.2 | 54.7 | 34.4| 29.7

Net loss of Sagicor at Lloyd’s (33.4)[(13.1)[(33.4)[(13.1)

Net income for the year 31.8141.6| 1.0|16.6

The net income of US $65.2 million from other Group operations
(US $34.4 million to shareholders) represents the creditable
performance of our other business lines. This result is net of Group
finance costs, which arise from funds utilised mainly to support
our expansion in the USA and UK.

In reviewing the consolidated statement of income, the Group
continues to record growth in business.

Group revenue for 2011 totalled US $1,350.6 million, and
increased by US $94.5 million over that for 2010. Premium revenue
reached US $1,004.3 million, increasing by 11.5%. Life, annuity,
property and casualty insurance premiums recorded growth. Net
investment income registered a marginal decline of 2.8%, totalling
US $285.0 million in 2011. This decline is a reflection of declining
interest rates in Jamaica, and of the need to increase provisions for
the impairment of certain financial investments, particularly within
the Caribbean region.



Total insurance benefits recorded were US $757.6 million,
increasing by 9.5% over 2010. All principal lines of insurance
recorded increases, particularly the international property
insurance lines, as identified in a foregoing paragraph. Interest
expense on funds deposited with Sagicor by customers and
corporate institutions registered a decline of 9.1%, as rates were
adjusted to match the investment climate.

Total expenses increased by 11.0% to US $476.7 million.
Commission expenses accounted for some US $33.0 million of the
increase, which is consistent with the growth in premium income.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, total assets
surpassed the US $5 billion dollar threshold in 2011. Financial
investments continue to be the principal asset type, and totalled
US $4.1 billion at the end of the year. Policy liabilities totalled
US $3.0 billion, while deposit and security liabilities totalled

US $1.1 billion.

At December 31, 2011, total equity reached US $797.5 million, with
shareholders’ equity totalling US $607.1 million. Shareholders’
equity increased during the year, with the successful offering of
common and preference shares. The book value per common
share was US $1.92 per share (2010 — US $1.96). The Group’s

debt is represented by notes and loans payable in the statement of
financial position. Debt totalled US $232.5 million, and the debt to
equity ratio was 29.2% at the end of the year. Debt increased during
2011, with the successful offering of preference shares in July.

For Sagicor, 2011 was a year in which the natural catastrophes in
the international property reinsurance market overshadowed the
overall performance of the Group. The Group has now exited the
international property reinsurance market and the UK direct motor
market, with only run-off exposure in 2012. We expect that, with the
experience of 2011 behind us, the Group will record substantially
improved returns to our shareholders in 2012.

The global economy continues to show signs of improvement.
Improvements in the US economy and a resolution to the Greek
debt crisis augur well for a return to modest growth. However, the
Caribbean economies have continued to experience difficulty in
2011, as Governments struggle with rising fiscal deficits and high
debt to GDP ratios. We therefore expect a period of continued
weakness in the region, with a challenging business environment.
At Sagicor, we continue to make adjustments to our operations as
we navigate through these challenging times.

The Board has decided to maintain a final dividend of US 2 cents
for 2011, making a total dividend of US 4 cents for the year.

The Board has also declared a dividend of US 3.25 cents on the
Company’s preference shares. Both dividends will be paid on
May 15.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to sincerely thank our Policyholders,
Clients, Staff, Insurance Advisors and Business Partners for their
continued and valued support to Sagicor throughout 2011.

4&#__.,.

Stephen McNamara
Chairman
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RETURNS ON COMMON SHARES

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS EARNINGS PER SHARE

US$1.0m (US$m) 0.2 cents (US cents)
2011 1.0 | 2011 W 02|
2010 | 16.6 | 2010 | 57|

0.2% (%) 4.0 cents (US cents)
2011 [ 0.2 | 2011
2010 | 3.0 | 2010 | 4.0 |

US$5779m (US$m) 192.0 cents (US cents)
2011 2011
2010 | 565.6 | 2010 | 195.7 |

INFORMATION ON COMMON SHARES

MARKET CAPITALISATION

US$411.8m (US$m)
2011
2010 | 399.2 |

SHARE PRICE
136.8 cents (US cents)
201 . 1368 |
2010 | 138.1 |




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

GROUP FINANCIAL POSITION

EQUITY

US$5,364.Tm (US$m) US$797.5m (US$m)
201 201
2010 | 4,867.8 | 2010 738.8
| opemancuamumEs |
US$4,334.0m (US$m) US$232.5m (US$m)
201 43340 | 201
2010 | 3,947.1 | 2010 | 181.9 |
e
269% (%) 29.2% (%)
2011 269 2011
2010 | 224 | 2010 | 24.6 |
GROUP RESULTS
US$31.8m (US$m) US$1,350.6m (US$m)
201 318 2011
2010 | 41.6 | 2010 | 1,256.1 |
US$828.6m (US$m) US$490.2m (US$m)
201 2011 [ 490.2 |
2010 | 769.7 | 2010 | 4448 |
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

SEGMENT RESULTS
US$327.8m (US$m) US$31.1m (US$m)
201 2011
2010 | 311.0 | 2010 | 29.0 |
US$432.6m (US$m) US$66.9m (US$m)
201 201
2010 | 389.9 | 2010 | 56.3 |
US$412.1m (US$Sm) US$(33.4)m (US$m)
2011 2011 [ e
2010 | 355.1 | 2010 | (13.1)
US$142.6m (USSm) US$5.6m (US$m)
201 2011
2010 | 162.7 | 2010 | 3.1 |
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Volunteerism and Community Involvement

In 2011, volunteerism and community involvement were the
hallmarks of the Sagicor Group’s social investment in the various
communities in which we operate.

The various companies and staff within the Group generously
gave of their time to support several causes, ranging from Sagicor
staff in the UK volunteering as lunchtime reading partners with
individual children to help them develop reading skills, to Colour
Me Pink, a fund-raising drive for the Cancer Society in Trinidad and
Tobago.

Most of the projects, however, focused on helping children. In

the USA, Sagicor Life Insurance Company joined other corporate
partners in the Spring Into Health programmes, health and

fitness activities for cancer and kidney patients of the Phoenix
Children’s and All Children’s hospitals. Staff also volunteered in a
Back to School Drive, and donated supplies for 4th and 5th grade
classrooms, as well as supplies to teachers, in Tampa and Phoenix.

Sagicor Life Insurance Company also sponsored the University of
South Florida’s (USF) Men’s Basketball Team for the first time.

They started with a successful season and, for the first time since
1994, were selected for the NCAA “March Madness” tournament.

In Trinidad and Tobago, Sagicor Life staff provided several families
in a rural community with gifts and hampers at Christmas. They
also raised funds for donations to other organisations with another
staff-driven initiative, The Clash of the Pot Spoons, now in its 5th
year. In addition, the event allowed staff members to display their
culinary creativity.

‘Spending time, Shaping lives’ was the theme in Jamaica, as
Sagicor staff supported early childhood education. During the
island-wide primary school tour, in addition to encouraging

students, staff shared with them the importance of saving at an
early age. Health screenings were also done through the Sagicor
Mobile Unit, where checks were made for height, weight, vision
and hearing. The tour reached approximately 10,000 boys and girls
at twenty-two schools.

Staff in Barbados hosted several Sagicor Mornings at the Breakfast
Club at the Young Women Christian Association (YWCA).
Volunteers served breakfast to children from 6:00 a.m. to 8:30 a.m.,
thereby ensuring that they received a hot meal before the start of
school.

Sagicor Life Inc and Sagicor General Insurance Inc sponsored

a new schollarship, a BSc. Degree in Insurance and Risk
Management at the St Augustine Campus at the University of the
West Indies, Trinidad and Tobago. This programme is open to our
staff, as well as interested members of the general public.

Last year, Sagicor Life Inc in Barbados began a strategic
partnership with Supreme Counselling, a non-profit, voluntary,
community-based organisation. The organisation provides
education, counselling and mentorship services for persons
experiencing substance abuse, family and behavioural problems
and other issues. Working with a team of professional Counsellors
and Psychologists, services are offered to individuals and groups
via schools and local communities. Some of the areas covered
include anger management, conflict resolution, self-esteem
building, self-awareness, career planning and behavioural
modification.

Long Term Partnerships

Over the years, the Sagicor Group has established quite a few
long-term initiatives in several areas. In Trinidad and Tobago,

the Sagicor/St Andrew’s Invitational and Sagicor Junior Tennis
Tournament entered their 14th and 13th years of sponsorship



respectively. These two events are among the most anticipated
events in the twin island sporting calendar, and for many years, the
Sagicor Junior Tennis Tournament has honed and harnessed the
budding skills of some of Trinidad and Tobago’s most promising
tennis talents. The always keenly contested Sagicor/St. Andrew’s
Invitational continues to attract new entrees each year, and is

a tournament that allows for qualification for the Trinidad and
Tobago Hoerman Cup team.

PanCaribbean held its 13th annual Sigma Corporate Run, and
funds raised were donated to the Victoria Jubilee Hospital’s Neo-
Natal unit.

Sagicor USA entered its 4th year as a corporate partner with Major
League Baseball’s Tampa Bay Rays and the National Football
League’s Arizona Cardinals. Sagicor USA also continued its
sponsorship with the University of South Florida (USF) “Bulls*
Football Programme, which is now in its 4th successful year.
Through these partnerships, Sagicor USA is active in a number of
community outreach programs both in Tampa Bay, Florida, and
metro Phoenix, Arizona.

In Barbados, Sagicor Life continued its support of the Sagicor
Centre for Life Long Learning at the Cave Hill Campus of

the University of the West Indies. The Centre is dedicated to
undergraduate training through the use of modern educational
technology. The Company also continued to provide scholarships
to the Faculty of Social Sciences and the Faculty of Law at UWI.
Both of these programmes were started well over fifteen years ago.

Sagicor General continued its commitment to cricket, at the
community and club levels, with the Sagicor Super Cup, now in
its 37th year, and the Sagicor General Shield, now in its 36th year.
Over 45 community and secondary schools participate in this
competition annually.

The Sagicor West Indies Cricket High Performance Centre

The Sagicor Group made its single largest investment to date

in the field of sport, when it sponsored the establishment of the
Sagicor West Indies Cricket High Performance Centre, which is
based at the 3Ws Oval of the Cave Hill Campus of the University of
the West Indies, Barbados.

The Sagicor West Indies Cricket High Performance Centre provides
a unique educational and training facility, designed to create

well rounded, multi-skilled young cricketers. It offers support in
physical, technical, psychological and lifestyle areas of the game,
and players follow a programme specifically tailored to their
individual needs.

As Dodridge Miller, Group President and CEO, said at its launch,
Sagicor’s investment in the High Performance Centre (HPC) must
be viewed within the context of the Group’s wider vision, which
sees our people and our institutions, including our sporting teams,
competing in the global arena as equals.

Less than two years following its inauguration, the HPC is

being lauded as a step in the right direction for revitalising the
performance of West Indies cricket. One of the key weaknesses
identified in Caribbean cricket has been the absence of physical
infrastructure and expert coaching, at all levels, to properly prepare
players for competition. Within a relatively short space of time,

the Sagicor High Performance Centre has undoubtedly made a
difference.

The HPC has conducted several series of developmental curricula
for emerging regional cricketers to enhance and nurture future
cricket talents. One of the participants, Jamaican all-rounder
Nkruma Bonner, said, “The HPC has changed us as players for
the better. It is a great programme for the development of young

13
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cricketers and, while improving my skills, | also improved both
physically and mentally during the time | spent there.”

Shannon Gabriel, a 23-year-old fast bowler, believes the time he
spent at the HPC has significantly improved his game. “The HPC
has helped with my all-round cricket. | have improved mentally as
a cricketer, and the programme has made me a better person, both
on and off the field. In terms of on the field, | have learned to be
more consistent in my bowling, | am much fitter, and | have more
knowledge about the game,” he explained.

Veerasammy Permaul, who was thrust into the role of captain of
the West Indies A Team after Captain Dwayne Bravo suffered an
injury, said that his stint at the Sagicor High Performance Centre
has better equipped him to handle the rigours of leadership.

Participants in the HPC programmes came from all across

the Caribbean, and from varying backgrounds and skill levels.
Recognising that there is more to the modern day sportsperson
than the sport itself, skills-training also includes improving life
skills, social interaction, and techniques to enhance self-belief and
the desire to succeed. Participants are taught to face their fears
and to test and improve their mental toughness through different
challenges. The players are also taught numerous techniques

on the importance of establishing routines, communication,
performing under pressure, concentration, as well as the
importance of maintaining a positive and disciplined attitude
throughout a tough work schedule.

While the focus of the HPC is to hone the skills of young cricketers in
the region, it has also successfully conducted remedial and preparatory
work with established professional players and training coaches.

West Indian off-spinner Shane Shillingford, who was suspended
from bowling for the West Indies after the International Cricket
Council (ICC) declared his action to be illegal, underwent five

months of intensive and significant remedial work on his bowling
technique at the Sagicor High Performance Centre. Following an
independent test, he was subsequently cleared to return to playing
international cricket.

West Indies all-rounder Shanel Daley, who played in the

ICC Women’s World Cup 2013 Qualification Tournament in
Bangladesh, said that the week spent at the Sagicor High
Performance Centre in Barbados, ahead of the Tournament, helped
her game to improve considerably. “Before we came out here, |
worked with Roddy Estwick, the Bowling Coach at the Sagicor HPC,
and he offered me some excellent advice. He taught me a few
things, and now | am giving the ball a lot more air and bowling a
bit slower. It has been working for me on this trip, and | believe |
am a much better bowler.”

The Sagicor High Performance Centre secured the services of
world-renowned biomechanist, Dr. Paul Hussion, who worked with
HPC Bowling Coach and West Indies Under-19 Head Coach, Roddy
Estwick. They were joined by WICB Physiotherapist, CJ Clark, and
video and statistical analyst, Richard Berridge, along with several
other consultants to facilitate a Workshop for coaches. Improving
the skills of cricket coaches in the region is vitally important, and
the Workshop sought to give clear guidelines on how to coach
effectively, and how to make changes and adjustments where
necessary. Because of the regions’ great history of producing
amazing fast bowlers, the HPC also included the various aspects
of fast bowling for the coaches, providing them with a knowledge
base to assist in the development of young fast bowlers. Two
coaches from each Territorial Board, Combined Campuses and
Colleges, as well as other interested coaches, participated in the
Workshop. The HPC will be conducting additional workshops on
batting, spin bowling, wicket-keeping and fielding in the future.

Sagicor believes that the return of West Indies cricket to its rightful
place on the world stage is an essential link in the restoration of



the rapidly fading pride and industry; attributes that were once the
hallmark of our people. We believe that it is vital for the region to
believe in itself, and in its right to have a place in this New World,
and we see the High Performance Cricket Centre as an important
part of this process. There is renewed optimism that the Sagicor
High Performance Centre has started to create the reservoir of
talent that will serve West Indies well in the coming years.

Carl Hooper, the former Guyana and West Indies captain who was
appointed Batting Coach of the Sagicor High Performance Centre,
perhaps best sums up the instant success and importance of

the HCP to the region, in a recent interview. He said, “Having an
‘academy’ is a great thing for West Indies cricket. The programme
is well-structured and very well-run. The good thing about it is that
you have your best young players assembled together, and they
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1. Sagicor Staff with the children of Navet Village, Trinidad, at their Christmas Party.
2. Sagicor Life Insurance Company Staff in the USA, at the “Back-To-School Supplies Drive”.
3. Branch Manager leads his team with “Two Little Pigs” at the Clash of the Pot Spoons charity cook off in Trinidad.

get to work together as a team. The efforts and emphasis, as is
being done, have to be placed on ‘academies’ at the developmental
levels, if we are to see an improvement in the game. Getting young
cricketers involved and helping them in every way is certainly
going in the right direction. It definitely will help. | can see us
coming back up in world cricket. We are certainly going in the right
direction.”
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4. Pupils with Sagicor staff member, at the Sagicor Life Jamaica School Tour.

5. Members of the Sagicor West Indies Cricket High Performance Centre with school children, as part of the “HPC in the Community”
programme.

6.& 8. Sagicor at Lloyd’s staff members in the UK, assisting with some of the activities at the Globe Children’s Fair.

7. Members of the Sagicor Life Jamaica Sigma Run Team.




8. Sagicor Life Insurance Company Staff in the USA at the Tampa Bay Rays Community Corner.

9. Sagicor West Indies Cricket HPC Manager and Bola technician after the installation of the state-of-the-art
Merlyn spin bowling machine.

10. Trinidad & Tobago Sagicor Staff in “Colour Me Pink” polo shirts, as part of the fundraising initiatives for the
Cancer Society.

11. Members of the winning team, “Sandy Crest Maple”, at the Sagicor General T20 tournament in Barbados.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

In the face of persistent negative news about the state of the world
economy and spiraling unemployment, Employee Engagement
became the primary pillar of our Human Resources Strategy for
2011. Several Human Resources initiatives within the Group
focused on employee recognition, enhancing communication and
feedback, and building employee confidence about their prospects
and competence in their roles. Events recognised and rewarded
team members for their dedication and high performance, while
providing opportunities for social interaction. Some of these
included Annual Awards functions, Motivational Seminars, themed
seasonal events and, at Sagicor Life Jamaica, “SagiQuiz”, a
department/branch quiz competition and talent show.

Town Hall meetings, initiatives on Emotional Intelligence and
our LOMA Employee Opinion Surveys provide opportunities for
valuable feedback from employees each year.

Compensation and benefit surveys in 2011 provided valuable
information, which will be used in the decision-making process
as we align our compensation philosophy across the Group and
maintain competitive market positions.

Training and Development

Sagicor Life Inc engaged the services of LIMRA for an Executive
Development Programme, as part of its employee development
strategy. LIMRA’s Executive Development programmes are tailored
specifically for senior and emerging leaders in the financial services
industry. Management workshops, facilitated by top LIMRA
professionals, focused on key strategic topics such as Effective
Organisational Change, Mentoring for Impact and Creating a
Culture of Achievement.

Sagicor Life Jamaica launched an eighteen-month Leadership
Summit with twenty (20) team members. This provides for

mentoring and job rotations, and supports the corporate
succession programme.

Sagicor General Insurance Inc completed a training programme
under the corporate theme, “Create a Culture of Service
Excellence”, in support of a corporate initiative to deliver excellent
service.

Group companies delivered Anti-Money Laundering, Information
Security and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics courses in 2011,
using workshops and e-learning formats that provide 24-hour
access to training materials. These programmes provided training:

«  To meet regulatory requirements in several countries;

- For international best practices for the security of client
and company information; and

- To sensitise employees to their obligations under Sagicor’s
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Life Style — Employee Wellness Programmes

In response to global trend data that links lifestyles to obesity and
chronic diseases, our Human Resources strategy took a proactive
approach by implementing and upgrading Employee Wellness
programmes. Sagicor Life Insurance Company, USA (SUSA), is in
the 3rd year of a highly successful programme that achieved a zero-
cost-increase point for their employee health benefits for 2012.
Through a preventative strategy for healthcare, they implemented

a comprehensive wellness programme that included monthly
educational initiatives, annual wellness screenings and remediation
through education, exercise and counseling. Similar programmes
geared to improving employee health will be implemented within
the Group in 2012.



Global HR Project

The Global Human Resources task force rolled out the final

three components for Sagicor Success in the Group-wide talent
management project - Succession Management, Recruiting and
Careers, and Career and Development. These modules will enhance
the Group’s strategic human resources management capacity by
improving our planning for foreseen and unexpected departures,
facilitate the development of Group-wide access to talent pools of
employees who are ready for key positions within the company, and
for corporate knowledge transfer to successors. The final initiative
under this project will be 360° feedback.

Going Green

Sagicor USA continued efforts to support a “Going Green”
initiative, utilising the “INSITE” web-based intranet to notify their
team of upcoming community and corporate events, training
opportunities, benefits, and other important communications.
SUSA has since moved to eliminate the use of styrofoam cups
within their working environment.

Ricardo Hinkson

Barrington Grove

Nubia Bell

Employee Recognition and Rewards

Sagicorians are employee and citizen role models who
demonstrate wise judgment, sound knowledge of our business,
and excellent customer service. They must accomplish a significant
assignment during the calendar year, and should be creative and
pioneering individuals. In addition, Sagicorians demonstrate good
business ethics and corporate citizenry.

Four employees were recognised by Group companies in 2011 for
their outstanding contributions. They competed for the Sagicorian
Award, which recognises the most outstanding employee in

the Sagicor Group of companies. They were Barrington Groves,
Employee of Year - Sagicor Life Jamaica; Nubia Bell, Employee

of the Year - Sagicor Life Insurance Company - USA; Merlana
Boissiere, Employee of the Year - Sagicor Life Inc - Trinidad and
Tobago and Richardo Hinkson, Employee of the Year - Sagicor Life
Inc - Barbados.

A team of eminent regional persons selected Ricardo Hinkson

as The Sagicorian for his role as the indisputable change
champion and subject matter expert. Ricardo was also lauded for
the successful implementation of a cash processing system in

Merlana Boissiere

Jennifer McDowald
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several branches of Sagicor Life Inc in Barbados, the Eastern and Equity Programmes

Dutch Caribbean, and Belize. His work ethic and dedication to

excellence also extends to his cycling and his contributions to the EASi Admin, an Equity Administration solution, was selected to

international music industry.

Jennifer McDowald, Administrative Services Representative at
Sagicor Life Inc in Trinidad and Tobago, won the 2011 Group
Contributor of the Year for her outstanding contributions to
new business development and support of the sales force.

enhance the administration of the Executive and Employee Equity
programmes. Both programmes are now in their 7th year, having
been approved in 2005.

Management and colleagues recognised her for services performed

above and beyond the call of duty, and for her
commitment to excellent service. Oslyn Harding,
Compliance Coordinator in the Legal and Compliance
Department, Sagicor Life Inc, Barbados, was also
nominated for this award for her contributions during
2011. She also won a 2011 Trend Setter Award winner
for her commitment to excellent service and for
service beyond the call of duty.

Outstanding performers in our sales teams in the
Sagicor Group were Andrew Mason, who received the
President’s Trophy at Sagicor Life Inc in Barbados.

In Individual Life Sales, Marsha Gill copped the top
award in Belize; Ogden Browne in Antigua; Rosa
Rengifo in Panama; and Albert Lyon at Sagicor Life
Jamaica.

In Group Life & Health, the leading producers for
2011 were Harrison Pilgrim in Belize; Geoffrey
Stephenson & Jennifer Ephraim in the Eastern
Caribbean; Wayne Alleyne in Barbados; Matthew
Sammy in Trinidad and Tobago; and Verna Caballero
at Sagicor Life Jamaica.

Oslyn Harding Andrew Mason Marsha Gill

Ogden Browne Rosa Rengifo Albert Lyon



ACCOUNTABILITY IS NOT ONLY WHAT WE DO
BUT WHAT WE DO NOT DO.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

External environment
Economies

In 2011, the world economy continued to experience a mixture of
turmoil and slow or sluggish growth in the developed economies,
while in China, India and similar emerging economies, GDP
growth remained strong. Caribbean countries recorded either low
or negative growth.

Sovereign debt and fiscal deficits have been in the forefront of
concern, with many of the more developed countries having

to adopt or continue fiscal containment measures to reduce
government deficits and indebtedness. This state of affairs has
been especially acute in the more vulnerable Eurozone countries,
which have also faced a lack of investor confidence leading to the
possibility of default. Investor credit ratings have been lowered in
a number of these countries in 2011. Many Caribbean countries
continue to face growing government debt and deficit positions.

Annual inflation in the more developed economies in 2011 was
relatively low, but in the Caribbean region, annual inflation for
2011 was generally higher. Unemployment rates remained high
in the developed economies, a trend which also prevailed in the
Caribbean region.

Currency exchange rates

The US dollar to the UK pound sterling exchange has been fairly
stable, averaging $1.61:£1.00 in 2011. Caribbean currencies also
maintained stable rates of exchange with the US dollar in 2011. The
Trinidad & Tobago dollar and Jamaica dollar rates averaged 6.4 and
85.8 respectively, while the Barbados dollar remained at 2.0 to the
US dollar.

Insurance catastrophes

Leading reinsurers have estimated insurance claims from natural
catastrophes and man-made disasters to total over $100 billion in
2011, the highest since the previous record established in 2005.
The largest insured losses were as follows.

Estimate of

insured losses in Location

$ billion

Date

Earthqual
a;tsuqnlﬁ: & March 11 35-40 Tohoku, Japan
Christchurch,
Earthquake February 22 12-13 New Zealand
Fl
|anodosc|jisdi July - November 10-12 Thailand

In addition, there were significant losses in Australia from floods
and cyclones, and in the USA there were severe tornados and a
major Hurricane — Irene.

Insurance regulation

Solvency Il is a European Union (EU) legislative programme

to be implemented in all EU states. Its key objectives are to
improve customer protection, to modernise supervision, to

deepen EU market integration and to increase the international
competitiveness of EU insurers. Solvency Il has three pillars — Pillar
1 Capital Requirements, Pillar 2 Governance & Supervision, Pillar 3
Disclosure.

Lloyd’s of London has commenced a programme of
implementation of Solvency Il, with a final proposed
implementation deadline of January 1, 2014. During 2011, Lloyd’s



managing agents were required to make a Solvency Capital
Requirement submission, and to complete a Final Application Pack
supported by an Own Risk and Solvency Assessment.

During 2011, the Government of Trinidad & Tobago published a
draft insurance bill to replace the existing Insurance Act. The draft
bill includes certain enhancements to the insurance legislation

by including new governance, financial, capital adequacy and
valuation requirements to be followed by insurers operating in
Trinidad & Tobago.

Sagicor’s Results - Group & Shareholder Returns

The Sagicor Group produced net income of $32 million in 2011
(2010 - $42 million). Though the operations in the Caribbean
region produced improved results, the adverse impact of the

2011 international property insurance catastrophes in the Sagicor
Europe operating segment resulted in an overall reduction in net
income. The variation in results between the Caribbean operations
and Sagicor at Lloyd’s was even more marked than in 2010. This
is discussed in further detail in the sections on segments which
follow.

The summary income and comprehensive income statements are
set out in the following table.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME - $ millions 2011 2010
Revenue 1,351 1,256

Benefits (829) (770)
Expenses & taxes (490) (444)
Net income 32 42
Other comprehensive income 2 39
Total comprehensive income 34 81

In 2011, the Group generated revenues of $1,351 million (2010 —
$1,256 million) with premium income being the source of the
increase. Benefits recorded for 2011 amounted to $829 million
(2010 - $770 million), with higher claims from the property and
casualty insurance lines being the main cause of the increase.
Expenses and taxes totalled $490 million (2010 - $444 million),
with commission expenses incurred increasing in line with
premium income.

The Group’s net income and comprehensive income are allocated
ultimately to the equity owners of the respective Group companies
in accordance with their results. As some Group companies

have minority shareholders, particularly in the Sagicor Life
Jamaica operating segment, the Group’s net income is allocated
accordingly between holders of Sagicor's common shares and

the minority interest shareholders. There is also an allocation to
Sagicor Life Inc policyholders who hold participating policies, an
arrangement which was established on the demutualisation of
Sagicor Life Inc.

After accounting for the share of Group net income attributable
to the minority shareholders and participating policyholders, the
income attributable to shareholders was $1 million (2010 - $17
million). This shareholder income represents earnings per share
of 0.2 cents and a very modest return on shareholders’ equity of
0.2%. After including items of other comprehensive income, the
total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders was $4
million (2010 - $38 million).
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The performance returns attributable to common shareholders are
summarised in the following table.
2011

COMMON SHAREHOLDER RETURNS 2010

Net income $1 million $17 million
Earnings per share 0.2¢ 5.7¢

Return on equity 0.2% 3.0%

Total comprehensive income $4 million $38 million

Total comprehensive income per share 1.1¢ 13.2¢
Total hensive i —ret

otal comprehensive income — return on 0.6% 72%
equity
Revenue

The sources of the Group’s revenue are insurance premiums from
customers, investment income arising from investments held, fee
income and other revenues. The following table summarises the
main items of revenue.

REVENUE - $ millions 2011 2010

Life, a.mnwty & health net insurance 504 551

premiums

Prope.rty&casualty net insurance 410 350

premiums

Total net insurance premiums 1,004 901

Net investment income 285 293

Fees and other revenues 62 62
1,351 1,256

Life, annuity and health insurance premiums totalled $594 million
(2010 - $551 million). Premiums from life insurance accounted

for 54% of this category, while annuity and health premiums
accounted for the remainder in approximately equal amounts. This
distribution is consistent with that recorded for 2010.

Property and casualty (P&C) insurance premiums amounted

to $410 million in 2011 (2010 - $350 million). The major P&C
risks underwritten are in respect of property, motor, accident and
liability. Accident and liability casualty risks accounted for 42% out
of total P&C premium revenue, and were generated mainly from
the UK, USA and Asia/Australasia. Net premium from property
insurance risks accounted for 32% of total P&C premium revenue,
and the USA was the principal market for this line. The remaining
26% of P&C premium revenue came from motor insurance risks
which were generated primarily from the UK.

Net investment income for 2011 amounted to $285 million (2010 —
$293 million). The Group recorded an average interest yield on

its debt securities 7.3% (2010 — 8.1%) with lower average yields
being experienced, especially in the Sagicor Life Jamaica operating
segment. The interest yields of the principal assets classes are
summarised in the following table.

INTEREST YIELDS 2011 2010
Debt securities 7.3% 8.1%
Mortgage loans 8.1% 8.3%
Policy loans 7.7% 8.6%
Finance loans & finance leases 11.5% 11.4%
Securities purchased for resale 6.2% 5.6%
Deposits 3.1% 2.5%




Increased investment impairment provisions of $12 million also
had a detrimental effect on net investment income in 2011.

Benefits
BENEFITS - $ millions 2011 2010
Life, annuity & health net insurance benefits 463 449
Property & casualty net insurance claims 295 243
Total net insurance benefits 758 692
Interest expense 71 78
829 770

Insurance benefits comprise amounts payable to policyholders and
beneficiaries, in accordance with the contract terms of insurance
policies issued or assumed by the Group.

Life and annuity insurance benefits are recognised on the
notification of death, disability or critical illness of an insured
person, on the maturity or surrender of a policy, on the declaration
of a policy bonus or dividend, or an annuity payment date. Health,
property and casualty insurance benefits are recognised either on
the notification or settlement (for short notification periods) of a
claim from policyholders or beneficiaries.

Life, annuity and health insurance benefits totalled $463 million
(2010 - $449 million). These comprise current benefits which
become due during the year ($346 million) plus benefits payable in
the future, which are set aside in the current year ($117 million).

Property and casualty insurance claims recorded were $295 million
in 2011 (2010 - $243 million). Claims incurred from catastrophic
events totalled $72 million in 2011 (2010 - $34 million) and

included insurance losses from the natural catastrophes identified
in the foregoing section entitled External Environment.

Interest expense represents the interest returns to contract-holders
and financial institutions which either deposit with or advance
funds to the Group to earn interest and, in some instances, capital
returns. The average interest yields arising from operating financial
liabilities are set out in the following table.

INTEREST YIELDS 2011 2010
Investment contracts 8.3% 7.5%
Other funding instruments 2.8% 2.9%
Customer deposits 4.2% 5.3%
Securities sold for repurchase 5.3% 7.0%

The lower yield on securities sold for repurchase led to a reduction
of $5 million in interest costs.

Expenses & Taxes

Expenses and taxes totalled $490 million for the year (2010 - $444
million). Expenses of administration and for commission payable
are the two major categories of expenses as are illustrated in the
following table.

EXPENSES & TAXES - $ millions 2011 2010
Administrative expenses 224 212
Commissions 207 174
Finance costs, depreciation & amortisation 36 34
Premium & income taxes 23 24

490 444
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Premium taxes are levied in many Caribbean countries and in the
USA; it is usually determined as a percentage of gross premium
revenue. Income taxes are levied on the investment income of
certain life insurance operations within the Group, and on the net
income before tax on most of the remaining Group companies.

Other comprehensive income

The sources of other comprehensive are (i) the fair value gains
on certain investments net of disposals and associated actuarial
liability changes, and (ii) the retranslation of the net investment
held in foreign currency subsidiaries and branches. The results
from these components are summarised in the following table.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

- $ millions 2011 2010
Fair value reserve gains 4 33
Retranslation of foreign currency operations (2) 6

2 39

Statement of Financial Position

As of December 31, 2011, the consolidated statement of financial
position comprised assets totalling $5,364 million, operating
liabilities of $4,334 million, equity capital of $798 million and debt
capital of $232 million.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

- $ millions

Assets 5,364 4,868
Operating liabilities 4,334 3,947
Equity capital 798 739
Debt capital 232 182

Assets, operating liabilities and capital are discussed in the
following three sections.

Assets
ASSETS - $ millions 2011 2010
Investments & cash 4,432 4,008
Reinsurance & miscellaneous insurance assets 544 488
Other assets 388 372
Total assets 5,364 4,868

The Group’s principal assets are its investments which comprise
debt securities, loans, deposits, equity securities and investment
property. These investments back the insurance and financial
liabilities issued or assumed by the Group. Components of
investments and cash are as follows.

INVESTMENTS & CASH - $ millions 2011 2010

Debt securities 3,107 2,608
Mortgage loans 273 297
Policy loans 125 123
Finance loans & finance leases 158 144
Securities purchased for re-sale 12 29
Deposits 295 312
Cash 185 219
Investment property & other investments 277 276

4,432 4,008




The Group invests in medium to long-term debt securities issued
primarily by Governments, state sponsored agencies and corporate
entities. These investments are made and held in the countries

in which the Group conducts its insurance and financial services
operations. Debt securities are a very suitable instrument to back
long-term insurance liabilities because of their medium to long-
term duration, the regular interest payments received, and the
relatively low credit risk. The Group also invests in debt securities
of short duration as a way of earning investment returns with
minimal risk.

Other significant investments are mortgage loans, policy loans
(which are fully secured on the cash values of insurance policies),
finance loans and finance leases, deposits, cash and investment

property.

Reinsurance and miscellaneous insurance assets consist mainly of
amounts due from reinsurers for benefits and claims ceded, and
amounts due from policyholders for premiums in the course of
collection.

The remaining assets of the Group include property, plant and
equipment totalling $137 million (2010 - $131 million) of which a
significant proportion is land and office buildings. In addition, the
remaining assets include intangible assets of $121 million (2010
- $123 million) comprising mostly of goodwill, customer/broker
relationships and syndicate capacity all of which were recognised
on acquisitions of various subsidiaries and businesses between
2000 and 2008.

Operating Liabilities

The Group’s principal activities consist of accepting insurance risks
from policyholders and of accepting funds from depositors and
lending institutions. The liabilities which arise from these activities
are as follows:

OPERATING LIABILITIES - $ millions 2011 2010
Insurance liabilities 2,758 2,504
Financial liabilities 1,399 1,278
Payables and other liabilities 177 165

4,334 3,947

The Group recognises insurance liabilities in respect of its inforce
insurance policies. These liabilities totalled $2,758 million as of
December 31, 2011 (2010 - $2,504 million) and are summarised in
the following table.

INSURANCE LIABILITIES - $ millions 2011 2010
Life, annuity & health insurance liabilities 2,006 1,882
Property & casualty insurance liabilities 660 537
Misc. payables to reinsurers & policyholders 92 85

2,758 2,504

Life and annuity insurance liabilities are mostly long-term in nature
and are determined as the amounts which, together with future
premiums payable by policyholders and future investment income
earned on assets, are required to provide for future policy benefits,
expenses and taxes on the inforce policy contracts. The long-term
nature of these liabilities is illustrated by the Group actuaries’
estimate that amounts exceeding $1,400 million will not mature
until after December 31, 2016. The major proportion of these
liabilities arises from life and annuity insurance contracts issued
to individuals for which the liability exceeded $1,500 million as of
December 31, 2011.

Property and casualty insurance liabilities are recognised in respect
of reported and un-reported claims. Claim reserves represent
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estimates of future payments of claims and related claims handling
expenses for events that have occurred up to December 31. A
significant proportion of the total liability recognised is the IBNR
(incurred but not reported) provision. Property and casualty
insurance liabilities also include $224 million (2010 - $240 million)
as a provision for unearned premium, which represents the portion
of premiums written relating to the period of insurance coverage
falling after December 31.

Operating financial liabilities comprise various deposits and loans
made to the Group, which are either interest-bearing or which earn
an investment return to the holder. The following table summarises
the financial liabilities of the Group.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - $ millions 2011 2010
Investment contracts 316 294
Securities sold for re-purchase 613 576
Customer deposits 197 174
Other funding instruments and other items 273 234

1,399 1,278

Investment contracts carry no significant insurance risk and
supplement Sagicor’s life insurance and annuity suite of products.
Deposit contracts issued to third party pension funds for the
investment of pension assets represent the major component.

Securities sold for re-purchase, customer deposits and a significant
proportion of other funding instruments represent the liabilities
arising from our banking, investment management and securities
dealing operations. Securities sold for re-purchase are short-term
in nature with the contract terms usually three months or less.
However, in practice, most contracts are renewed on maturity.

Customer deposits are mostly interest bearing term deposits.
Other funding instruments comprise interest-bearing loans
made to the Group, the proceeds of which are either invested
in securities or advanced to customers as loans receivable in
accordance with the conditions set out in the principal funding
instruments.

Capital

The offering of new common and preference shares to
shareholders and to the International Finance Corporation was a
landmark event for the Group in 2011. Total amounts subscribed
were $120 million for new preference shares and $20 million for
new common shares.

The preference shares were issued at US$1.00 (or Barbados $2.00)
per share on July 18, 2011. The shares may be converted to Sagicor
common shares within five years from issue at the option of the
holder, the conversion rate being 1.98 preference shares exchanged
for 1.00 common shares acquired. The shares are redeemable

at US $1.00 (Barbados $2.00) on July 18, 2016 if not previously
converted. The rate of dividend is 6.5% per annum, which is
payable half yearly on the dividend declaration by the Company.
Dividends are non-cumulative.

The Company issued 12,575,676 new common shares as a result
of the offering. The subscription price was US$1.63 (or Barbados
$3.26).

The Group identifies debt as financial obligations undertaken

for the purposes of providing capital support to its operations.
This differs from financial obligations undertaken as part of on-
going operations to achieve an interest spread, and which have
been identified in the foregoing section on operating liabilities.



The components of equity and debt capital in the consolidated
statement of financial position are analysed as follows:

EQUITY & DEBT CAPITAL - $ millions

Common shareholders’ equity 578 566

Preference shareholders’ balances 17

Minority interest shareholders’ balances 188 169

7.5% senior notes due 2016 145 144

Participating accounts and loans payable 2 42
1,030 921

For accounting purposes, the preference shares are recognised as
a compound financial instrument, i.e. part equity and part debt.
This arises from the terms of issue of the preference share wherein
the Company has an obligation to redeem the shares in 5 years (i.e.
a debt obligation) but has the discretion to declare dividends which
are also non-cumulative (i.e. an equity component). As a result,
the total preference share carrying value of $117 million (i.e. the
subscription proceeds less associated issue costs) is allocated $88
million to debt and $29 million to equity.

The total capital of $1,030 million is distributed as equity of $798
million and debt of $232 million (2010 — equity of $739 million
and debt of $182 million). Consequently, the debt to equity ratios
at the end of 2011 and 2010 were calculated as 29.1% and 24.6%
respectively.

During 2011 and 2010, the Group maintained an off-balance
sheet letter of credit facility which supports the Sagicor at Lloyd’s
operations. This is a sterling facility totalling £52 million ($81
million as of December 31, 2011).

The Group is subject to a number of capital adequacy standards
for its insurance, banking, investment management and securities
dealing operations. In addition, since in some Caribbean
jurisdictions where there are no prevailing international capital
adequacy insurance standards, the Group has voluntarily adopted
a standard for its life insurance subsidiaries. This voluntary
standard is the Canadian Minimum Continuing Capital and Surplus
Ratio (MCCSR) and is the Group’s principal internal measure of
the capital adequacy of its life insurance subsidiaries taken as a
whole. The MCCSR is a standard for life insurance operations.
The Group’s consolidated MCCSR was 269% as of December 31,
2011 (2010 - 224%), well in excess of the minimum recommended
requirement of 150%.

The Group’s major property and casualty operation is Sagicor at
Lloyd’s, which is subject to and complies with the capital standards
established by Lloyd’s of London and by the Financial Services
Authority of the United Kingdom. The Group’s non-insurance
financial services subsidiaries maintained the standards in
accordance with the applicable regulations.

Operating Segments
Reportable operating segments are defined by criteria set out in

International Financial Reporting Standard 8. For the Group, the
reportable operating segments are as follows:

Sagicor Life Inc Sagicor Life Jamaica

Sagicor Europe Sagicor USA

The financial results and financial position of each of these
segments are discussed in the following four sections.
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Sagicor Life Inc Segment

The Sagicor Life Inc segment consists of the life insurance
subsidiaries which conduct business in Barbados, Trinidad and
Tobago, the Eastern and Dutch Caribbean islands, Belize, Bahamas
and Panama. The main activities of this segment are the provision
of life and health insurance, retirement accumulation, annuities,
mortgages, pension investment and pension administration
services.

This reporting segment generated net income of $31 million in
2011 ($29 million in 2010). The summary statement of income is
as follows:

SAGICOR LIFE INC SEGMENT
INCOME - $ millions 2011 2010
Revenue 328 311
Benefits (191) (185)
Expenses & taxes (106) (97)
Segment income 31 29
Segment income attributable to shareholders 33 30

Total revenue for 2011 was $328 million (2010 - $311 million). The
main contributor to revenue growth was premium income which
increased by $17 million in 2011. This result has been achieved in
economies which have experienced modest or negative growth.
Net investment income declined partly as a result of investment
impairment charges.

Benefits increased by $6 million to reach $191 million in 2011.
Insurance benefits accounted for $176 million, with $153 million
representing current benefits and $23 million representing future
benefits.

Expenses and taxes totalled $106 million in 2011 ($97 million in
2010). Increases in administrative expenses are partly attributable
to a management initiative to increase the focus on and to develop
further Sagicor’s penetration in the Trinidad and Tobago insurance
market. This initiative has started to bear fruit in 2011, and is
expected to improve Sagicor’s future competitive position in
Trinidad and Tobago.

The operating assets and liabilities of the Sagicor Life Inc segment
are summarised in the following table.

SAGICOR LIFE INC SEGMENT

ASSETS - $ millions 2011 2010
Investments & cash 1,249 1,168
Reinsurance & miscellaneous insurance assets 23 24
Inter-segment and other assets 216 225

1,488 1,417
OPERATING LIABILITIES - $ millions 2011 2010
Insurance liabilities 897 867
Financial liabilities 177 162
Inter-segment and other liabilities 72 71

1,146 1,100

The principal investments in this segment are government and
corporate debt securities and mortgage loans. Amounts set aside
in respect of life and annuity insurance contracts to individuals
represent the most significant proportion of insurance liabilities.



Sagicor Life Jamaica Segment

This segment comprises Group subsidiaries in Jamaica and
Cayman Islands conducting insurance under the Sagicor brand,
and banking and other financial services under the PanCaribbean
Financial Services (PCFS) brand. The principal products of

the segment are the provision of life, critical illness and health
insurance, annuities, pension administration, investment
management, securities dealing and commercial banking.

The Sagicor Life Jamaica segment experienced excellent results

in 2011 when net income totalled $67 million. This represents a
20% increase over the net income achieved in the prior year. This
segment has three principal divisions, Individual Life, Employee
Benefits and Banking & Asset Management, which all contributed
to the 2011 growth in profitability. The Sagicor Group holds a 59%
ownership interest in the segment, and the resulting net income
attributable to our shareholders was $38 million and $32 million
for 2011 and 2010 respectively.

The summary statement of income is as follows:

SAGICOR LIFE JAMAICA SEGMENT
INCOME - $ millions 2011 2010
Revenue 433 390
Benefits (240) (213)
Expenses & taxes (126) (121)
Segment income 67 56
Segment income attributable to shareholders 38 32

Sagicor Life Jamaica recorded revenue totalling $433 million
(2010 — $390 million). Net premium revenues grew by $40
million to reach $252 million in 2011 with both the Individual

Life and Employee Benefits divisions contributing to the increase.
Net investment income amounted to $155 million (2010 - $157
million). The decline in investment income is partly attributable
to lower average investment yields and to investment impairment
charges.

Benefits incurred in 2011 totalled $240 million (2010 - $213
million). Insurance benefits accounted for $193 million in 2011,
with $134 million representing current benefits and $59 million
representing future benefits. Interest expense for 2011 totalled $47
million (2010 - $53 million) and relates principally to the Banking &
Asset Management division.

2010 expense levels were maintained in 2011. There was, however,
some growth in taxes, which increased by $5 million in 2011.

The operating assets and liabilities of the Sagicor Life Jamaica
segment are summarised in the following table.

SAGICOR LIFE JAMAICA SEGMENT

ASSETS - $ millions 2011 2010
Investments & cash 1,702 1,513
Reinsurance & miscellaneous insurance assets 19 17
Inter-segment and other assets 143 138

1,864 1,668
OPERATING LIABILITIES - $ millions 2011 2010
Insurance liabilities 446 389
Financial liabilities 1,001 905
Inter-segment and other liabilities 66 57

1,513 1,351
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The principal investments in the segment are Government of
Jamaica and corporate debt securities. Long-term insurance and
annuity liabilities of the Employee Benefits division represent the
major portion of insurance liabilities. The operating liabilities of
the Banking & Asset Management division account for the major
proportion of financial liabilities, with securities sold to re-purchase
being the major funding source.

Sagicor Europe Segment

This segment comprises the Sagicor at Lloyd’s business, and
consists primarily of property and casualty (P&C) insurance
business written through Lloyd’s of London Syndicate 1206.
The Lloyd’s of London franchise enables the syndicate to write
international business outside of the United Kingdom.

The 2011 international property insurance experience referred

to in the foregoing section, ‘External Environment’, had a direct
impact on Sagicor at Lloyd's results. Sagicor at Lloyd’s incurred
catastrophe insurance claims of $72 million in 2011 compared

to $34 million in 2010. These, together with a poor performance
from the UK motor line in both years, have resulted in overall net
losses of $33 million and $13 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively.
In response to these adverse trends, management took the
decision during 2011 to exit the particular insurance lines which
had generated excess losses. These lines were direct motor and
international property treaty reinsurance assumed. The effect of
these lines on the 2011 results is illustrated in the following table.

SAGICOR EUROPE SEGMENT

2011 2011 2011 2010
Lines On- Total Total
INCOME - $ millions no going
longer lines
written
Net premium revenue 107 300 407 342
Net insurance benefits (138)  (149) (287) (236)
Commissions & brokerage (26) (97) (123) (94)
Administrative expenses (10) (35) (45) (40)

Net underwriting income / (67) 19 (48) (28)

(loss)
Investment income, income tax

: 15 15
and other items
Segment income (33) (13)
Segment income attributable to (33) 13)

shareholders

Net underwriting losses totalling $67 million were generated by the
lines no longer written. For 2012, these lines are in run-off and will

record activity at substantially reduced levels. In addition, some of

the administrative overhead previously borne by these lines will be

absorbed by the on-going lines.

In contrast, on-going lines (direct property, accident and liability)
contributed net underwriting profits of $19 million from net
premium revenue of $300 million.

Consequently, the overall net underwriting loss for 2011 was $48
million. After including investment income and the effects of
taxation, the overall segment loss was reduced to $33 million.



The assets and liabilities of the Sagicor Europe segment are
summarised in the following table.

SAGICOR EUROPE SEGMENT

ASSETS - $ millions 2011 2010
Investments & cash 347 321
Reinsurance & miscellaneous insurance assets 283 224
Inter-segment and other assets 75 65

705 610
OPERATING LIABILITIES - $ millions 2011 2010
Insurance liabilities 628 503
Inter-segment and other liabilities 102 83

730 586

Investments comprise mostly of debt securities, deposits and
cash held at syndicate level. Claim recoveries from reinsurers and
premiums in the course of collection are the more significant
insurance assets. The insurance liabilities include outstanding and
IBNR claim reserves totalling $412 million, and the provision for
unearned premiums totalling $192 million.

The capital supporting the insurance operations at Lloyd'’s is
made up of cash and debt securities, banker’s letters of credit
and reinsurance financing, which are only reflected in part in the
foregoing table of assets and operating liabilities.

Sagicor USA Segment

This segment consists of the USA operations of Sagicor which
market life insurance and annuity products to individuals.

This segment recorded net income of $6 million (2010 - $3
million). Management has continued the development of this
segment through new products and focus on establishing a viable
career distribution channel.

SAGICOR USA SEGMENT
INCOME - $ millions 2011 2010
Revenue 143 163
Benefits (98) (122)
Expenses & taxes (39) (38)
Segment income 6 3
Segment income attributable to shareholders 6 3

Revenue totalled $143 million, of which net premium amounted
to $102. The corresponding totals for 2010 were $163 million
and $120 million. As a significant proportion of premium income
is single premium, some variation from year to year in written
premium is expected.

Investments are heavily weighted to corporate and government
agency bonds which, in 2011, generated relatively low yields as

a result of the Federal Reserve’s policy of maintaining very low
interest rates. As a consequence, the investment yield on the
bond portfolio averaged 5.3% (2010 - 5.5%). Credited rates on
policyholder balances are adjusted to the extent possible, and the
actuarial reserving has been strengthened to reflect the expected
lower future investment yields.

Benefits recorded were $98 million (2010 - $122 million). Given the
significant weighting of single premium in income, benefit levels
will largely be consistent with premium levels.
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Expenses and taxes remained consistent with 2010 results.

The assets and liabilities of the Sagicor USA segment are
summarised in the following table.

SAGICOR USA SEGMENT

ASSETS - $ millions 2011 2010
Investments & cash 923 814
Reinsurance & miscellaneous insurance assets 171 181
Inter-segment and other assets 8 9
1,102 1,004

OPERATING LIABILITIES - $ millions 2011 2010
Insurance liabilities 730 687
Financial liabilities 150 133
Inter-segment and other liabilities 51 41
931 861

As of December 31, 2011, investments and cash totalled $923
million, of which debt securities comprised $827 million. These
balances represent growth of 13% and 19% respectively over the
comparative 2010 amounts.

Insurance liabilities totalled $730 million, consisting mainly of
future amounts due to policyholders and beneficiaries. Sagicor
USA participates in a program of the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Dallas which provides funding for mortgage-backed securities and
mortgage assets. As of December 31, the funding was $130 million
(2010 - $120 million) and is included in financial liabilities.

Conclusion

Overall, 2011 was a disappointing year. The first quarter saw the
worst of the international insurance catastrophes which led the
Group to record its first ever quarterly loss of $11 million. The
Group enjoyed a strong second quarter, recording net income

of $22 million as profits were generated from across the Group.
The third quarter saw a more modest result as Group profit of $9
million, and in the fourth quarter, a further profit of $12 million was
realised.

Notwithstanding the difficult economic conditions prevailing,
our principal Caribbean operations continue to perform well,
generating $71 million in profits attributable to shareholders
(2010 - $62 million). This achievement demonstrates the
underlying strength that exists within the Sagicor Group.
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YEAR END RESULTS TO 31 DECEMBER 2011
Amounts in millions of USD dollars unless otherwise indicated

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Sales
Insurance Amounts

Individual Life - New Business 3,255.0 2,807.3 2,6689 2,251.2 2,011.6 1,843.6 1,501.0 1,199.4 984.7 588.1

Group Life - New Business 76.1 203.2 193.8 133.1 158.2 88.7 120.3 128.5 28.8 38.5

Total New Business 3,331.2 3,010.5 2,862.6 2,384.4 2,169.8 11,9323 1,621.3 1,327.8 1,013.5 626.6
In Force

Insurance Amounts

Individual Life - Sums Assured 20,142.6 19,386.0 17,767.9 15,3475 12,491.1 11,602.5 11,511.2 7,872.0 6,062.2 5,538.0

Group Life - Sums Assured 12,869.6 11,498.1 8,288.4 8,136.1 7,978.4 6,697.0 6,524.0 53575 3,296.8 2,683.3

Total Insurance Amounts in Force 33,012.2 30,884.1 26,056.4 23,483.6 20,469.6 18,299.5 18,035.3 13,229.5 9,359.1 8,221.2

Number of Individual Life Policies
in Force 632,123 610,708 600,920 570,349 555,122 536,068 521,144 370,219 356,450 312,854

Number of New Individual Life
Policies 82,253 77,112 75,164 64,618 61,310 58,808 52,018 46,228 31,451 23,253
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Revenue by Product Line
Individual Life, Health & Annuity
Contracts 546.2 535.7 537.7 390.2 379.4 365.1 304.7 266.6 239.9 215.1
Group Life, Health, Annuity &
Pension Administration Contracts 259.6 221.2 251.6 319.3 186.9 163.6 139.6 120.2 83.5 79.2
Property and Casualty 435.2 377.9 265.5 230.7 92.2 293 22.4 16.2 17.0 8.2
Banking, Investment Management
& Other Financial Services 99.3 98.0 128.0 134.1 110.7 103.5 98.8 14.4 19.7 10.7
Farming & Unallocated Revenues 10.4 23.2 22,5 (6.7) 3.8 0.8 13.5 0.2 1.3 0.8
Total Revenue , 1,350.6 1,256.1 1,205.3 1,067.6 773.0 662.3 579.0 417.5 361.4 313.9
Financial Position and Strength:

Invested Assets 44327 4007.6 3,620.0 3,141.7 2,872.7 2,729.9 2541.6 1,317.0 1,154.7 1,184.5
3rd Party Invested Assets under
Management 1,612.5 1,483.1 11,3149 11,3142 1,507.1 11,3349 1,077.3 750.0 600.0 550.0
Total Invested Assets Under
Management 6,045.2 5490.6 4,934.9 44559 43798 4,064.8 3,6189 2,067.0 1,754.7 11,7345
Total Assets 5364.1 4,867.8 4,460.0 3,979.3 3,649.7 3,363.3 3,198.4 11,5689 11,3755 1,392.0
Policyholders’ Liabilities 2,980.7 2,713.7 2,4187 2,103.2 11,9206 1,747.1 1,750.3 1,061.9 959.7 921.5
Total Equity 797.5 738.8 681.4 581.6 586.7 542.3 476.4 379.9 315.8 262.1
Common Shares - Equity 577.9 565.6 538.1 447.8 455.2 413.9 365.2 346.6 287.1 234.4
Common Shares - Market
Capitalisation 411.8 399.1 516.3 485.9 693.8 549.7 570.9 565.6 539.6 240.5
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YEAR END RESULTS TO 31 DECEMBER 2011
Amounts in millions of USD dollars unless otherwise indicated

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Financial Results:

Total Revenue , 1,350.6 1,256.1 11,2053 1,067.6 773.0 662.3 579.0 417.5 381.2 330.7
Total Benefits , 828.6 769.7 708.2 573.4 384.6 346.0 304.3 240.6 210.7 184.6
Total Commissions, Expenses &

Taxes 490.2 4448 409.5 369.0  279.6 229.7 189.5 140.4 133.8 131.2
Net Profit attributable to

Shareholders 1.0 16.6 66.8 96.1 86.3 67.7 60.7 33.8 28.5 6.8

Total Comprehensive Income
attributable to Shareholders | 3.7 38.2 83.1 (16.2) 55.4 61.7 29.0 78.5 58.0 10.4
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Capital Adequacy & Financial Ratios:

MCCSR | % 269%  224%  273%  244%  263%  263%  256%  238%  211% 174%
Return on Average
Shareholders’ Equity % 0.2% 3.0% 145%  23.8% 22.0% 19.0% 187% 113% 11.5% 3.6%
Basic Earnings per Share US¢ 0.2 5.7 24.0 34.7 323 25.4 23.0 13.0 11.0 4.0
Dividends per Share US¢ 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 7.0 6.5 6.0 5.0 3.0
Share Price , uss$ 1.37 1.38 1.78 1.75 2.60 2.07 2.15 2.18 2.08 0.93
Book Value per Share uss 1.92 1.96 1.86 1.61 1.7 1.55 1.38 1.33 1.10 0.90
Administration Expenses
& Depreciation to
Revenue % 180% 183% 18.0% 184% 21.0% 21.5% 20.7% 21.1% 22.6% 21.2%
Commissions to Net
Premium Income % 206% 193% 178% 175% 181% 151% 149% 159% 13.8% 13.2%

Footnotes: 1 - Amounts have been extracted from annual audited financial statements in accordance with the most recent year presented.
- Preceding years’ balances have not been restated to reflect the accounting policy changes adopted from 2009 and 2004 respectively.
- Net of interest expense in 2003 and 2002.
- Interest expense added back / added in 2003 and 2002.
- In 2007 and prior, the amounts presented are the total recognised gains and income in the Statement of Equity.
- Minimum Continuing Capital and Surplus Ratio; 2007 to 2005 excludes Sagicor’s USA life subsidiary, which was acquired in 2005.
- 2011 to 2009 - December 31 exchange price weighted by number of shares on the Barbados, Trinidad & London exchanges;

2008 to 2003 - December 31 price on Barbados Stock Exchange to 2008; December 2002 IPO subscription price.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

STEPHEN MCNAMARA, 61, was appointed Non-Executive Chairman on January 1, 2010, having
formerly served as Vice-Chairman since June 2007. He has been an independent Director since
December 2002, and is a citizen of St Lucia and Ireland. He is a British-trained Attorney-at-law,
and is the Senior Partner of McNamara & Company, Attorneys-at-Law of St Lucia. Mr McNamara
was elected to the Board of Sagicor Life Incin 1997. He is Chairman of the Group’s main
operating subsidiary, Sagicor Life Inc, and also of Sagicor Capital Life Insurance Company
Limited, Sagicor USA, and Sagicor Finance Inc. He serves as a Director of a number of other
subsidiaries within the Group.

ANDREW ALEONG, 51, has been an independent Director since June 2005, and is a citizen of
Trinidad and Tobago. He holds an MBA from the Richard lvey School of Business, University
of Western Ontario, Canada. Mr Aleong is Group Managing Director of the Albrosco Group

of Companies, Trinidad and Tobago, and has served the Trinidad and Tobago manufacturing
industry for over 20 years. He is a former President of the Trinidad and Tobago Manufacturers’
Association. Mr Aleong also serves as a Director of a number of private companies. He was
elected a Director of Sagicor Life Inc in 2005, and is also a Director of Sagicor Capital Life and a
number of other subsidiaries within the Group.
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PROFESSOR SIR HILARY BECKLES, K.A., 56, has been an independent Director since June 2005,
and is a citizen of Barbados. Sir Hilary earned his PhD from Hull University, United Kingdom,
and received an Honorary Doctorate of Letters from the same University in 2003. He has served
as the Head of the History Department and Dean of the Faculty of Humanities, University of the
West Indies. In 1998, he was appointed Pro-Vice-Chancellor for Undergraduate Studies and, in
2002, the Principal of Cave Hill Campus. Sir Hilary has published widely on Caribbean economic
history, cricket history and culture and higher education, and serves on the Editorial Boards of
several academic journals. He has lectured in Africa, Asia, Europe and the Americas. He was
elected a Director of Sagicor Life Incin 2005, and is also a Director of Sagicor Life Jamaica and a
number of other subsidiaries within the Group.

PETER CLARKE, 57, has been an independent Director since June 2010, and is a citizen of
Trinidad and Tobago. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree from Yale University and a Law
degree from Downing College, Cambridge University. He was called to the Bar as a member

of Grays Inn, London, in 1979, and to the Bar of Trinidad and Tobago in 1980. Mr Clarke is a
Financial Consultant, who formerly practised as a Barrister-at-Law before embarking on a 22-year
career in stockbroking. From 1984 to 2000 he was the Managing Director of Money Managers
Limited, and Chief Executive of West Indies Stockbrokers Limited from 2001 until his retirement
in 2005. Mr Clarke is a Director of a number of companies in Trinidad and Tobago, including the
Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange. He is also a member of the University of the West Indies
Development and Endowment Fund and the Finance Council of the Roman Catholic Archdiocese
of Port of Spain. From 2002 to 2005 he was a Director of the Trinidad and Tobago Chamber of
Industry and Commerce. Mr Clarke was elected a Director of Sagicor Life Inc in 2010, and is also
Director of a number of other subsidiaries within the Group.
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DR JEANNINE COMMA, 61, has been an independent Director since June 2007, and is a citizen
of Trinidad and Tobago. She holds a PhD from George Washington University, Washington, DC,
USA, and is also a graduate of the University of the Virgin Islands. Dr Comma is CEO/Director
of the Cave Hill School of Business of the University of the West Indies, where she specialises
in organisational development, strategy and leadership development. She has made significant
contributions to the sustainable development of human capital within the regional business
community. Dr Comma has extensive experience in Leadership Development, Organisational
Strategic Planning and Change Management. She has also taught at the undergraduate and
graduate levels at George Washington University, Howard University, Washington, DC, and

the University of the West Indies. She is a member of The American Society for Training and
Development and the Commonwealth Association of Public Administration and Management
(CAPAM). Dr Comma was elected a Director of Sagicor Life Inc in 2006, and is also a Director
of a number of other subsidiaries within the Group.

JOYCE DEAR, 68, has been an independent Director since August 2006, and is a citizen of
Barbados. She is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United
Kingdom, and holds an MBA from the University of Warwick. She is also a Member of the
Hospitality Financial and Technology Professionals. She was, until 2004, a Partner in the
Assurance and Business Advisory Services Division of PricewaterhouseCoopers in Barbados.
Mrs Dear has over 31 years’ experience in rendering audit and financial services to a wide variety
of industries, including public companies, tourism and hospitality entities, manufacturing
companies, statutory corporations and international funding agencies/government-financed
programs and projects. Mrs Dear was the PricewaterhouseCoopers Industry Lead Partner for
public service assignments, and is a past President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Barbados. She is a former Director of a general insurance company in Barbados. Mrs Dear
was elected a Director of Sagicor Life Inc in 2010, and is also a Director of a number of other
subsidiaries within the Group, including Globe Finance Inc, where she serves as Vice-Chair of
the Board.



MARJORIE FYFFE-CAMPBELL, 60, has been an independent Director since June 2005, and is
a citizen of Jamaica. She holds an MSc in Accounting from the University of the West Indies,
and is a Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica and of the Hospitality,
Financial and Technology Professionals. She is a former President and Chief Executive Officer
of the Urban Development Corporation, Jamaica, a large property-owning company that
manages several entities such as hotels, attractions, a maintenance company, a water supply
company, a shopping centre, a conference centre and a golf course. Mrs Fyffe-Campbell is a
part-time Lecturer in Financial and Management Accounting at the Mona School of Business
of the University of the West Indies, where she is also pursuing a Doctorate in Business
Administration with emphasis on corporate governance. She was elected a Director of Sagicor
Life Jamaica in 2002, and is also a Director of other subsidiaries within the Group.

RICHARD KELLMAN, 60, was elected as a Director in June 2009, and was appointed Group
Chief Operating Officer on November 1, 2009. He is a citizen of Guyana and of the United
Kingdom. He holds a BSc in Statistics from University College, London University, and is a
Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries and an Associate of the Society of Actuaries. He has also
attended training programs at Harvard Business School and has completed other financial,
investment and management training courses. Mr Kellman is a financial services professional
with wide knowledge regionally in the areas of finance, pensions, insurance and investments. He
has business experience at board level, and is a former CEO of a quoted diversified Group with
interests in insurance, banking and real estate. He has also held senior actuarial positions and
served on several boards.
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WILLIAM LUCIE-SMITH, 60, has been an independent Director since June 2005, and is a
citizen of Trinidad and Tobago. He holds an MA from Oxford University and is a Chartered
Accountant. He is a retired Senior Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Trinidad and Tobago,
where he headed the Corporate Finance and Recoveries Divisions, specialising in all aspects of
business valuations, privatisation, mergers and acquisitions and corporate taxation. Mr Lucie-
Smith has been a Special Advisor to the Trinidad and Tobago Government and Central Bank on
divestment, and has served on several national committees, such as the Rampersad Committee
to Review the Reorganisation and Rationalisation of State Enterprises of Trinidad and Tobago,
and the Daly Commiittee on Corporate Insolvency and Company Law with Special Reference to
Severance Pay. He was elected a Director of Sagicor Life Inc in 2005, and is also a Director of
Sagicor USA, Sagicor at Lloyd'’s, Sagicor Life Jamaica, and a number of other subsidiaries within
the Group.

DODRIDGE MILLER, 54, was appointed Group President and Chief Executive Officer in July
2002, and has been a Director since December 2002. A citizen of Barbados, Mr Miller is a Fellow
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), and obtained his MBA from

the University of Wales and Manchester Business School. He holds an LLM in Corporate and
Commercial Law from the University of the West Indies and, in October 2008, he was conferred
with an Honorary Doctor of Laws degree by the University of the West Indies. He has more than
30 years’ experience in the banking, insurance and financial services industries. Prior to his
appointment as Group President and Chief Executive Officer, he held the positions of Treasurer
and Vice President — Finance and Investments, Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Operating Officer. Mr Miller joined the Group in 1989. He is the Chairman of Sagicor at Lloyd’s,
and is also a Director of Sagicor Life Inc, Sagicor USA, Sagicor Life Jamaica, PanCaribbean
Financial Services and a number of other subsidiaries within the Group.




JOHN SHETTLE, |R, 57, has been an independent Director since June 2008, and is a citizen

of the United States of America. He received his undergraduate degree from Washington &

Lee University, and holds an MBA from the Sellinger School of Business at Loyola College,
Maryland. Mr Shettle is an Operating Partner of Stone Point Capital, a private equity firm in

the global financial services industry. He has over 20 years’ experience in senior management
positions in the property/casualty, health and insurance-related services industry. More recently,
he served as Senior Advisor to Lightyear Capital, a private equity firm, and President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Victor O Schinnerer Company. Prior to that, he was the Chief Executive
Officer of Tred Avon Capital Advisors, Inc, a firm providing advisory services to companies and
private equity firms focused on the insurance sector. He has held senior management positions
at Securitas Capital, Swiss Reinsurance Company and Frederick, the Maryland-based AVEMCO
Corporation (NYSE). Mr Shettle is also a Director of Sagicor USA and a number of subsidiaries
within the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Directors’ Interest
Directors’ interests as at December 31, 2011 and as at the record date, May 2, 2012, are as follows:
Shares as at 31-Dec-11 Shares as at 2-May-12
Common Shares Preference Shares Common Shares Preference Shares
Beneficial Ber;ll:f[llc-ial Beneficial Be'r\ll:f[llc-ial Beneficial Berr\ll:f!ll;ial Beneficial Berr\llggc-ial
Stephen McNamara 19,149 - 21,500
Andrew Aleong 505,002 - 55,000 505,002 55,000
Professor Sir Hilary Beckles 9,579 - 9,579
Peter Clarke 10,000 - 50,000 10,000 50,000
Jeannine Comma 11,523 - 5,000 11,523 5,000
Joyce Dear 26,000 100,000 - 26,000 100,000
Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell 22,113 - 24,830
Richard Kellman 6,552 150,000 - 6,552 150,000
William Lucie-Smith 50,000 200,000 - 70,000 200,000
Dodridge Miller 1,064,428 15,000 1,097,704 15,000
John Shettle, Jr 1,000 1,000 -
Restricted Stock Grants Stock Options
As at 31-Dec-11 As at 2-May-12 As at 31-Dec-11 As at 2-May-12
Vested | Unvested | Vested | Unvested | Vested | Exercised | Unvested | Vested | Exercised | Unvested
Richard Kellman 8,542 76,822 17,034 167,213 140,260 35,065 199,772
Sagicor Dodridge Miller 502,595 384,218 502,595 705,745 765,839 837,611 | 1,052,764 858,149
Financial
Corporation
48




Board Composition and Structure

The maximum number of Directors permitted by the Restated
Articles of Incorporation of the Company is 12, and the minimum
is 7. The Board of Directors presently consists of 11 Members, 9 of
whom are independent Non-Executive Directors. The remaining 2
are the President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Group Chief
Operating Officer. Biographical information on the Directors and
details of their interests in the Company as at December 31, 2011
and as at the record date, May 2, 2012, are set out earlier in this
Report. Non-Executive Directors do not participate in performance-
based incentive plans, and their remuneration consists solely

of cash. The Board Chairman and Directors are paid fees, and
Committee Chairmen and Members are paid an additional fee for
each Committee on which they serve. Executives who are Directors
are not paid fees.

The Board of Directors is proposing that the size of the Board be
increased to 12, the maximum permitted by the Articles, and has
nominated Monish Dutt to be elected as a Director. Mr Dutt’s
qualifications satisfy requirements for Board and individual
Director core competencies, knowledge, experience and skills as
illustrated on the following Board Core Competency matrix:
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Directors’ Skills and Experience

Stephen McNamara

Andrew Aleong

Prof Sir Hilary Beckles

Dr Jeannine Comma

Peter Clarke

Joyce Dear

Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell

Richard Kellman

William Lucie-Smith

Dodridge Miller

John Shettle, Jr.

Monish Dutt

General Management

International Business

Finance/Accounting

Corporate Finance, Mergers & Acquisitions

Strategic Marketing

Corporate Law

Banking

Asset Management

Insurance

Human Resource Management

Property Management and Development

Regulatory

Risk Management

Information Technology

Other: Education




Rotation and Re-election of Directors

The Company’s Bylaws provide that at least one-third, or the
number nearest thereto, of the Directors must retire every year,
but a Director shall not be required to retire unless he has been in
office for three years.

Stephen McNamara, Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell, Richard Kellman
and William Lucie-Smith will retire at the Ninth Annual Meeting
and, being qualified, have offered themselves for re-election.
Monish Dutt has been proposed as a new Director. The Corporate
Governance and Ethics Committee considered the candidates
who are standing for re-election or election at the Ninth Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, and recommends to Shareholders that
all the nominees be re-elected or elected. Profiles of the nominees
are contained in the Management Proxy Circular accompanying
the Notice of the Meeting. In making this recommendation, the
Committee had regard to the core competency requirements of
the Board as a whole; the skills and experience of each nominee;
their independence as defined by our Corporate Governance Policy;
and their willingness and ability to devote the time necessary to
fulfil their role as Directors. Having accepted the Committee’s
recommendation, the Board also recommends that all the
nominees be re-elected or elected.

Board Responsibilities
Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for providing
entrepreneurial leadership, guidance and oversight to the
Company, within a framework of prudent and effective controls,
that enable risk to be assessed and managed, with a view to
maximising shareholder wealth within the bounds of law and
community standards of ethical behaviour. The Board’s six main
responsibilities, which it executes through decision-making and

oversight, are strategic planning, enterprise risk management,
executive succession planning and performance evaluation,
Shareholder communications and public disclosures, internal
controls, and Corporate Governance.

The respective roles of the Chairman of the Board, the Board,
Committee Chairmen, Committees and Management are clearly
defined. The Group CEO and the Executive Committee (Excom)
are responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group. Their
role is to formulate and implement strategy, operational plans,
policies, procedures and budgets, monitor operating and financial
performance, assess and control risk, prioritise and allocate
resources and monitor competitive and environmental forces in
each area of operation. The roles of functional Group Executives,
who form part of Excom, are also specifically defined.

Board Committees

The four Committees of the Board - Audit, Corporate Governance
and Ethics, Human Resource, and Investment and Risk - play an
integral role in the governance process, in that they assist the
Board with the proper discharge of its functions by providing an
opportunity for more in-depth discussions on areas not reserved
specifically for the Board. The mandates of all the Committees
comply with best practice.

The mandate of the Audit Committee is to oversee the external
audit process, and manage all aspects of the relationship with the
External Auditors. The Committee is also required to review the
annual audit plan, interim and audited financial statements, and
international financial reporting standards having a significant
impact on the financial statements. It also reviews actuarial reports
and recommendations. The Committee oversees the Internal Audit
function, reviewing Internal Audit’s assessment of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, compliance with
legal, statutory and regulatory requirements, and management of
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risk. The Committee’s composition meets the independence and
skill requirements of the Group’s Corporate Governance Policy.
The majority of the Members are financially literate, and three
Members, William Lucie-Smith, Joyce Dear and Marjorie Fyffe-
Campbell, all Chartered Accountants, have recent and relevant
accounting expertise. The current Members are William Lucie-
Smith (appointed a Member on August 24, 2005 and Chairman
on June 28, 2006), Andrew Aleong (appointed a Member on June
28, 2006), Joyce Dear (appointed a Member on August 11, 2006),
Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell (appointed a Member on September 11,
2008) and Dr Jeannine Comma (appointed a Member on
September 11, 2008).

The role of the Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee is
principally to develop and recommend to the Board policies and
procedures to establish and maintain best practice standards of
Corporate Governance and Corporate Ethics. It also manages

the process for Director succession, Director performance,

the operation of the President, the composition of Board and
Committees, Shareholder communications, and corporate
image. The Committee’s composition meets the independence
requirements of the Group’s Corporate Governance Policy. The
current Members are Stephen McNamara (appointed a Member
on March 9, 2004 and Chairman on February 17, 2010), Professor
Sir Hilary Beckles (appointed a Member on March 18, 2009),
Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell (appointed a Member on March 18, 2009)
and John Shettle, Jr (appointed August 18, 2010).

The mandate of the Human Resource Committee is to advise

the Board with respect to compensation policies, programs

and plans, human resources policies and practices to attain the
Company’s strategic goals, executive management recruitment,
succession plans, performance evaluation and compensation. The
Committee’s composition meets the independence requirements
of the Group’s Corporate Governance Policy. The current Members
are Dr Jeannine Comma (appointed a Member on September 18,

2007, and Chairman on August 24, 2011), Professor Sir Hilary
Beckles (appointed a Member on June 28, 2006), Stephen
McNamara (appointed a Member on August 18, 2010), and
Andrew Aleong (appointed a Member on March 23, 2012).

The Investment and Risk Commiittee is charged with ensuring
generally that the Group manages risk within its defined
philosophy and appetite, and in compliance with policy risk
parameters. Its specific mandate is to ensure that an appropriate
enterprise risk management framework is implemented
throughout the Group, approve risk policies and risk undertakings
and exposures reserved for Board decision. It continually monitors
exposures relating to insurance, financial and operational risks.
Committee Members are required to understand the enterprise’s
significant inherent risks and the policies and controls used

by Management to assess, manage and report these risks.

The Committee regularly reviews the Group risk profile, and
assesses Management'’s plans for ensuring financial stability

and capital soundness. The Committee’s composition meets the
independence requirements of the Group’s Corporate Governance
Policy. The current Members are Stephen McNamara (appointed
a Member on November 26, 2003 and Chairman on February 17,
2010), Andrew Aleong (appointed a Member on March 18, 2009),
John Shettle, Jr (appointed a Member on March 18, 2009) and
Peter Clarke (appointed a Member on August 18, 2010).

Board Evaluation

In 2011, the Board undertook its annual performance evaluation

to assess the effectiveness of the Board’s performance as a whole.
From 2011, the evaluation took the form of (a) a more focused self-
assessment and peer review questionnaire, and (b) an evaluation
of the Corporate Governance system as a whole. Findings continue
to reveal ongoing opportunities for the enhancement of our
Corporate Governance practices.



The Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee continued to
manage Director independence and potential conflicts of interest,
and the Committee concluded that Directors continued to meet
the independence requirements under our Corporate Governance
Policy.

On-going Director Education
Director Education continued with in-depth sessions on two

topical subjects - developments in anti-money laundering and
counter financing of terrorism legislation, and an overview of the

Company's equity-based long-term incentive compensation plans.

Sessions such as these continue to ensure Director effectiveness
by enhancing Director knowledge.

Board Operations

During 2011, Management engaged the Board of Directors (BOD)
13 times, either in formal meetings or by requests for round-robin
decisions in between meetings. The Audit Committee (AC) met 5
times; the Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee (CGC) met
4 times; the Human Resource Committee (HRC) met 4 times; and
the Investment and Risk Committee (IRC) met 3 times. Directors’
record of attendance was as follows:

BOD AC CGC HRC IRC Total %
Stephen McNamara 13 0f 13 5 of 5* 4 of 4 4 of 4 3or3 29 of 29 100
Andrew Aleong 13 0f 13 50f5 30f3 21 of 21 100
Prof Sir Hilary Beckles 90f13 20f4 20f4 13 of 21 62
Peter Clarke 13 0f 13 5 of 5% 20f3 20 of 21 95
Dr Jeannine Comma 13 of 13 50f5 4 of 4 22 of 22 100
Joyce Dear 12 of 13 50f5 17 of 18 94
Marjorie Fyffe-Campbell 13 0f 13 50of5 4 of 4 22 of 22 100
Richard Kellman 13 of 13 5 of 5% 4 of 4* 3 of 3* 25 of 25 100
William Lucie-Smith 12 of 13 50f5 17 of 18 94
Dodridge Miller 13 0of 13 5 of 5% 3 of 4* 3 of 4% 0 of 3* 24 of 29 83
John Shettle, Jr 11 0f 13 4 of 4 30f3 18 of 20 90

* Not a Member; attends Meetings by invitation.
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The Board manages an annual schedule of critical agenda items
designed to ensure that it fulfils its recurring obligations, and
that Board-reserved items are routinely considered. The principal
business at Board meetings in 2011 was to:

consider and approve the Group strategic plan, capital plan
and projections for the period 2011 to 2013;

consider and approve the terms of the significant investment
in the Company by International Finance Corporation (IFC);
consider and approve the terms of the offer to Shareholders
and IFC to raise new capital, and matters incidental thereto;
review periodically the Group capital and liquidity plan,
strategic and business development initiatives forming part of
the Strategic Plan, and other key initiatives;

receive and consider periodic reports and presentations from
Management on the performance of various subsidiaries
within the Group and the Group on a consolidated basis;
review and approve unaudited interim and audited annual
consolidated financial statements;

approve interim and final dividends; and

receive reports on work being carried out by Board
Committees, and consider and approve their
recommendations as required.

Committee Operations

Audit Committee Report - The 2011 activities of the Audit
Committee included:

reviewing and approving the external audit plan and timetable;
evaluating the performance of the External Auditors for Group
entities and approving their audit fees;

reviewing the External Auditors’ 2010 Management Letter and
Report on the 2010 audit;

approving the 2011 Audit Engagement Letter;

approving interim and annual audited financial statements,
dividend recommendations, valuation of intangible and other

assets, goodwill impairment tests, actuarial reports and
reports from the External Auditors on key audit issues;

« reviewing the financial performance of the Group and key
subsidiaries;

« examining the implications of changes to International
Financial Reporting Standards;

« approving the 2011 Internal Audit Plan, reviewing Internal
Audit reports and monitoring Management action on open
Internal Audit items;

« reviewing compliance with various financial covenants;

- reviewing reports on pending material claims and litigation;

« reviewing regulatory compliance reports;

« assessing the adequacy of the Committee’s mandate and
evaluating its effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee Report - The
Committee’s principal business during 2011 included:

« reviewing Board and Director core competencies and
identifying gaps to inform the nomination process;

- overseeing Director nominations, Board Committee,
subsidiary and outside Board appointments;

- overseeing the management of independence requirements
and conflicts of interest;

« reviewing the adequacy of Director and Officer liability
insurance cover;

« monitoring Director attendance;

- reviewing investor relations plans and programs;

- generally monitoring the operation of Corporate Governance
practices; and

« assessing the adequacy of the Committee’s mandate and
evaluating its effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

Human Resource Committee Report - During 2011, the Human
Resource Committee:

« reviewed progress in the implementation of the Group Global
Human Resources Development and Compensation Strategy,



designed to standardise human resource practices, and to
facilitate knowledge transfer of human resource policies and
practices within the Group;

- reviewed executive performance, compensation and terms of
engagement;

« monitored succession planning and leadership and
development plans at the executive level;

- granted awards to qualified participants under the annual cash
incentive, long-term incentive plan (LTI) and employee share
ownership plan (ESOP);

- reviewed aspects of the rules of the Company’s annual long-
term incentive plans, and amended same as necessary;

« made incentive awards based on performance against
established benchmarks; and

- assessed the adequacy of the Commiittee’s mandate and
evaluated its effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

Investment and Risk Committee Report - In 2011, the Commiittee
saw the results of Management’s work to strengthen aspects of the
Group's enterprise risk management architecture, which focused
on infrastructural development, risk identification, assessment and
prioritisation, and the development of quantitative risk models for
assessing risks to which the Group is exposed, including the key
risks relating to interest rate, credit and liquidity. The Committee’s
work included:

- reviewing interest rate, credit and liquidity risk dashboards
and ratings for the Company as a whole, and for its major
subsidiaries;

« monitoring of risk exposures and reviewing mitigation
strategies designed to manage risk;

« reviewing investment performance as required; and

« assessment of the adequacy of the Committee’s mandate and
an evaluation of its effectiveness in fulfilling the same.

Enterprise Risk Management

The Group’s enterprise risk management framework comprises
articulation of a risk philosophy and appetite, risk structures and
processes, risk policies and a regime of monitoring risk exposures,
both at the enterprise and subsidiary levels. The Group’s activities
of issuing insurance contracts, accepting funds from depositors,
and investing insurance premium and deposit receipts in a

variety of financial and other assets expose the Group to various
insurance, financial and operational risks. Insurance risks include
pricing, claims and lapse risks. Financial risks include credit,
liquidity, interest rate and market risks. Operational risks include
fraud, damage to physical assets, improper business practices,
improper employment practices, business interruption and system
failures, and execution and process errors. Exposure and sensitivity
to financial and insurance risks are disclosed in Notes 41 and 42
respectively to the 2011 audited financial statements contained in
this Annual Report.

Internal Audit

The mission of Group Internal Audit is to provide independent,
objective assurance and consulting services designed to add
value and improve the organisation’s operations by utilising an
appropriate risk-based audit methodology across the Group.

It helps the organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing

a systematic, disciplined approach to the evaluation and
improvement of risk management, control, and governance
processes. The scope of work of Internal Audit is to determine
whether the organisation’s network of risk management, controls,
and governance processes, as designed and represented by
Management, is adequate and functioning in a manner to ensure,
among other things, that risks are appropriately identified and
managed, and that employees’ actions are in compliance with
policies, standards, procedures, applicable laws and regulations.
The work of Internal Audit also seeks to give assurance
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that resources are acquired economically, used efficiently,

and adequately protected, and that quality and continuous
improvement are fostered in the organisation’s control process,
and significant legislative or regulatory issues impacting the
organisation are recognised and addressed appropriately. During
2011, Group Internal Audit was re-organised and dedicated
Internal Audit resources were assigned to the major subsidiaries.
This decentralisation notwithstanding, the Internal Audit function
was coordinated at the Group level by the Chief Internal Auditor.

Compliance

Sagicor continues to strengthen and streamline its compliance
function in response to the increasing complexity of regulatory
risks, with the Audit Committee continuing to exercise oversight of
all aspects of regulatory compliance.

During 2011, the Group Compliance Committee convened its first
meeting. This Committee comprises the Chief Compliance Officer,
Chief Risk Officer and General Counsel of the Group and the Chief
Compliance Officer of each of the major operating subsidiaries.

Its mandate is to ensure that compliance is managed on a formal,
proactive basis, and is governed, implemented and administered
by an appropriate policy, and that risk management practices

are developed and implemented to assess, manage and monitor
compliance risk.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Sagicor's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (which codifies
our corporate value system embracing legal, moral and ethical
conduct, accountability, corporate social responsibility and
leadership) requires Directors, Management, Staff and Advisors
to acknowledge, on an annual basis, that they have read the
Code, and whether or not they are in compliance. Mechanisms
through which code violations can be reported and channelled

to the appropriate parties operated reasonably satisfactorily,
including widely available anonymous whistle-blowing facilities.
These enabled Management to take timely corrective action. The
Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee carried out its annual
review of the Code to ensure its adequacy.

Investor Relations and Communications

During 2011, the Company continued to execute its investor
relations communications program with quarterly briefings to the
Media, Analysts and Brokers. The Company continues to ensure
that price-sensitive information is released across markets at the
same time, and to manage its Insider Trading Policy as an integral
part of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

By Order of the Board of Directors.

NewdnaAn

Sandra Osborne, QC
Corporate Secretary

May 25, 2012.



TOTAL COMMITMENT IS PARAMOUNT TO REACHING
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

DODRIDGE D. MILLER, FCCA, MBA, LLM,
LLD (Hon)
Group President and Chief Executive Officer

Dodridge Miller
was appointed
Group President
and Chief
Executive Officer of
the Mutual Group
of Companies,
now Sagicor
Group of Companies, on July 1, 2002, having
previously held the positions of Treasurer
and Vice President, Finance and Investments
and Deputy Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Miller joined
the Group in 1989. He was elected Director
of The Mutual Group in 2001. He is the
Chairman of Sagicor at Lloyds, and is

also a Director of Sagicor Life Inc, Sagicor
USA, Sagicor Life Jamaica, PanCaribbean
Financial Services and a number of other
subsidiaries within the Group. Mr. Miller

is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (United Kingdom),
and obtained his MBA from the University
of Wales and Manchester Business School,
United Kingdom. He holds an LLM in
Corporate and Commercial Law from the
University of the West Indies and in October
2008, he was conferred with an Honorary
Doctor of Laws degree by the University of
the West Indies. Mr. Miller has more than
30 years' experience in the insurance and
financial services industries.

RICHARD M. KELLMAN, BSc, FIA, ASA
Group Chief Operating Officer

Richard Kellman
holds a BSc in
Statistics from
University College,
London University,
and is a Fellow

of the Institute

of Actuaries and
an Associate of the Society of Actuaries.

He has attended training programmes

at Harvard Business School and has
completed other financial, investment and
management training courses. Mr. Kellman
is a financial services professional with
wide knowledge regionally in the areas

of finance, pensions, insurance and
investments. During his career he has held
senior actuarial and management positions,
and has developed business experience at
board level. He was appointed a Director
of Sagicor Financial Corporation in June
2009, and Group Chief Operating Officer in
November, 2009.

RICHARD BYLES, BSc, MSc
President and Chief Executive Officer,
Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited

Richard Byles
was appointed
President and
CEO of Sagicor
Life Jamaica
Limited, a member
of the Sagicor
Group, in March
2004. He is Chairman of the Board of
PanCaribbean Financial Services, Sagicor
Property Services Limited, Sagicor
Reinsurance Limited (Cayman), Sagicor
Insurance Managers (Cayman) and
Desnoes and Geddes. He also serves

on the boards of several subsidiary

and associated companies as well as

Air Jamaica and RBA Limited. He has
earned valuable experience and within the
financial sector spanning the areas of Life,
Health and General Insurance, Asset and
Investment Management, Banking, Pension
Administration, Property Development and
Reinsurance Management. Mr. Byles holds
a BSc in Economics from the University of
the West Indies and an MSc. in National
Development from the University of
Bradford, England.




DR. M. PATRICIA DOWNES-GRANT, BA,
MA MBA, DBA

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Sagicor Life Inc

Dr. Patricia
Downes-Grant
was appointed
President and
Chief Executive
Officer of Sagicor
Life Inc on
January 1, 2006,
having served as Group Chief Operating
Officer, since July 1, 2002. She joined
Sagicor in 1991 and held several senior
positions, including those of Vice President,
(Investments), and Treasurer and Executive
Vice President (Finance and Investments)
before being appointed Chief Executive
Officer. She holds an MBA in Finance,

an MA in Economics, and a Doctorate in
Business Administration (Finance). Prior
to joining Sagicor, Dr. Patricia-Downes-
Grant was a Senior Manager in the
Management, Consulting and Insolvency
Division of Coopers & Lybrand (now
PricewaterhouseCoopers). Dr. Downes-
Grant has also had significant work
experience in development banking. She is
a former Chairman of the Barbados Stock
Exchange and Barbados Central Securities
Depository and a Director of several
companies within the Sagicor Group and
within the private sector of Barbados.

J. ANDREW GALLAGHER, FSA, FCIA

Chief Risk Officer

Andrew Gallagher
was appointed

to the position

of Chief Risk
Officer for the
Group in 2007.

He joined Sagicor
in August 1997,
and previously held the position of
Resident Actuary. He holds a Bachelor of
Mathematics degree from the University
of Waterloo, is both a Fellow of Canadian
Institute of Actuaries and a Fellow of the
Society of Actuaries, and is a Chartered
Enterprise Risk Analyst. Prior to joining
Sagicor, Mr. Gallagher worked with Eckler
Partners in Toronto in their financial
institutions practice. He has over 25 years
of experience in the industry.

MAXINE MACLURE, BSc, MEd, MBA
Executive Vice President, Corporate Services
and Chief Compliance Officer

Maxine MacLure
was appointed
Executive Vice
President,
Corporate
Services, Sagicor
Financial
Corporation in
February 2007. Prior to this, she served

as President and CEO, Sagicor USA from
March 2004. Ms. MacLure joined Sagicor
in December 2001 as President and CEO
of Life of Jamaica (LOJ). Before joining
Sagicor, Ms. MaclLure was General Manager
of Insurance for FINSAC in Jamaica,

where she ran a 2 year insurance reform
project sponsored by the Inter-American
Development Bank and the Jamaican
Government. She also spent 7 years as a
senior Financial Sector Regulator in Canada
and 11 years in banking in Canada & the
UK. Ms. MacLure has an MBA from the
Richard Ivey School of Business at the
University of Western Ontario, Canada, a
Masters degree in Education from Western
Washington University in the United States,
and a BSc from the University of Manitoba,
Canada, with a major in Mathematics.
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PHILIP N.W. OSBORNE, BSc, ACA, FCA

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Osborne was
appointed Chief
Financial Officer in
2003. He has held
senior finance
positions in the
life insurance
sector for over

20 years, having joined Life of Barbados
Limited (then a Barbados based life insurer)
in 1989. Subsequently in 1996, he was
appointed a Director of Life of Barbados
and remained so through its acquisition

by and its eventual amalgamation with
Sagicor Life Inc. He is currently a director
of Globe Finance Inc., Barbados Farms Ltd,
and Sagicor at Lloyd’s Ltd and its affiliates,
which are all subsidiaries in the Sagicor
Group, and of Almond Resorts Inc. and TD
Reinsurance (Barbados) Inc. Mr. Osborne
is a U.K. trained chartered accountant and
has worked in professional accounting
firms in London and Barbados over a

ten year period. He also holds a BSc. in
Mathematics with Computer Science from
the University of London. Mr. Osborne is a
citizen of Barbados.

SANDRA OSBORNE, SCM, QC, BSc, LLB,
FCIS

Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Sandra Osborne
was appointed
General Counsel
and Secretary

for the Sagicor
Group in April
1989. An Attorney-
at-Law and
Chartered Secretary, Ms. Osborne has 30
years’ experience in the legal field, having
previously practiced as a Crown Counsel
and at the private Bar in civil practice in
Barbados. For the last 20 years, her focus
has been in the corporate area, both as
Corporate Counsel and Corporate Secretary.
She has also contributed to legislative

i)

reform in Barbados in the area of securities.

Ms. Osborne holds a BSc (Hons) in
Political Science and an LLB (Hons) both
from the University of the West Indies
and a Certificate in Legal Education, Hugh
Wooding Law School, Council of Legal
Education, Trinidad. She is also a Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in Canada and has
completed an Executive Development
Program at Kellogg Graduate School of
Management, Northwestern University,
United States. She was appointed a
Queen’s Counsel of Barbados in 2007.

RAVI RAMBARRAN, BSc, MSc, FIA

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Sagicor International

Ravi Rambarran
joined Sagicor

in 2006, and he

is President and
Chief Executive
Officer of Sagicor
International. His
work experience
includes Pensions Actuary of Life of Jamaica
(LOJ), Appointed Actuary of Global Life
Bahamas and Global Life Cayman, Chief
Financial and Chief Investment Officer of
LOJ, Managing Director of NCB Capital
Markets and West Indian Trust Company,
part-time Lecturer in Actuarial Science

at the University of the West Indies and
running his own actuarial practice. Prior

to joining LOJ, Mr. Rambarran was a
Consulting Actuary with Aon Group and
the HSBC Group in the United Kingdom.
Mr. Rambarran has a BSc(Hons) in
Actuarial Science from City University,
London, and an MSc. in Finance from the
University of London. Mr. Rambarran was
awarded an Open Mathematics Scholarship
by the Government of Trinidad and Tobago,
and is also a Fellow of the Institute of
Actuaries.




MELBA SMITH, BA
Vice President, Corporate Communications

Melba Smith

was appointed
Vice President
Corporate
Communications
for the Sagicor
Group in January
2002. Prior to
joining Sagicor, she was the General
Manager of the Caribbean Broadcasting
Corporation. During her 7-year tenure,

she managed television, radio and cable
services. She was also a Board member

of the Caribbean Broadcasting Union

and became that Institution’s first female
President in 2000. She was elected
Caribbean Representative on the Board

of the Commonwealth Broadcasters
Association. Mrs. Smith, a graduate of the
University of the West Indies, holds a BA
(Hons), and a Post Graduate diploma in
Mass Communications, and is a member
of the International Association of Business
Communications. Over the last 25 years,
Mrs. Smith has worked in all areas of mass
communication and in addition, has gained
valuable experience and expertise in the
areas of communication, public relations
and management.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

iy
pwe

INDEFENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT

To the Shareholders of
Sagicor Financial Corporation

Wi have sudited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sagicor Financlal Corporation
and its subsidiaries as shown on pages 68 to 180, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as of December 31, 2011 and the consclidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes In equity and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant sceounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements In sccondance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

Auditor’s Responsibility

Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated Anancial statements based on our asdit.
‘We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain sudit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consalidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedunes that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also inchwdes evaleating the
appropriateness of accounting polickes used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

‘We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
mndit opinion,

PricewaterhouseCoopers SRL, The Financial Services Cenire, Bishop's Cowrt Hill, PO, oo a1, St Michoel, BELgoog,
Barbades, West Indies
T2 s QpB-fab-B00, F: 2l £36-1275, unm proe.com,bh
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o b o et b ey

i

pwe

Opirdon

1In our opinion, the consolidated financial staterents present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Sagicor Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries as of December 31,2011, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in sccordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

ﬂ"(“\-ﬁl-{'ﬂf'é,._':{ I/&,;: s'-'#{

PricewaterhouseCoopers SRL
Barbaidos —_— e

Bridgetown,
Manch 30, 2012
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ACTUARY’S REPORT

Eckler £

Sagicor
SAGICOR FINANCIAL CORPORATION

APPOINTED ACTUARY'S

2011 REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND
POLICYHOLDERS

|
|
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Eabiltion of its S insurance subsiiaries:

;
E

for the balancos sheat. 8l 317 Decamber 2011, and their change in the consolidated ol operations, fof the
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION Sagicor Financial Corporation

As of December 31, 2011 Amounts expressed in US $000
Note 2011 2010 Note 2011 2010
ASSETS LIABILITIES
Investment property 5 122,185 119,169 Actuarial liabilities 13 1,876,477 1,753,712
Property, plant and equipment 7 137,017 131,407 Other insurance liabilities 14 788,680 665,634
Investment in associated companies 6 33,683 32,929 Investment contract liabilities 15 315,559 294,338
Intangible assets 8 120,787 123,379 Total policy liabilities 2,980,716 2,713,684
Financial investments 9 4,092,166 3,636,832 Notes and loans payable 16 232,530 181,885
Reinsurance assets 10 331,309 281,848 Deposit and security liabilities 17 1,083,565 983,551
Income tax assets 11 41,706 27,764 Provisions 18 44172 38,834
Miscellaneous assets and receivables 12 300,558 295,867 Income tax liabilities 19 31,170 23,800
Cash resources 184,662 218,635 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 20 194,387 187,235
Total assets 5,364,073 4,867,830 Total liabilities 4,566,540 4,128,989
EQUITY
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on Share capital 21 296,048 217,172
March 30, 2012. Reserves 22 20,865 (14,406)
Retained earnings 290,222 302,786
Total shareholders’ equity 607,135 565,552
Participating accounts 23 2,201 4,347
44\ Minority interest in subsidiaries 188,197 168,942
- B . dﬂg\ Total equity 797,533 738,841
Director Director
Total equity and liabilities 5,364,073 4,867,830
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

REVENUE
Premium revenue
Reinsurance premium expense
Net premium revenue
Net investment income
Fees and other revenue

Total revenue

BENEFITS
Policy benefits and change in actuarial liabilities

Policy benefits and change in actuarial liabilities
reinsured

Net policy benefits and change in actuarial liabilities

Interest expense

Total benefits

EXPENSES

Administrative expenses

Commissions and related compensation
Premium taxes

Finance costs

Depreciation and amortisation

Total expenses

INCOME BEFORE TAXES
Income taxes
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Note 2011 2010
2 1,165,679 1,047,021
24 (161,352) (146,071)

1,004,327 900,950

25 284,967 293,280
2 61,322 61,867
1,350,616 1,256,097

27 871,285 745,079
27 (113,660) (53,370)
757,625 691,709

28 70,995 77,997
828,620 769,706

223,681 212,092

207,154 174,116

9,448 8,600

17,077 16,369

19,307 18,269

476,667 429,446

45,329 56,945

32 (13,486) (15,310)
31,843 41,635

Net income is attributable to:
Common shareholders
Participating policyholders

Minority interests

Earnings per common share:
Basic earnings per common share

Fully diluted earnings per common share

Note 2011 2010
973 16,560
(1,878) (1,265)
32,748 26,340
31,843 41,635
34 0.2 cents 5.7 cents
34 0.2 cents 5.7 cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items net of tax that may be reclassified subsequently to
income:

Available for sale assets:
Unrealised gains / (losses) arising on revaluation
(Gains) / losses transferred to income

Net change in actuarial liabilities

Retranslation of foreign currency operations

Other items

Items net of tax that will not be reclassified subsequently
to income:

Unrealised gains / (losses) arising on revaluation of owner
occupied property

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Note 2011 2010
35
17,286 47,542
(5,338) (4,445)
(11,459) (10,576)
(1,803) 6,007
- (309)
(1,314) 38,219
35
3,009 770
1,695 38,989

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net income
Other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:
Common shareholders
Participating policyholders

Minority interests

Total comprehensive earnings per common shares:

Basic total comprehensive earnings per common share

Note 2011 2010
31,843 41,635

1,695 38,989

33,538 80,624

3,685 38,208
(1,893) (1,247)

31,746 43,663

33,538 80,624

34 1.1 cents 13.2 cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Sagicor Financial Corporation

Year ended December 31, 2011 Amounts expressed in US $000
Total Participati
Share Capital Reserves Retained ot slenleihs, Minority Total
(note 21) (note 22) Earnings Shareholders” — Accounts Interests Equit:
g Equity (note 23) LR

Year ended December 31, 2011

Balance, beginning of year 277,172 (14,406) 302,786 565,552 4,347 168,942 738,841
Total comprehensive income - 2,712 973 3,685 (1,893) 31,746 33,538
Transactions with holders of equity instruments:
Allotments of common shares 19,799 - - 19,799 - - 19,799
Movements in treasury shares (923) - - (923) - - (923)
Net allocation to preference share reserve - 31,309 - 31,309 - - 31,309
Changes in reserve for equity compensation benefits - 2,047 - 2,047 - (50) 1,997
Dividends declared (note 21.3) - - (14,328) (14,328) - (13,489) (27,817)
Transfers and other movements - (797) 791 (6) (253) 1,048 789
Balance, end of year 296,048 20,865 290,222 607,135 2,201 188,197 797,533

Year ended December 31, 2010

Balance, beginning of year 278,252 (42,609) 302,431 538,074 5,851 137,503 681,428
Total comprehensive income - 21,648 16,560 38,208 (1,247) 43,663 80,624
Transactions with holders of equity instruments:
Allotments of common shares 659 - - 659 - 264 923
Movements in treasury shares (1,739) - - (1,739) - - (1,739)
Changes in reserve for equity compensation benefits - 2,321 - 2,321 - - 2,321
Dividends declared (note 21.3) - - (11,591) (11,591) - (8,988) (20,579)
Disposal of interest in subsidiary - 64 - 64 - (3,722) (3,658)
Transfers and other movements - 4,170 (4,614) (444) (257) 222 (479)
Balance, end of year 277,172 (14,406) 302,786 565,552 4,347 168,942 738,841
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Sagicor Financial Corporation

Year ended December 31, 2011 Amounts expressed in US $000
Note 2011 2010 Note 2011 2010
OPERATING ACTIVITIES FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Income before taxes 45,329 56,945 Allotment of common shares 19,799
Adjustments for non-cash items, interest and dividends 36.1 (63,616) 6,538 Movement in treasury shares (1,358) (1,739)
Interest and dividends received 249,266 244,219 Allotment of preference shares 212 115,906 B,
Interest paid (83,487) (95,283) Shares issued to minority interests 197 114
Income taxes paid (19.823) (17.506) Other notes and loans payable, net 363 (36,808) (14,452)
Net increase in investments and operating assets 36.1 (459,032) (377,234) Dividends paid to common shareholders (11,589) (11,441)
Net increase in operating liabilities 36.1 269,107 170,042 L e e e e e (2,544) i
Net cash flows - operating activities (62,256) (12,279) Dividends paid to minority interests (13,489) (8,988)
Net cash flows - financing activities 70,114 (36,506)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Property, plant and equipment, net 36.2 (12,792) (10,252)
; ; i Effects of exchange rate changes (4,904) 653
Investment in associated companies, net 1,655 1,357
Intangible assets, net (6,226) (5,066)
Divestiture and acquisition of subsidiaries and o3 NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (14,409) (50,550)
insurance businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents ’ Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 279,068 329,618
Net cash flows - investing activities (17,363) (2,418) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 36.4 264,659 279,068

72



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

1. INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Sagicor Financial Corporation was incorporated on December 6, 2002 under the Companies Act of
Barbados as a public limited liability holding company. On December 6, 2002, Sagicor Life Inc was
formed following its conversion from The Barbados Mutual Life Assurance Society (The Society). On
December 30, 2002, Sagicor Financial Corporation allotted common shares to the eligible
policyholders of The Society and became the holding company of Sagicor Life Inc.

Sagicor and its subsidiaries ‘the Group’ operate across the Caribbean, in the United States of America
(USA) and in the United Kingdom (UK). Details of the Sagicor’s holdings and operations are set out in
note 4.

The principal activities of the Sagicor Group are as follows:
e Life and health insurance
*  Annuities and pension administration services
e Property and casualty insurance

*  Banking, investment management and other financial services

For ease of reference, when the term “insurer” is used in the following notes, it refers to either one
or more Group subsidiaries that engages in insurance activities.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with and comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The Group has adopted accounting policies for the computation of actuarial liabilities of life insurance
and annuity contracts which comply with the Canadian Asset Liability Method (CALM). As no specific
guidance is provided by IFRS for computing actuarial liabilities, management has judged that CALM
should continue to be applied. The adoption of IFRS 4 - Insurance Contracts, permits the Group to
continue with this accounting policy, with the modification required by IFRS 4 that rights under
reinsurance contracts are measured separately.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except as
modified by the revaluation of investment property, owner-occupied property, available for sale
investment securities, financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through income, actuarial
liabilities and associated reinsurance assets.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas when assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

All amounts in these financial statements are shown in thousands of United States dollars, unless
otherwise stated.

(@) Amendments to IFRS

There are no new or amended standards which are effective for the 2011 financial year which have a
significant impact on the presentation, measurement or disclosure in the Group’s financial statements.

Amended standards which are effective for the 2011 financial year that have no significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements are listed in the following table.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

IFRS

Subject of amendment

IFRS 1 -
First-time adoption of IFRS

Accounting policy changes in year of adoption

Revaluation basis as deemed cost

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The Group has voluntarily adopted the following amendments ahead of the required dates for

Use of deemed cost for operations subject to rate regulation

IFRS 3 -
Business combinations

Transition requirements for contingent consideration

Measurement of non-controlling interests

Un-replaced and voluntary replaced share- based payment awards

[FRS 7 -
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures

Clarification of disclosures

adoption.
Adopted by th
IFRS Subject of amendment L i
Group from
AS1 - Presentation of ltems of Other Comprehensive
Presentation of P 2011
. : Income
Financial Statements
IAS 12 - Income Taxes Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 2010

IAS 1 -
Presentation of
Financial Statements

Clarification of statements of changes in equity

IAS 27 -
Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

Transition requirements for 2010 amendments

(b) Amendments to International Financial Reporting Interpretations

The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) has issued new or amended
interpretations which are effective from 2011. These interpretations, which do not impact significantly
the presentation, measurement or in disclosure in these financial statements, are as follows:

IAS 34 -
Interim Financial Reporting

Significant events and transactions

IFRIC

New IFRIC / subject of amendment

IAS 24 — Related Party
Disclosures

Simplifying the definition of related parties

IFRIC 13 -
Customer Loyalty Programmes

Fair value of award credits

Partial exemption for government-related entities

IAS 32 - Financial
Instruments: Presentation

Classification of rights issues

IFRIC 14 - IAS 19 The Limit of a
Defined Benefit Asset

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

IFRIC 19

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

The Group has amended the presentation in the statement of equity in order to provide greater clarity

to transactions with holders of equity instruments.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Future accounting developments

Certain new standards and amendments have been issued which were not effective at the date of the
financial statements. The changes in standards and interpretations which may have a significant effect
on future presentation, measurement or disclosure of the Group’s financial statements are
summarised in the following tables.

IFRS (Effective Date) : Subject/ Comments

IFRS 9 -
Financial Instruments
(January 1, 2015)

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset
is measured at amortised cost or fair value. The determination is
based on how an entity manages its financial instruments and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

IFRS 9 has amended the treatment, applicable to financial liabilities
designated at fair value, of changes in own credit risk. Such changes
are to be recorded in other comprehensive income unless part of a
hedging relationship.

This standard does not address changes contemplated by the
International Accounting Standards Board with respect to the
following related items:

*  impairment methodology for financial assets

e  hedge accounting

IFRS 7 - Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets
Financial Instruments: The amendments will assist users of financial statements to evaluate
Disclosures the risk exposures relating to transfers of assets and the effect of

(July 1,2011) those risks on an entity’s financial position. Disclosure requirements
are set out respectively for transferred assets that are not de-

recognised entirely or that are de-recognised entirely.

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

IFRS (Effective date)

Subject / Comments

IFRS 10 — Consolidated
Financial Statements

IFRS 11 -
Joint Arrangements

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities

(January 1, 2013)

Consolidation and Interests in Other Entities

These new standards partially or wholly replace IAS 27, IAS 28 and
IAS 31 and:

. Refine the definition of control over entities and
consequently define interests that require consolidation.

. Introduce new accounting requirements for joint
arrangements.

J Require enhanced disclosures about both consolidated
and unconsolidated entities so that users of financial
statements may evaluate the basis of control, restrictions
on assets and liabilities, risk exposures from
involvements with unconsolidated entities and non-
controlling interests’ involvement in consolidated entities.

IFRS 13 -
Fair Value Measurement
(January 1, 2013)

Fair Value

The standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring
fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.

The standard applies to financial and non-financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value. The fair value hierarchy
concept defined in IFRS 7 has been transferred to and enhanced by
this standard. The standard summarises the main valuation
techniques which should be applied.

Additional disclosures are required to support the Levels 1 to 3
classifications. Disclosures are also categorised according to assets /
liabilities which are recurring and which are non-recurring.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

IFRS / (Effective date) Subject / Comments

IAS 19 - Measurement
Employee Benefits
(January 1, 2013) The option which allows the deferral of actuarial gains and losses
within the 10% corridor is withdrawn. Accordingly, changes are
reported as they occur. Service cost and finance cost are to be
included in income, while re-measurements are included in other

comprehensive income.

IFRS 7 - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures These amendments clarify the presentation of certain offsetting

requirements and amend the disclosure to include information on
IAS 32 - Financial the effect of netting arrangements.

Instruments Presentation

(January 1, 2014)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a majority voting interest. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group, and are de-consolidated from the date on which
control ceases.

All material intra-group balances, transactions and gains are eliminated on consolidation. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting when control over entities and insurance
businesses is obtained by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the
identifiable assets given, the equity instruments issued and the liabilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange. lIdentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date irrespective of
the extent of any minority interest.

The excess of the cost of the acquisition, the minority interest recognised and the fair value of any
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of the of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If there is no excess and there is a shortfall, the Group reassesses
the net identifiable assets acquired. If after reassessment, a shortfall remains, the acquisition is
deemed to be a bargain purchase and the shortfall is recognised in income as a gain on acquisition.

Subsequent ownership changes in a subsidiary, without loss of control, are accounted for as
transactions between owners in the statement of changes in equity.

Minority interest balances represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable to Sagicor’s interests.

On an acquisition by acquisition basis, the Group recognises at the date of acquisition the
components of any minority interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. The latter option is only available if the minority interest
component is entitled to a proportionate share of net identifiable assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation. For certain components of minority interests, other IFRS may override the fair value option.

Minority interest balances are subsequently re-measured by the minority’s proportionate share of
changes in equity after the date of acquisition.
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2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b) Investment in associated companies

The investments in associated companies, which are not majority-owned or controlled but where
significant influence exists, are included in these consolidated financial statements under the equity
method of accounting. Investments in associated companies are originally recorded at cost and
include intangible assets identified on acquisition.

Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

The Group recognises in income its share of associated companies’ post acquisition income and its
share of the amortisation and impairment of intangible assets which were identified on acquisition.
Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. The Group recognises in other comprehensive
income, its share of associated companies’ post acquisition other comprehensive income.

(c) Joint Ventures

Interests in the assets, liabilities and earnings of jointly controlled ventures are included in these
consolidated financial statements using the proportionate consolidation method, eliminating all
material related party balances.

(d) Divestitures

On the disposal of or loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group de-recognises the related assets,
liabilities, minority interest and associated goodwill of the subsidiary. The Group reclassifies its share
of balances of the subsidiary previously recognised in other comprehensive income either to income
or to retained earnings as appropriate. The gain (or loss) on divestiture recorded in income is the
excess (or shortfall) of the fair value of the consideration received over the de-recognised and
reclassified balances.

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(e) Pension and investment funds

Insurers have issued deposit administration and unit linked contracts in which the full return of the
assets supporting these contracts accrue directly to the contract-holders. As these contracts are not
operated under separate legal trusts, they have been consolidated in these financial statements.

The Group manages a number of segregated pension funds, mutual funds and unit trusts. These
funds are segregated and investment returns on these funds accrue directly to unit-holders.
Consequently the assets, liabilities and activity of these funds are not included in these consolidated
financial statements unless the Group has a significant holding in the fund. Where a significant
holding exists, the Group consolidates the assets, liabilities and activity of the fund and accounts for
any non-controlling interest as a financial liability.

(f) Employees share ownership plan (ESOP)

The Company has established an ESOP Trust which either acquires Company shares on the open
market, or is allotted new shares by the Company. The Trust holds the shares on behalf of
employees until the employees’ retirement or termination from the Group. Until distribution to
employees, shares held by the Trust are accounted for as treasury shares. All dividends received by
the Trust shall be applied towards the purchase of additional Company shares.

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentational currency

Items included in the financial statements of each reporting unit of the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).
A reporting unit may be an individual subsidiary, a branch of a subsidiary or an intermediate holding
company group of subsidiaries.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of United States dollars, which is
the Group’s presentational currency.
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2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Reporting units

The results and financial position of reporting units that have a functional currency other than the

Group’s presentational currency are translated as follows:

(i) Income, other comprehensive income, movements in equity and cash flows are translated
at average exchange rates for the year.

(i) Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling on December 31.

(i) Resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Currencies which are pegged to the United States dollar are converted at the pegged rates.
Currencies which float are converted to the United States dollar by reference to the average of buying
and selling rates quoted by the respective central banks or in the case of pounds sterling, according to
prevailing market rates.

Exchange rates of the other principal operating currencies to the United States dollar were as follows:

December 2011 December 2010
2011 2010
. average rate . average rate

closing rate closing rate
Barbados dollar 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000
Jamaica dollar 86.3356 85.8396 85.6606 87.4076
Trinidad & Tobago dollar 6.4094 6.4018 6.3766 6.3424
Pound sterling 0.6468 0.62112 0.6388 0.64716

2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities are recorded in other comprehensive income. On the disposal or loss of control of a foreign

entity, such exchange differences are transferred to income.

Goodwill and other intangible assets recognised on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity, and are translated at the rate ruling on December 31.

(c) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses, which result from the
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the re-translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities, primarily deferred policy acquisition costs and unearned premiums, are
maintained at the transaction rates of exchange.

The foregoing exchange gains and losses which are recognised in the income statement are included
in other revenue.

Exchange differences on the re-translation of the fair value of non-monetary items such as equities
held at fair value through income are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Exchange
differences on the re-translation of the fair value of non-monetary items such as equities held as
available for sale are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in other comprehensive income.

2.4 Segments
The Group adopted IFRS 8 Operating segments for the 2009 financial statements. Reportable operating

segments have been accordingly defined on the basis of performance and resource allocation
decisions of the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.
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2.5 Investment property

Investment property consists of freehold lands and freehold properties which are held for rental
income and/or capital appreciation.

Investment property is recorded initially at cost. In subsequent financial years, investment property is
recorded at fair values determined by independent valuers, with the appreciation or depreciation in
value being taken to investment income. Investment property includes property held under
partnership and joint venture arrangements with third parties which are accounted for under the
proportionate consolidation basis.

Transfers to or from investment property are recorded when there is a change in use of the property.
Transfers to owner-occupied property or to real estate developed for resale are recorded at the fair
value at the date of change in use. Transfers from owner-occupied property are recorded at their fair
value and any difference with carrying value at the date of change in use is dealt with in accordance
with note 2.6.

Investment property may include property of which a portion is held for rental to third parties and the
other portion is occupied by the Group. In such circumstances, the property is accounted for as an
investment property if the Group’s occupancy level is not significant in relation to the total available
occupancy. Otherwise, it is accounted for as an owner-occupied.

Rental income is recognised on an accruals basis.
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded initially at cost. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised
when it will result in future economic benefits to the Group.

Owner-occupied property is re-valued at least every three years to its fair value as determined by
independent valuers. Revaluation of a property may be conducted more frequently if circumstances
indicate that a significant change in fair value has occurred. Movements in fair value are reported in
other comprehensive income, unless there is a cumulative depreciation in respect of an individual
property, which is then recorded in income. Accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

On disposal of owner-occupied property, the amount included in the fair value reserve is transferred to
retained earnings. Owner-occupied property includes property held under partnership and joint venture
arrangements with third parties which are accounted for under the proportionate consolidation basis.

The Group, as lessor, enters into operating leases with third parties to lease assets. Operating leases
are leases in which the Group maintains substantially the risks of ownership and the associated assets
are recorded as property, plant and equipment. Income from operating leases is recognised on the
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the cost or fair value of property,
plant and equipment to residual value over the estimated useful life. Estimated useful lives are
reviewed annually and are as follows.

Asset Estimated useful life

Buildings 40 to 50 years

Furnishings and leasehold improvements 10 years or lease term

Computer and office equipment 310 10 years
Vehicles 4 to 5 years
Leased equipment and vehicles 5to 6 years

Lands are not depreciated.

The carrying amount of an asset is written down immediately through the depreciation account if the
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses recognised in income on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined
by comparing the net sale proceeds to the carrying value.
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2.7 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

Goodwill (defined in note 2.2(a)) arising from an acquisition of a subsidiary or insurance business is
allocated to appropriate cash generating units which are defined by the Group’s operating segments.
Gooduwill arising in a reportable operating segment is allocated to that segment. Goodwill arising in a
Group entity, which is not within a reportable operating segment, is allocated to that entity’s own
operations, or, if that entity is managed in conjunction with another Group entity, to their combined
operations.

Goodwill arising from an investment in an associate is included in the carrying value of the investment.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment.

On disposal of a subsidiary or insurance business, the associated goodwill is de-recognised and is
included in the gain or loss on disposal. On the disposal of a subsidiary or insurance business forming
part of a reportable operating segment, the proportion of goodwill disposed is the proportion of the fair
value of the asset disposed to the total fair value of the operating segment.

(b) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets identified on acquisition are recognised only if future economic benefits
attributable to the asset will flow to the Group and if the fair value of the asset can be measured
reliably. In addition, for the purposes of recognition, the intangible asset must be separable from the
business being acquired or must arise from contractual or legal rights. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination are initially recognised at their fair value.

Other intangible assets, which have been acquired directly, are recorded initially at cost.
On acquisition, the useful life of the asset is estimated. If the estimated useful life is definite, then the

cost of the asset is amortised over its life, and is tested for impairment when there is evidence of
same. If the estimated useful life is indefinite, the asset is tested annually for impairment.

2.7 Intangible assets (continued)

The estimated useful lives of recognised intangible assets are as follows:

Class of intangible asset : Asset Estimated useful life
Customer relationships 4 - 20 years

Customer related
Broker relationships 10 years

Marketing related Trade names 4 - 10 years

Contract based Syndicate capacity Indefinite
Licences 15 years

Technology based Software 2 - 10 years

2.8 Financial assets

a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets into four categories:
*  held to maturity financial assets;
e available for sale financial assets;
» financial assets at fair value through income;
* |oans and receivables.
Management determines the appropriate classification of these assets on initial recognition.

Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that management has both the intent and ability to hold to maturity.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market.
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2.8 Financial Assets (continued)

Financial assets in the category at fair value through income comprise designated assets or held for
trading assets. These are set out below.

. Assets designated by management on acquisition form part of managed portfolios whose
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with documented investment strategies.
They comprise investment portfolios backing deposit administration and unit linked policy contracts
for which the full return on the portfolios accrue to the contract-holders.

. Held for trading securities are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term
or if they form part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-term profit
taking. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless designated as hedges.

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial instruments intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to liquidity needs or changes in interest

rates, exchange rates and equity prices.

(b) Recognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of financial investments are recognised on the trade date. Interest income
arising on investments is accrued using the effective yield method. Dividends are recorded in revenue
when due.

Held to maturity assets, loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost less provision for
impairment.

Financial assets in the category at fair value through income are measured initially at fair value and
are subsequently re-measured at their fair value based on quoted prices or internal valuation
techniques. Realised and unrealised gains and losses are recorded as net gains in investment
income. Interest and dividend income are recorded under their respective heads in investment
income.

2.8 Financial Assets (continued)

Financial assets in the available for sale category are measured initially at fair value and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value based on quoted prices or internal valuation techniques.
Unrealised gains and losses, net of deferred income taxes, are reported in other comprehensive
income. Either on the disposal of the asset or if the asset is determined to be impaired, the
previously recorded unrealised gain or loss is transferred to investment income. Discounts and
premiums on available for sale securities are amortised using the effective yield method.

(c) Fair value

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would be agreed upon between
knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted
market value, if one exists. The estimated fair values of financial assets are based on quoted bid
prices of securities as at December 31 where available.

(d) Impaired financial assets

A financial asset is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount.

An impairment loss for assets carried at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the
carrying amount and the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. The carrying value of impaired financial assets is reduced by impairment
losses.

The recoverable amount for an available for sale security is its fair value.
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2.8 Financial Assets (continued)

For an available for sale equity security or investment in an associated company, an impairment loss
is recognised in income if there has been a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its
cost. Determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement which includes
consideration of the volatility of the fair value, and the financial condition and financial viability of the
investee. In this context, management considers a 40% decline in fair value below cost to be
significant. Any subsequent increase in fair value occurring after the recognition of an impairment loss
is reported in other comprehensive income.

For an available for sale security other than an equity security, if the Group assesses that there is
objective evidence that the security is impaired, an impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the instrument’s amortised cost exceeds its fair value. If in a subsequent period the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, and the amount of the
reversal is recognised in revenue.

(e) Securities purchased for re-sale

Securities purchased under agreements to resell are recognised initially at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost. Securities purchased for re-sale are treated as collateralised
financing transactions. The difference between the purchase and resale price is treated as interest
and is accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective yield method.

(f) Finance leases

The Group, as lessor, enters into finance leases with third parties to lease assets. Finance leases are
leases in which the Group has transferred substantially the risks of ownership to the lessee. The
finance lease, net of unearned finance income, is recorded as a receivable and the finance income is
recognised over the term of the lease using the effective yield method.

2.8 Financial Assets (continued)

(9) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as
equities, bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities or other indices.
Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market risk. The Group
transacts derivatives for three primary purposes: to create risk management solutions for customers,
for proprietary trading purposes, and to manage its own exposure to credit and market risk.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is
entered into, and subsequently are re-measured at their fair value at each financial statement date.
The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. Fair values are obtained from
quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and option pricing models as appropriate.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking
various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessments, both at hedge inception
and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

For cash flow hedges, gains and losses relating to the effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives are initially recognised in other comprehensive income, and are transferred to the
statement of income when the forecast cash flows affect income. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of income.

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are included in income.
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2.8 Financial Assets (continued)

(h) Embedded derivatives

The Group holds certain bonds and preferred equity securities that contain options to convert into
common shares of the issuer. These options are considered embedded derivatives.

If the measurement of an embedded derivative can be separated from its host contract, the embedded
derivative is carried at current market value and is presented with its related host contract. Unrealised

gains and losses are recorded as investment income.

If the measurement of an embedded derivative cannot be separated from its host contract, the full
contract is accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through income.

(i) Financial assets held in trust under modified coinsurance arrangements

These assets are held in trust for a reinsurer and are in respect of policy liabilities ceded to the
reinsurer. The assets are recognised in the financial statements along with a corresponding account
payable to the reinsurer. The income statement includes the interest income from these assets and a
corresponding interest expense due to the reinsurer.

2.9 Real estate developed or held for resale

Lands being made ready for resale along with the cost of infrastructural works are classified as real
estate held for resale and are stated at the lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.

Real estate acquired through foreclosure is classified as real estate held for resale and is stated at the
lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses realised on the sale of real estate are included in revenue at the time of sale.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group’s policy for the potential impairment of property, plant, equipment and, intangible assets is
set out below.

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use.

211 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2 cash balances,

. call deposits,

. other liquid balances with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date,

. less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand,

. less other borrowings from financial institutions made for the purpose of meeting cash

commitments and which have maturities of three months or less from origination.
Cash equivalents are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
212 Policy contracts
(a) Classification

The Group issues policy contracts that transfer insurance risk and / or financial risk from the
policyholder.
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212 Policy contracts (continued)

The Group defines insurance risk as an insured event that could cause an insurer to pay significant
additional benefits in a scenario that has a discernable effect on the economics of the transaction.

Insurance contracts transfer insurance risk and may also transfer financial risk. Once a contract has
been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for its duration, even if the
insurance risk reduces significantly over time. Investment contracts transfer financial risk and no
significant insurance risk. Financial risk includes credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

A reinsurance contract is an insurance contract in which an insurance entity cedes assumed risks to
another insurance entity.

A number of insurance contracts contain a discretionary participation feature. A discretionary
participation feature entitles the holder to receive, supplementary to the main benefit, additional
benefits or bonuses:

e that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;

*  whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of management; and

e that are contractually based on
o the performance of a specified pool of contracts;
o investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the insurer; or
o the profit or loss of a fund or insurer issuing the contract.

Policy bonuses and policy dividends constitute discretionary participation features which the Group
classifies as liabilities.

Residual gains in the participating accounts constitute discretionary participation features which the
Group classifies as equity (see also note 2.21).

212 Policy contracts (continued)

(b) Recognition and measurement

(i) Property and casualty insurance contracts

Property and casualty insurance contracts are generally one year renewable contracts issued by the
insurer covering insurance risks over property, motor, accident and liability.

Property insurance contracts provide coverage for the risk of property damage or of loss of property.
Commercial property, homeowners’ property, motor and certain marine property are common types of
risks covered. For commercial policyholders insurance may include coverage for loss of earnings
arising from the inability to use property which has been damaged or lost.

Casualty insurance contracts provide coverage for the risk of causing physical harm or financial loss
to third parties. Personal accident, employers’ liability, public liability, product liability and professional
indemnity are common types of casualty insurance.

Premium revenue is recognised as earned on a pro-rated basis over the term of the respective policy
coverage. If alternative insurance risk exposure patterns have been established over the term of the
policy coverage, then premium revenue is recognised in accordance with the risk exposure. The
provision for unearned premiums represents the portion of premiums written relating to the unexpired
terms of coverage.

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are recorded as incurred. Claim reserves are established for
both reported and un-reported claims. Claim reserves represent estimates of future payments of
claims and related expenses less anticipated recoveries with respect to insured events that have
occurred up to the date of the financial statements.

The claim reserve is discounted for separate reserving classes of insurance where the expected
average interval between the dates of incurral and settlement is at least 4 years (defined as long-tail
claims). The claim reserve is not discounted for other reserving classes of insurance.
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212 Policy contracts (continued)

For each reserving class, claims data is aggregated separately to which particular statistical
techniques and common estimation factors are applied. For example, direct motor is divided into
sub-classes, injury and property damage. Injury claims are discounted because they satisfy the
criteria of being long-tail claims, while property damage claims are not discounted.

An insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for its property and casualty insurance risks. The
reinsurance ceded premium is expensed on a pro-rata basis over the term of the respective policy
coverage or of the reinsurance contract as appropriate. Reinsurance claim recoveries are established
at the time of the recording of the claim liability and are computed on a basis which is consistent with
the computation of the claim liability. Profit sharing commission due to the Group is accrued as
commission income when there is reasonable certainty of earned profit.

Commissions and premium taxes payable are recognised on the same basis as premiums earned. At
the date of the financial statements, commissions, premium taxes and acquisition-related
administrative expenses attributable to unearned premiums are recorded as deferred policy
acquisition costs. Profit sharing commission payable by the Group arises from contracts between an
insurer and a broker; it is accrued on an aggregate basis and it is adjusted to actual in respect of each
individual contract when due.

(ii) Health insurance contracts

Health insurance contracts are generally one year renewable contracts issued by the insurer covering
insurance risks for medical expenses of insured persons.

Premium revenue is recognised when due for contracts where the premium is billed monthly. For
contracts where the premium is billed annually or semi-annually, premium revenue is recognised as
earned on a pro-rata basis over the term of the respective policy coverage. The provision for
unearned premiums represents the portion of premiums written relating to the unexpired terms of
coverage.

Claims are recorded on settlement. Reserves are recorded as described in note 2.13.

An insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for its health insurance risks. The reinsurance ceded
premium is expensed on a pro-rata basis over the term of the respective policy coverage or of the
reinsurance contract as appropriate.

212 Policy contracts (continued)

(iii) Long-term traditional insurance contracts

Long-term traditional insurance contracts are generally issued for fixed terms of five years or more, or
for the remaining life of the insured. Benefits are typically a death, disability or critical illness benefit, a
cash value on termination and/or a monthly annuity. Annuities are generally payable until the death of
the beneficiaries with a proviso for a minimum number of payments. Some of these contracts have a
discretionary participation feature in the form of regular bonuses or dividends. Other benefits such as
disability and waiver of premium on disability may also be included in these contracts. Some contracts
may allow for the advance of policy loans to the policyholder and may also allow for dividend
withdrawals by the policyholder during the life of the contract.

Premium revenue is recognised when due. Typically, premiums are fixed and are required to be paid
within the due period for payment. If premiums are unpaid, either the contract may terminate, an
automatic premium loan may settle the premium, or the contract may continue at a reduced value.

Policy benefits are recognised on the notification of death, disability or critical illness, on the
termination or maturity date of the contract, on the declaration of a cash bonus or dividend or on the
annuity payment date. Policy loans advanced are recorded as loans and receivables in the financial
statements and are secured by the cash values of the respective policies. Policy bonuses may be
‘non-cash” and utilised to purchase additional amounts of insurance coverage. Accumulated cash
bonuses and dividends are recorded as interest bearing policy balances.

Reserves for future policy liabilities are recorded as described in note 2.13.

An insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for death benefit insurance risks. Typically, coverage is
obtained for individual coverage exceeding prescribed limits. The reinsurance premium is expensed
when due, which generally coincides with when the policy premium is due. Reinsurance claim
recoveries are established at the time of claim notification.

Commissions and premium taxes payable are recognised on the same basis as earned premiums.
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212 Policy contracts (continued)

(iv) Long-term universal life and unit linked insurance contracts

Universal life and unit linked insurance contracts are generally issued for fixed terms or for the
remaining life of the insured. Benefits are typically a death, disability or critical illness benefit, a cash
value on termination and/or a monthly annuity. Annuities are generally payable until the death of the
beneficiaries with a proviso for a minimum number of payments. Benefits may include amounts for
disability or waiver of premium on disability.

Universal life and unit linked contracts have either an interest bearing investment account or unit
linked investment accounts. Either gross premiums or gross premiums net of allowances are
deposited to the investment accounts. Investment returns are credited to the investment accounts
and expenses, not included in the aforementioned allowances, are debited to the investment
accounts. Interest bearing investment accounts may include provisions for minimum guaranteed
returns or returns based on specified investment indices. Allowances and expense charges are in
respect of applicable commissions, cost of insurance, administrative expenses and premium taxes.
Fund withdrawals may be permitted.

Premium revenue is recognised when received and consists of all monies received from the
policyholders. Typically, premiums are fixed at the inception of the contract or periodically thereafter
but additional non-recurring premiums may be paid.

Policy benefits are recognised on the notification of death, disability or critical illness, on the receipt of
a withdrawal request, on the termination or maturity date of the contract, or on the annuity payment
date. Reserves for future policy liabilities are recorded as described in note 2.13.

An insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for death benefit insurance risks. Typically, coverage is
obtained for individual coverage exceeding prescribed limits. The reinsurance premium is expensed
when due, which generally coincides with when the policy premium is due. Reinsurance claims
recoveries are established at the time of claim notification.

Commissions and premium taxes payable are generally recognised only on settlement of premiums.

2.12 Policy contracts (continued)

(v) Reinsurance contracts assumed

Reinsurance contracts assumed by an insurer are accounted for in a similar manner as if the insurer
has assumed the risk direct from a policyholder.

Reinsurance contracts assumed include blocks of life and annuity policies assumed from third party
insurers. In some instances, the Group also administers these policies.

(vi) Reinsurance contracts held

As noted in sections (i) to (iv) above, an insurer may obtain reinsurance coverage for insurance risks
underwritten. The Group cedes insurance premiums and risk in the normal course of business in order
to limit the potential for losses arising from its exposures. Reinsurance does not relieve the originating
insurer of its liability.

Reinsurance contracts held by an insurer are recognised and measured in a similar manner to the
originating insurance contracts and in accordance with the contract terms. Reinsurance premium
ceded and reinsurance recoveries on claims are offset against premium revenue and policy benefits
in the income statement.

The benefits to which an insurer is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as
reinsurance assets or receivables. Reinsurance assets and receivables are assessed for impairment.
If there is evidence that the asset or receivable is impaired, the impairment is recorded in the
statement of income. The obligations of an insurer under reinsurance contracts held are included in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and in actuarial liabilities.

Policy liabilities include blocks of life and annuity policies ceded to reinsurers on coinsurance or
modified coinsurance bases. The Group records as a receivable the reinsurer’s share of the insurer's

liabilities on these policies.

Reinsurance balances are measured consistently with the insurance liabilities to which they relate.
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2.12 Policy contracts (continued)

(vii) Deposit administration and other investment contracts

Deposit administration contracts are issued by an insurer to registered pension schemes for the
deposit of pension plan assets with the insurer.

Deposit administration liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently stated at:

. amortised cost where the insurer is obligated to provide investment returns to the pension
scheme in the form of interest;

. fair value through income where the insurer is obligated to provide investment returns to the

pension scheme in direct proportion to the investment returns on specified blocks of assets.

Deposit administration contributions are recorded directly as liabilities. Withdrawals are deducted
directly from the liability. The interest or investment return provided is recorded as an interest
expense.

In addition, the Group may provide pension administration services to the pension schemes. The
Group earns fee income for both pension administration and investment services.

Other investment contracts are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost and are accounted for in the same manner as deposit administration contracts which
are similarly classified.

(c) Embedded derivatives

Certain insurance contracts contain embedded derivatives which are options whose value may vary in
response to changes in interest rates or other market variables.

The Group does not separately measure embedded derivatives that are closely related to the host
insurance contract or that meet the definition of an insurance contract. Options to surrender an
insurance contract for a fixed amount are also not measured separately. In these cases, the entire
contract liability is measured as set out in note 2.13.

212 Policy contracts (continued)

(d) Liability adequacy tests

At the date of the financial statements, liability adequacy tests are performed by each insurer to
ensure the adequacy of insurance contract liabilities, using current estimates of the related expected
future cash flows. If a test indicates that the carrying value of insurance contract liabilities is
inadequate, then the liabilities are adjusted to correct the deficiency. The deficiency is included in the
income statement under benefits.

2.13 Actuarial liabilities

(a) Life insurance and annuity contracts

The Canadian Asset Liability Method (CALM) is used for the determination of actuarial liabilities of
long-term insurance contracts. These liabilities consist of the amounts that, together with future
premiums and investment income, are required to provide for future policy benefits, expenses and
taxes on insurance and annuity contracts.

The process of calculating life insurance and annuity actuarial liabilities for future policy benefits
necessarily involves the use of estimates concerning such factors as mortality and morbidity rates,
future investment yields, future expense levels and persistency, including reasonable margins for
adverse deviations. As experience unfolds, these provisions for adverse deviations will be included in
future income to the extent they are no longer required to cover adverse experience. Assumptions
used to project benefits, expenses and taxes are based on insurer and industry experience and are
updated annually.
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2.13 Actuarial liabilities (continued)

CALM is based on an explicit projection of cash flows using best estimate assumptions for each
material cash flow item and contingency. Investment returns are based on projected investment
income using the current asset portfolios and projected re-investment strategies. Each assumption is
adjusted by a margin for adverse deviation.

Under CALM, assets of each insurer are selected to back its actuarial liabilities. Changes in the
carrying value of these assets may generate corresponding changes in the carrying amount of the
associated actuarial liabilities. These assets include available for sale securities, whose changes in
carrying value are recorded in other comprehensive income. The fair value reserve for actuarial
liabilities has been established in the statement of equity for the accumulation of the related amounts
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Certain life insurance policies issued by the insurer contain equity linked policy side funds. The
investment returns on these unitised funds accrue directly to the policies with the insurer assuming no
credit risk. Investments held in these side funds are accounted for as financial assets at fair value
through income and unit values of each fund are determined by dividing the value of the assets in the
fund at the date of the financial statements by the number of units in the fund. The resulting liability is
included in actuarial liabilities.

(b) Health insurance contracts

The actuarial liabilities of health insurance policies are estimated in respect of claims that have been
incurred but not yet reported or settled.

2.14 Financial liabilities

During the ordinary course of business, the Group issues investment contracts or otherwise assumes
financial liabilities that expose the Group to financial risk. The recognition and measurement of the
Group’s principal types of financial liabilities are disclosed in note 2.12(b) (vii) and in the following
paragraphs.

(@) Securities sold for re-purchase

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are recognised initially at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost. Securities sold for re-purchase are treated as collateralised
financing transactions. The difference between the sale and re-purchase price is treated as interest
and is accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective yield method.

(b) Deposit liabilities

Deposits are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective yield method.

(c) Loan obligations

Loan obligations are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds, net of transaction
costs incurred. Subsequently, loan obligations are stated at amortised cost and any difference
between net proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the loan obligations using the effective yield method.

Loan obligations undertaken for the purposes of financing operations and capital support are classified
as notes or loans payable and the associated cost is classified as finance costs. Loan obligations
undertaken for the purposes of providing funds for on-lending, leasing or portfolio investments are
classified as deposit and security liabilities and the associated cost is included in interest expense.
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2.14 Financial liabilities (continued)
(d) Fair value

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by
a quoted market value, if one exists. The estimated fair values of financial liabilities are based on
market values of quoted securities as at December 31 where available.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, if it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

2.16 Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income statement for all interest bearing

instruments on an accrual basis using the effective yield method based on the initial transaction price.

Interest includes coupon interest and accrued discount and premium on financial instruments.

2.17 Fees and other revenue

Fees and non-insurance commission income are recognised on an accrual basis when the service
has been provided. Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation
of a transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio
and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service
contracts, usually on a time-apportionate basis. Asset management fees related to investment funds
are recognised rateably over the period in which the service is provided. Performance linked fees or
fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled. Other revenue is
recognised on an accrual basis when the related service has been provided.

2.18 Employee benefits

(@) Pension benefits

Group companies have various pension schemes in place for their employees. Some schemes are
defined benefit plans and others are defined contribution plans.

The liability in respect of defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at
December 31 minus the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial
gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is computed using the projected
unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by the estimated
future cash outflows using appropriate interest rates for the maturity dates and location of the related
liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, changes in actuarial assumptions,
and amendments to pension plans are charged or credited to the income statement over the average
service lives of the related employees. Past service costs are charged to the income statement on a
straight line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. Past service costs are
recognised immediately if the benefits vest immediately.
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2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to the pension schemes on a mandatory
or contractual basis. Once paid, the Group has no further payment obligations. The regular
contributions constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they are due and as such are included
in expenses in the income statement.

(b) Other retirement benefits

Certain Group subsidiaries provide supplementary health, dental and life insurance benefits to
qualifying employees upon retirement. The entitiement to these benefits is usually based on the
employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period.
The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an accounting
methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans.

(c) Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit sharing, based on various
profit and other objectives of the Group as a whole or of individual subsidiaries. An accrual is
recognised where there are contractual obligations or where past practice has created a constructive
obligation.

(d) Equity compensation benefits

The Group has a number of share-based compensation plans in place for administrative, sales and
managerial staff.

(i) Equity-settled share-based transactions with staff

The services received in an equity-settled transaction with staff are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted. The fair value of those equity instruments is measured at grant date.

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

If the equity instruments granted vest immediately and the individual is not required to complete a
further period of service before becoming entitled to those instruments, the services received are
recognised in full on grant date in the income statement for the period, with a corresponding increase
in equity.

Where the equity instruments do not vest until the individual has completed a further period of service,
the services received are expensed in the income statement during the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in the reserve for equity compensation benefits or in minority interest.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of instruments that are
expected to vest. At each reporting financial statement date, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of instruments that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions and
adjusts the expense accordingly.

Amounts held in the reserve for equity compensation benefits are transferred to share capital or
minority interest either on the distribution of share grants or on the exercise of share options.

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to employees of Group subsidiaries is treated as a
capital contribution in the financial statements of the subsidiary. The full expense relating to the grant

is recorded in the subsidiary’s income statement.

(ii) Cash-settled share-based transactions with staff

The services received in a cash-settled transaction with staff and the liability to pay for those services,
are recognised at fair value as the individual renders services. Until the liability is settled, the fair value
of the liability is re-measured at the date of the financial statements and at the date of settlement, with
any changes in fair value recognised in income during that period.
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2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(iii) Measurement of the fair value of equity instruments granted

The equity instruments granted consist either of grants of, or options to purchase, common shares of
listed entities within the Group. For common shares granted, the listed price prevailing on the grant
date determines the fair value. For options granted, the fair value is determined by reference to the
Black-Scholes valuation model, which incorporates factors and assumptions that knowledgeable,
willing market participants would consider in setting the price of the equity instruments.

(e) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the
normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to
either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without the
possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after the date of the financial
statements are discounted to present value.

2.19 Taxes

(@) Premium taxes

Insurers are subject to tax on premium revenues generated in certain jurisdictions. The principal rates
of premium tax are summarised in the following table.

219 Taxes (continued)

Life insurance and Health Property and
Premium tax rates non-registered . casualty
o insurance .
annuities insurance
Barbados 3% - 6% 4% 4.0% - 4.75%
Jamaica 3% Nil Nil
Trinidad and Tobago Nil Nil 6%
United States of America 0.75% - 3.5% Nil Nil

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to taxes on income in the jurisdictions in which business operations are
conducted. Rates of taxation in the principal jurisdictions for income year 2011 are as follows:

Life insurance and
. Registered Other lines of
Income tax rates non-registered . .
. annuities business
annuities
5% of 25% of
Barbados ol gross Nil 70
investment income net income
. 15% of : 15% - 33.33%
Jamaica . i Nil .
investment income of netincome
15% of 25%
Trinidad and Tobago , %o Nil o
investment income of netincome
26.5% 26.5%
United Kingdom , ° n/a i ’
of net income of netincome
359 359 359
United States of America i & i & ) &
of net income of net income of netincome

91



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

219 Taxes (continued)

(i) Current income taxes

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rates in effect
for the year. Adjustments to tax payable from prior years are also included in current tax.

(i) Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income taxes are computed at tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability seftled. Deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the asset may be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to do so.

Deferred tax, related to fair value re-measurement of available for sale investments and cash flow
hedges which are recorded in other comprehensive income, is recorded in other comprehensive
income and is subsequently recognised in income together with the deferred gain or loss.

2.20 Common and preference shares
(@) Common shares

In exchange for consideration received, the Company has issued common shares that are classified
as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares are recorded in share
capital as a deduction from the share issue proceeds.

Where a Group entity purchases the Company’s common shares, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable cost, is deducted from share capital and is recorded as treasury shares.
Where such shares are subsequently sold to a third party, the deduction from share capital is
reversed, and any difference with net consideration received is recorded in retained earnings.

2.20 Common and preference shares (continued)

(b) Preference shares

On July 18, 2011, the Company issued convertible redeemable preference shares that are accounted
for as a compound financial instrument. The shares are contractually redeemable on July 18, 2016 if
the shareholder has not opted to convert the shares prior to this date. Dividends may be declared
semi-annually by the Company’s directors.

The redemption value is recognised as a contractual liability, and is measured initially at its discounted
fair value. The discount rate reflects (i) the rate of interest applicable to a similar liability with a
contractual dividend rate, and (ii) the interest premium required by the shareholder for an instrument
with a non-contractual dividend. The liability component is disclosed in note 16.

The preference shareholders’ rights to receive dividends is recognised within shareholders’ equity,
and is measured initially as the residual fair value of the preference shares in their totality after
deducting the liability for the redemptive value. The equity component is initially recorded as a
preference share reserve in note 22.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of the preference shares are allocated between the
liability for the redemption value and the equity reserve in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

After initial recognition, the liability component is accreted to its ultimate redemption value using the
effective interest yield method, with the accretion being recorded as a finance cost in the statement of
income. After initial recognition, the preference share reserve is transferred to retained earnings pro-
rata to the dividends declared over the period to redemption.

On the initial recognition of the preference shares, the conversion feature of the instrument was
deemed to have no value. Subsequently, when a number of preference shares are converted to
common shares, the associated liability for redemption will be extinguished and consequently will be
transferred to the share capital account for common shares. Additionally at conversion, the proportion
of the preference share reserve attributable to the converted number of preference shares will also be
transferred to the share capital account for common shares. In summary, the total transfer to the
share capital account for common shares will approximate the original consideration for the converted
number of preference shares less attributable issue costs.
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2.20 Common and preference shares (continued)
(c) Dividends

On the declaration by the Company’s directors of common or preference share dividends payable, the
total value of the dividend is recorded as an appropriation of retained earnings.

2.21 Participating accounts

(a) “Closed” participating account

For participating policies of Sagicor Life Inc in force at de-mutualisation, Sagicor Life Inc established a
closed participating account in order to protect the guaranteed benefits and future policy dividends,
bonuses and other non-guaranteed benefits of the afore-mentioned policies. The rules of this account
require that premiums, benefits, actuarial reserve movements, investment returns, expenses and taxes,
attributable to the said policies, are recorded in a closed participating fund. Policy dividends and
bonuses of the said policies are paid from the participating fund on a basis substantially the same as
prior to de-mutualisation.

Distributable profits of the closed participating account are distributed to the participating policies in
the form of declared bonuses and dividends. Undistributed profits remain in the participating account
for the benefit of participating policyholders.

The participating account also includes an ancillary fund comprising the required provisions for
adverse deviations as determined in the computation of actuarial liabilities of the said policies.
Changes in the ancillary fund are not recorded in the participating account, but are borne by the
general operations of Sagicor Life Inc.

(b) “Open” participating account

Sagicor Life Inc also established an open participating account for participating policies it issues after
de-mutualisation. The rules of this account require that premiums, benefits, actuarial reserve
movements, investment returns, expenses and taxes, attributable to the said policies are recorded in
an open participating account.

2.21 Participating accounts (continued)

The open participating account was established at de-mutualisation. On February 1, 2005, Sagicor
Life Inc amalgamated with Life of Barbados Limited, and participating policies of the latter were
transferred to the open participating account. Accordingly, the liabilities of these participating policies
and matching assets were transferred to the open participating account. The liabilities transferred
included an ancillary fund comprising the provisions for adverse deviations on the transferred policies.
Changes in the ancillary fund are not recorded in the participating account, but are borne by the
general operations of Sagicor Life Inc.

Additional assets to support the profit distribution to shareholders (see below) were also transferred to
the account.

Distributable profits of the open participating account are shared between participating policies and
shareholders in a ratio of 90:10. Profits are distributed to the participating policies in the form of
declared bonuses and dividends. Profits which are distributed to shareholders are included in the
allocation of Group net income to shareholders. Undistributed profits / (losses) remain in the
participating account in equity.

(c) Financial statement presentation

The assets and liabilities of the participating accounts are included but not presented separately in the
financial statements. The revenues, benefits and expenses of the participating accounts are also
included but not presented separately in the financial statements. However, the overall surplus of
assets held in the participating funds over the associated liabilities is presented in equity as the
participating accounts. The overall net income and other comprehensive income that are attributable
to the participating funds are disclosed as allocations.

The initial allocation of additional assets to the participating funds is recognised in equity as a transfer
from retained earnings to the participating accounts. Returns of additional assets from the
participating funds are accounted for similarly.
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2.22 Statutory reserves

Statutory reserves are established when regulatory accounting requirements result in lower
distributable profits or when an appropriation of retained earnings is required or permitted by law to
protect policyholders, insureds or depositors.

2.23 Presentation of current and non-current assets and liabilities

In note 41.2, the maturity profiles of financial and insurance assets and liabilities are identified. For
other assets and liabilities, balances presented in notes 5 to 8, 10 to 12, 14, 18, 19, 31 and 33 are
non-current unless otherwise stated in those notes.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The development of estimates and the exercise of judgment in applying accounting policies may have
a material impact on the Group’s reported assets, liabilities, income and other comprehensive income.
The items which may have the most effect on the Group’s financial statements are set out below.

3.1 Impairment of financial assets

An available for sale debt security, a loan or a receivable is considered impaired when management
determines that it is probable that all amounts due according to the original contract terms will not be
collected. This determination is made after considering the payment history of the borrower, the
discounted value of collateral and guarantees, and the financial condition and financial viability of the
borrower.

The determination of impairment may either be considered by individual asset or by a grouping of
assets with similar relevant characteristics.

3.2 Recognition and measurement of intangible assets

The recognition and measurement of intangible assets, other than goodwill, in a business combination
involve the utilisation of valuation techniques which may be very sensitive to the underlying
assumptions utilised. These intangibles may be marketing related, customer related, contract based
or technology based.

For significant amounts of intangibles arising from a business combination, the Group utilises
independent professional advisors to assist management in determining the recognition and
measurement of these assets.
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3.3 Impairment of intangible assets

(@)  Goodwill

The assessment of goodwill impairment involves the determination of the fair value of the cash
generating business units to which the goodwill has been allocated. Determination of fair value
involves the estimation of future cash flows or of income after tax of these business units and the

expected returns to providers of capital to the business units and / or to the Group as a whole.

The Group updates its business unit financial projections annually and applies discounted cash flow or
earnings multiple models to these projections to determine if there is any impairment of goodwill.

(b) Other intangible assets

The assessment of impairment of other intangible assets involves the determination of the intangible’s
fair value or value in use. In the absence of an active market for an intangible, its fair value may need
to be estimated. In determining an intangible’s value in use, estimates are required of future cash
flows generated as a result of holding the asset.

3.4 Valuation of actuarial liabilities

(@) Canadian asset liability method (CALM)

The objective of the valuation of policy liabilities is to determine the amount of the insurer's assets
that, in the opinion of the Appointed Actuary (AA) and taking into account the other pertinent items in
the financial statements, will be sufficient without being excessive to provide for the policy liabilities
over their respective terms. The amounts set aside for future benefits are dependent on the timing of
future asset and liability cash flows.

The actuarial liabilities are determined by the amount of assets required to ensure that sufficient
monies are available to mature the policy liabilities as they become due, even under adverse
economic circumstances.

3.4 Valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

The AA identifies the current economic scenario and the existing investment portfolio as at the date of
the actuarial valuation. The investments required to support the policy liabilities are then determined
under a variety of future interest rate environments using scenario testing. The total policy liability is
determined as the amount of assets required to ensure that sufficient monies are available to meet the
liabilities as they become due under the “worst case” economic scenario, that is, the scenario that
produces the highest investment requirement.

The CALM methodology produces the total reserve requirement for each CALM fund. In general, the
CALM methodology is used to determine the net overall actuarial liabilities required by the insurer.
Policy premium method (PPM) equivalents are used to determine the amount of reinsurance balances
in the reserve, the distribution of the total reserve by country (for statutory reporting), and the
distribution of the reserve by policy. PPM equivalents and other approximations to CALM have also
been used in calculating certain components in the actuarial liabilities.

(b) Best estimate reserve assumptions & provisions for adverse deviations

Actuarial liabilities include two major components: a best estimate reserve and a provision for adverse
deviations. The latter provision is established in recognition of the uncertainty in computing best
estimate reserves, to allow for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater comfort that
reserves are adequate to pay future benefits.

For the respective reserve assumptions for mortality and morbidity, lapse, future investment yields,
operating expenses and taxes, best estimate reserve assumptions are determined where appropriate.
The assumption for operating expenses and taxes is in some instances split by participating, non-
participating and universal life / unit linked business.

Provisions for adverse deviations are established in accordance with the risk profiles of the business,
and are, as far as is practicable, standardised across geographical areas. Provisions are determined
within a specific range established by the Canadian Standards of Practice.
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3.4 Valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

The principal assumptions and margins used in the determination of actuarial liabilities are
summarised in note 13.3. However, the liability resulting from the application of these assumptions
can never be definitive as to the ultimate timing or the amount of benefits payable and is therefore
subject to future re-assessment.

3.5 Estimation of property and casualty claim liabilities

The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims incurred under property and casualty
insurance contracts is subject to several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in
determining the amount that the insurer will ultimately pay for such claims. Reserving for claims
payable, involves the use of statistical techniques of estimation. These techniques generally involve
projecting from past experience, the development of claims over time to form a view of the likely
ultimate claims to be experienced, having regard to variations in business written and the underlying
terms and conditions.

Claim liabilities are based on estimates due to the fact that the ultimate disposition of claims incurred
prior to the date of the financial statements, whether reported or not, is subject to the outcome of
events that may not yet have occurred. Significant delays are experienced in the notification and
settlement of certain types of claims, particularly in respect of casualty contracts. Events which may
affect the ultimate outcome of claims include inter alia, jury decisions, court interpretations, legislative
changes and changes in the medical condition of claimants.

Any estimate of future losses is subject to the inherent uncertainties in predicting the course of future
events. The two most critical assumptions made to determine claim liabilities are that the past is a
reasonable predictor of the likely level of claims development and that the statistical estimation
models used are fair reflections of the likely level of ultimate claims to be incurred. Consequently, the
amounts recorded in respect of unpaid losses may change significantly in the short term.

The Group utilises a variety of standard actuarial reserving methods, including chain ladder and
Bornhuetter-Ferguson methodology, to estimate claim liabilities. The Group also engages
independent actuaries either to assist in making or to confirm the claim liabilities recognised in the
statement of financial position. The ultimate liability arising from claims incurred under property and
casualty insurance contracts may be mitigated by recovery arising from reinsurance contracts held.

4, SEGMENTS

The management structure of Sagicor consists of the parent company Board of Directors, the Group
Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), subsidiary company Boards of Directors and subsidiary company
CEOs. For the parent company and principal subsidiaries, there are executive management
committees made up of senior management who advise the respective CEOs. The principal
subsidiaries have a full management governance structure, a consequence of their being regulated
insurance and financial services entities and of the range and diversity of their products and services.

The Group CEO serves as Board Chairman or as a Board Member of the principal subsidiaries and is
the Group’s Chief Operating decision maker. Through subsidiary company reporting, the Group CEO
obtains details of company performance and of resource allocation needs. Summarisation of planning
and results and prioritisation of resource allocation is done at the parent company level where
strategic decisions are taken.

In accordance with the relevant financial reporting standard, the Group has determined that there are
four principal subsidiary Groups which represent the reportable operating segments of Sagicor. These
segments and other Group companies are set out in the following sections.

96



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

4. SEGMENTS (continued) 4. SEGMENTS (continued)

(@) Sagicor Life Inc

Sagicor Life Inc Country of Effective
These comprise Group subsidiaries conducting life, health and annuity insurance business, and pension Segment Associated Principal Activities | ountry (:. Shareholders’
administration services in the Caribbean region, excluding Jamaica and Cayman Islands. During the Companies ncorporation Interest
year, the Trinidad and Tobago operations, comprising the Sagicor Life Inc Trinidad branch, Nationwide o Property ownership and - .
Insurance Company Limited and the investment in RGM Limited, were established as a separate RGM Limited " Trinidad & Tobago 33%
operating segment. However, as these operations remain similar in all aspects with the remaining FamGUard " nvestment holdi
operations of the Sagicor Life Inc operating segment, the Group has decided that these two segments .anlw uarg Lorporation MVESTMETROEING Bahamas 20%
: : : - Limited company
will be presented on an aggregated basis. The companies comprising these aggregated segments are
i i Family Guardian
set out in the following two tables. Y Life and health insurance
Insurance Company » Bahamas 20%
. and annuities
A Limited
Sagicor Life | c f Effective
agicor Lite Inc ) Principal Activities LT °' Shareholders’ Family Guardian General : General insurance Bahamas 20%
Segment Companies Incorporation Interest Insurance Agency Limited - brokerage ’
i i BahamaHealth Insurance
Life and health insurance, . IrsurERee biehers ane .
Sagicor Life Inc annuities and pension Barbados 100% Brokers and Benefit benefit consultants Bahamas 20%
administration services Consultants Limited
S O Life and health insurance, Primo Holding Limited Property investment Barbados 38%
_ annuities and pension Barbados 100%
Insurance Company Limited L i
administration services
Life and health insurance,
Sagicor Life Aruba NV annuities and pension Aruba 100%
administration services
Capital Life |
At = nsurance' : Life insurance The Bahamas 100%
Company Bahamas Limited
Sagicor Panama, SA Life and health insurance Panaméa 100%
Nationwide Insurance
_ Life insurance Trinidad & Tobago 100%
Company Limited
() Re-domiciled in Barbados on December 30, 2011; formerly incorporated in The Bahamas.
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4. SEGMENTS (continued) 4. SEGMENTS (continued)

(b)  Sagicor Life Jamaica Sagicor Life Jamaica S Effective
Segment Companies Principal Activities | ryt. Shareholders’
This segment comprises Group subsidiaries conducting life, health, annuity, property and casualty (continued) ncorporation Interest
insurance business, and pension administration services and financial services in Jamaica and Sagicor Property Services . )
Cayman Islands. The companies comprising this segment are as follows. Limited Property management Jamaica 59%
Effective LOJ Holdings Limited Insurance holding company Jamaica 100%
Sagicor Life Jamaica L. L Country of
. Principal Activities . Shareholders’
Segment Companies Incorporation
Interest
Sagicor Life Jamaica Life and health insurance and Jamaica 59%
Limited annuities ’ (c) Sagicor Life USA
Sagicor Life of the . The Cayman .
Cayman Islands Limited Life insurance Islands 59% This segment comprises Sagicor’s life insurance operations in the USA and comprises the following.
Sagicor Pooled
. - Pension fund management Jamaica 59% Effective
Investment Funds Limited Sagi f
agicor USA L. L Country o
i ; T . Principal Activities . Shareholders’
Employee Benefits Pension administration : Segment Companies Incorporation
. . i Jamaica 59% Interest
Administrator Limited services
Sagicor Re Insurance Property and casualty The Cayman 59% Sagicor Life Insurance  Life ir.1§urance and USA - Texas 100%
Limited insurance Islands Company annuities
Sagicor Insurance :
Broiers Limited Insurance brokerage Jamaica 59% Laurel Life Insurance s ruETEE U =T 100%
Company
Sagicor International : . .
Insurance holdin:
Administrators Limited Insurance brokerage Jamaica L Sagicor USA Inc — g USA - Delaware 100%
Sagicor Insurance Captive insurance The Cayman 59%
Managers Limited management services Islands ’
Pan Caribbean Financial
i . Investment banking Jamaica 51%
Services Limited
PanCaribbeanBank
. Commercial banking Jamaica 51%
Limited
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4. SEGMENTS (continued)

(d) Sagicor Europe

This segment comprises the Sagicor at Lloyd’s insurance operations in the UK and comprises the

4. SEGMENTS (continued)

(e) Head office function and other operating companies

These comprise the following:

following.
Effective
: . _r L Country of
. Effective Other Group Companies : Principal Activities . Shareholders’
Sagicor Europe L. L Country of Incorporation
. Principal Activities . Shareholders’ Interest
Segment Companies Incorporation Inforest
Sagicor Financial
i i g i Group parent company Barbados 100%
: o Managing agent of Lloyd's of UK - England Corporation
Sagicor at Lloyd’s Limited , i 100%
London insurance syndicates & Wales Sagicor General Property and casualty Barbados 539
Sagicor Corporate Capital Property and casualty UK- England 100% () Insurance Inc insurance °
Limited @) insurance & Wales ’ Loan and lease financing, and
; ; Sagicor Finance Inc o ' St. Lucia 70%
Sagicor Cayman Reinsurance : Property and casualty The Cayman 100% () deposit taking
Company Limited reinsurance Islands ’ Sagicor Asset
Sagic9r F)orporate Capital Life insurance UK- England 100% l\/'lar.1agement (T&T) Investment management Trinidad & Tobago 100%
Two Limited ©) & Wales Limited
Sagicor Syndicate Servi Property and It UK- England Sagicor Asset
.ag'|cor yndicate Services . roperty and casualty nglan 100% () agicor Asse Investment management Barbados 100%
Limited insurance agency & Wales Management Inc
Property and casualt UK- England Farming and real estate
Sagicor Underwriting Limited ; Pery y 4 100% (") Barbados Farms Limited g Barbados 7%
insurance agency & Wales development
Sagicor Syndicate Holdings UK- England Sagicor Funds
i g y 9 Service company q 100% (") g Mutual fund holding company Barbados 100%
Limited & Wales Incorporated
Sagicor Claims Property and casualt USA - Loan and lease financing, and
g : perty i y o 100% () Globe Finance Inc o 9 Barbados 51%
Management Inc insurance claims management California deposit taking
The Cayman The Mutual Financial Financial services holdin
Sagicor Europe Limited Insurance holding company ) 100% (") ) 4 Barbados 73%
Islands Services Inc company
(1 i ing i is 869 The Cayman
ST Vi MRS B (S mee S04 Sagicor Finance Limited Group financing vehicle y 100%
( Lloyd's of London corporate underwriting member participating in Syndicate 1206 Istands

(@) Lloyd's of London corporate underwriting member participating in Syndicate 44
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41 Statement of income by segment
o Sagicor Life Inc Sag‘ijcac:;al.i:‘: Sagicor Europe Sagicor USA H:: thf:]:i Adjustments Total

Net premium revenue 232,938 252,353 406,096 102,059 17,200 (6,319) 1,004,327
Interest income 67,302 132,054 7,881 41,182 9,643 258,062
Other investment income 6,595 22,685 (1,360) (2,494) 1,404 75 26,905
Fees and other revenues 12,053 24,211 (552) 1,876 22,401 1,333 61,322
Inter-segment revenues 8,907 1,284 23,517 (33,708)

327,795 432,587 412,065 142,623 74,165 (38,619) 1,350,616
Net policy benefits 152,903 133,518 286,378 58,646 9,166 640,611
Net change in actuarial liabilities 23,526 58,920 479 34,089 117,014
Interest expense 14,827 47,004 5,638 3,526 70,995
Administrative expenses 55,719 68,201 43,195 22,860 31,431 2,275 223,681
Commissions and premium taxes 36,928 37,760 122,646 10,947 8,045 276 216,602
Finance costs 896 134 (164) 16,211 17,077
Depreciation and amortisation 7,093 5,406 1,613 1,329 3,866 19,307
Inter-segment expenses 1,857 971 194 546 9,892 (13,460)

292,853 352,676 454,639 134,055 65,762 5,302 1,305,287
Segment income / (loss) before taxes 34,942 79,911 (42,574) 8,568 8,403 (43,921) 45,329
Income taxes (3,888) (13,009) 8,546 (2,999) (1,542) (594) (13,486)
Segment income before undernoted items 31,054 66,902 (34,028) 5,569 6,861 (44,515) 31,843
Foreign exchange unwinding () 671 - (671) -
Group finance costs () (23,177) 23,177 -
Net income / (loss) for the year 31,054 66,902 (33,357) 5,569 (16,316) (22,009) 31,843
Net income attributable to shareholders 32,932 38,005 (33,357) 5,569 (19,603) (22,573) 973
TCI ® attributable to shareholders 28,855 37,125 (31,255) 10,036 (17,787) (23,289) 3,685
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4.1 Statement of income by segment (continued)

Sagicor Life Head office

T Sagicor Life Inc Jamaica Sagicor Europe Sagicor USA and other Adjustments Total
Net premium revenue 215,510 212,609 345,275 120,044 14,708 (7,196) 900,950
Interest income 66,412 128,935 3,219 36,273 10,054 - 244,893
Other investment income 13,855 28,517 (320) 4,521 1,949 (135) 48,387
Fees and other revenues 10,986 19,055 6,884 1,900 18,146 4,896 61,867
Loss on disposal of interest in subsidiary - - - - (498) 498 -
Inter-segment revenues 4,348 762 - - 14,117 (19,227)

311,111 389,878 355,058 162,738 58,476 (21,164) 1,256,097
Net policy benefits 137,342 121,106 235,705 44,269 7,703 - 546,125
Net change in actuarial liabilities 33,747 39,793 221 71,823 - - 145,584
Interest expense 14,153 52,562 - 5,927 5,355 - 77,997
Administrative expenses 50,878 67,860 38,561 22,006 32,366 (79) 212,092
Commissions and premium taxes 34,571 34,975 95,216 11,776 7,074 (896) 182,716
Finance costs - 1,577 221 - 100 14,471 16,369
Depreciation and amortisation 5,931 5,309 1,531 1,566 3,932 - 18,269
Inter-segment expenses 335 1,627 97 535 6,867 (9,461)

276,957 324,809 371,552 157,902 63,897 4,035 1,199,152
Segment income / (loss) before taxes 34,154 65,069 (16,494) 4,836 (5,421) (25,199) 56,945
Income taxes (5,183) (8,789) 2,545 (1,692) (1,885) (306) (15,310)
Segment income before undernoted items 28,971 56,280 (13,949) 3,144 (7,306) (25,505) 41,635
Foreign exchange unwinding () - - 825 - - (825)
Group finance costs ) (18,835) 18,835
Net income / (loss) for the year 28,971 56,280 (13,124) 3,144 (26,141) (7,495) 41,635
Net income attributable to shareholders 30,236 31,960 (13,124) 3,144 (28,161) (7,495) 16,560
TCI @ attributable to shareholders 29,977 53,992 (15,052) 7,435 (29,039) (9,105) 38,208
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4.1 Statement of income by segment (continued)

() Foreign exchange unwinding represents the impact to segment income of translating unearned
premium and deferred policy acquisition costs at historic rates of exchange instead of at current rates
of exchange. This basis of foreign exchange translation within the segment is reported for
management purposes. The Group’s accounting policy is explained in note 2.3(c) and the difference in
measurement basis is further discussed in note 41.4 (a). The unwinding comprises the items in the
following table which have also been added back in the adjustments column.

2011 2010
Net premium revenue 680 (2,942)
Commissions (276) 896
Exchange gains / losses 462 3477
Income tax (195) (306)
Foreign exchange unwinding 671 825

@ Group finance costs represent costs of borrowings and facilities initiated at Group level. These
include finance costs relating to the Sagicor 2016 senior notes, the Company’s preference shares, a
bank loan (repaid in 2011), letter of credit facilities and reinsurance financing relating to Sagicor at
Lloyd's. Where material, these costs have been removed from the individual segment which benefits
from these borrowings and facilities.

@) TCI denotes total comprehensive income.

4.2 Sagicor Europe - lines of insurance no longer written

In 2011, Sagicor Europe made the decision to exit direct motor and treaty (reinsurance assumed) lines
of insurance. The treaty lines comprise international property, motor and liability risks. The adverse
claims experience of these lines of insurance generated net underwriting losses in 2011 as illustrated
in the following table.  Note that the presentation of individual line items in this table may differ from
the presentation on Note 4.1 because the effects of foreign exchange unwinding have not been dis-
aggregated.

4.2 Sagicor Europe - lines of insurance no longer written (continued)

Lines no longer written On-going To.taI
Direct lines Sagicor
motor Treaty Europe
Premium revenue:
Gross revenue 94,355 39,192 340,924 474,471
Reinsurance ceded (9,161) (17,444) (41,090) (67,695)
85,194 21,748 299,834 406,776
Claims and expenses:
Gross claims 94,792 116,723 156,672 368,187
Ceded to reinsurers (18,547) (55,136) (7,647) (81,330)
76,245 61,587 149,025 286,857
Commissions and brokerage 20,476 5,377 97,069 122,922
Administrative expenses 4,643 5,202 34,963 44,808
101,364 72,166 281,057 454,587
Net underwriting (loss) / income (16,170) (50,418) 18,777 (47,811)
Net investment income 6,521
Other items (418)
Taxation 8,351
Net Loss (33,357)

For 2012, the lines of insurance no longer written are in runoff and will record activity at considerably
reduced levels. In addition, some of the administrative overhead previously borne by those lines will
be absorbed by the on-going lines.
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4.3 Variations in segment income

Variations in segment income may arise from non-recurring or other significant factors. The most
common factors contributing to variations in segment income are as follows.

(i) Investment gains

Fair value investment gains are recognised on:
- the revaluation of investment property;
- the revaluation of debt and equity securities classified as at fair value through income;
- the disposal of debt and equity securities classified as available for sale or loans and
receivables.

Therefore, significant gains and losses may be triggered by changes in market prices and / or by
decisions to dispose of investments.

(i) Allowances for impairment of financial investments

Significant impairment losses may be triggered by changes in market prices and economic conditions.

(iii) - Foreign exchange gains and losses

Movements in foreign exchange rates may generate significant exchange gains or losses when the
foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are re-translated at the date of the
financial statements.

(iv) Property and casualty catastrophe claims

Property and casualty insurers are exposed to multiple claims which may arise from a catastrophic
event. As these events do not occur frequently, the incidence of such events may have a significant
adverse effect on the policy benefits incurred in any period.

4.3 Variations in segment income (continued)

(v) Movements in actuarial liabilities arising from changes in assumptions

The change in actuarial liabilities for the year includes the effects arising from changes in
assumptions. The principal assumptions in computing the actuarial liabilities on life and annuity
contracts relate to mortality and morbidity, lapse, investment yields, asset default and operating
expenses and taxes. Because the process of changes in assumptions is applied to all affected
insurance contracts, changes in assumptions may have a significant effect in the period in which they
are recorded.
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4.3 Variations in segment income (continued)

The table below summarises by segment the individual line items in the statement of income impacted by the foregoing factors

Variations in income by segment

Sagicor Life  Sagicor Life Sagicor Head office

Inc Jamaica Europe Sagicor USA and other Adjustments Total
2011
Investment gains / (losses) 4,689 30,614 (1,361) (2,160) 2,113 33,895
Allowances for impairment of financial investments 4,714 10,033 - 188 558 15,493
Foreign exchange gains / (losses) 152 930 (2,309) - (1,681) 846 (2,062)
Property and casualty catastrophe claims, net of reinsurance recoveries @) - - 72,134 72,134
(Increase) / decrease in actuarial liabilities arising from changes in assumptions (12,508) (4,304) - 5,373 - (11,439)
2010
Investment gains / (losses) 7,512 27,229 (320) 5,843 1,908 - 42,172
Allowances for impairment of financial investments 139 1,561 - 1,248 238 - 3,186
Foreign exchange gains / (losses) 251 (5,809) 7,142 - (2,301) 1,837 1,120
Property and casualty catastrophe claims, net of reinsurance recoveries - - 33,908 - - 33,908
(Increase) / decrease in actuarial liabilities arising from changes in assumptions (3,337) (7,515) 557 3,157 - (7,138)

() The Sagicor Europe segment incurred net claims of $24,787 arising from the March 11, 2011 earthquake and tsunami in Tohoku, Japan. This amount represents the insurer's best estimate of the ultimate

claims net of recoveries as of the date of the financial statements and includes the cost of reinstatement of reinsurance coverage.
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4.4 Other comprehensive income

Variations in other comprehensive income may arise also from non-recurring or other significant factors. The most common are as follows.

(i) Unrealised investment gains

Fair value investment gains are recognised on the revaluation of debt and equity securities classified as available for sale. Therefore, significant gains and losses may be triggered by changes in market prices.

(ii) Changes in actuarial liabilities

Changes in unrealised investment gains identified in (i) above may also generate significant changes in actuarial liabilities as a result of the use of asset liability matching in the liability estimation process.

(iii) Foreign exchange gains and losses

Movements in foreign exchange rates may generate significant exchange gains or losses on the re-translation of the financial statements of foreign currency reporting units.

The table below summarises by segment the individual line items in the other comprehensive income impacted by the foregoing factors.

2011
Unrealised investment gains / (losses)
Changes in actuarial liabilities

Retranslation of foreign currency operations

2010
Unrealised investment gains / (losses)
Changes in actuarial liabilities

Retranslation of foreign currency operations

Variations in other comprehensive income by segment

Head office

Sagicor Life Inc  Sagicor Life Jamaica Sagicor Europe Sagicor USA and other Adjustments Total
(197) 663 470 16,119 231 - 17,286

1,691 - - (13,150) - - (11,459)

(422) (2,258) 1,632 - (38) (717) (1,803)
8,042 28,363 (268) 11,536 (131) - 47,542

(2,282) - - (8,294) - - (10,576)
(369) 9,672 (1,660) - (20) (1,616) 6,007
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45 Statement of financial position by segment

A summary statement of financial position by segment is set out below. Eliminations on consolidation comprise adjustments to arrive at the Group financial position

Sagicor Life Inc Sagicor L.ife Sagicor Europe Sagicor USA Head office Adjustments Total
Jamaica and other

2011
Financial investments 1,079,329 1,633,074 288,202 921,943 169,618 - 4,092,166
Other external assets 301,164 209,136 416,528 179,688 165,391 - 1,271,907
Inter-segment assets 107,196 21,457 - 386 126,760 (255,799)
Total assets 1,487,689 1,863,667 704,730 1,102,017 461,769 (255,799) 5,364,073
Policy liabilities 1,058,866 550,552 608,388 708,520 54,390 - 2,980,716
Other external liabilities 68,938 952,602 30,014 194,808 339,462 - 1,585,824
Inter-segment liabilities 17,912 9,636 92,001 27,549 108,701 (255,799) -
Total liabilities 1,145,716 1,512,790 730,403 930,877 502,553 (255,799) 4,566,540
Net assets 341,973 350,877 (25,673) 171,140 (40,784) - 797,533
2010
Financial investments 1,010,885 1,444,391 235,360 796,043 150,153 - 3,636,832
Other external assets 294,329 199,239 374,208 207,372 155,850 - 1,230,998
Inter-segment assets 111,546 24,315 - 339 126,657 (262,857)
Total assets 1,416,760 1,667,945 609,568 1,003,754 432,660 (262,857) 4,867,830
Policy liabilities 1,024,722 494,767 490,882 654,675 48,638 - 2,713,684
Other external liabilities 66,764 858,490 26,456 182,459 281,136 - 1,415,305
Inter-segment liabilities 8,766 5,127 72,939 23,613 152,412 (262,857) -
Total liabilities 1,100,252 1,358,384 590,277 860,747 482,186 (262,857) 4,128,989
Net assets 316,508 309,561 19,291 143,007 (49,526) - 738,841
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4.6 Additions to non-current assets by segment

Segment operations include certain non-current assets comprising investment property, property,
plant and equipment, investment in associated companies and intangible assets. Additions to these
categories for the year are as follows:

Sagicor
Sagicor gLi o Sagicor Sagicor Head office Total
Life Inc . Europe USA and other
Jamaica
2011 10,996 4,068 3,154 1,788 5,511 25,517
2010 7,103 16,131 1,444 1,125 3,802 29,605

4.7 Products and services

Total external revenues relating to the Group’s products and services are summarised in the following
table.

2011 2010
Life, health and annuity insurance contracts issued to individuals 546,204 535,724
Life, health and annuity insurance and pension administration 259,589 221187
contracts issued to groups
Property and casualty insurance 435,161 377,925
Banking, investment management and other financial services 99,251 98,040
Farming and unallocated revenues 10,411 23,221

1,350,616 1,256,097

4.8 Geographical areas

The Group operates in certain geographical areas which are determined by the location of the
subsidiary or branch initiating the business.

Group operations in geographical areas include certain non-current assets comprising investment
property, property, plant and equipment, investment in associated companies and intangible assets.

Total external revenues and non-current assets (as defined in the foregoing paragraph) by
geographical area are summarised in the following table.

External Revenue Non-current assets

2011 2010 2011 2010

Barbados 140,829 128,727 180,325 178,869
Jamaica 410,413 357,786 90,861 91,863
Trinidad & Tobago 120,370 112,283 62,933 60,562
Other Caribbean 129,310 141,686 42,318 39,926
United Kingdom (") 407,054 352,874 33,801 32,726
USA 142,640 162,741 3,434 2,938
1,350,616 1,256,097 413,672 406,884

() Revenues include significant amounts derived from locations outside of the United Kingdom in
North America, Europe, Asia, Australasia and elsewhere.
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5. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 6. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Investment property is carried at fair value as determined by independent valuers using internationally The movements in the investment in associated companies during the year and the aggregate
recognised valuation techniques. Direct sales comparisons, when such data is available, and income balances and results of associated companies are summarised in the following table.
capitalisation methods, when appropriate, are included in the assessment of fair values. For some
tracts of land which are currently un-developed or which are leased to third parties, the fair value may 2011 2010

flect th ial f | ithi | iod of time.
reflect the potential for development within a reasonable period of time e T

The movement in investment property for the year is as follows: Investment, beginning of year 32,929 32,674
Dividends received (1,655) (1,357)
2011 2010 Share of:
Income before taxes 2,997 2,478
Balance, beginning of year 119,169 116,845
Amortisation of intangible assets identified on acquisition (177) (557)
Additions at cost 4,344 11,233
Income taxes (176) (216)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment - (1,087)
Other comprehensive income / (loss) (121) (28)
Disposals and divestitures (251) (7,341)
Effects of exchange rate changes (114) (65)
Change in fair values (796) (1,399)
Investment, end of year 33,683 32,929
Effects of exchange rate changes (281) 918
Balance, end of year 122,185 119,169 Aggregate balances and results of associates:
Total assets 370,164 360,028
Investment property includes $16,206 (2010 - $16,527) which represents the Group’s proportionate o
interest in joint ventures summarised in the following table. Total liabilities 241,89 234,502
Total revenue 132,562 122,296
Country Description of property Percentage ownership Net income for the year 10,314 8,786
Freehold lands 50%
Barbados
Freehold office buildings 10% - 50%
Trinidad & Tobago Freehold office building 60%

Pension Funds managed by the Group own the remaining 50% interests of freehold lands in
Barbados, and a 33% interest in a freehold office building in Barbados.
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Net book value, beginning of year
Additions at cost

Transfers from investment property
Transfers to intangible assets (note 8)
Other transfers

Disposals and divestitures

(Depreciation) / appreciation in fair
values

Depreciation charge
Effects of exchange rate changes

Net book value, end of year

Represented by:
Cost or valuation

Accumulated depreciation

Owner occupied property is carried at fair value as determined by independent valuers using
internationally recognised valuation techniques. Direct sales comparisons, when such data is
available, and income capitalisation methods, when appropriate, are included in the assessment of

fair values.

2011 2010

Owner-occupied properties Office Operating Owner-occupied properties  Office Operating
PR e e R I e S

buildings vehicles equipment buildings vehicles equipment
35,694 62,459 24,339 8,915 131,407 35,694 60,443 22,694 10,052 128,383
664 10,202 4,081 14,947 529 10,394 2,383 13,306
1,087 - 1,087

- (1,189) - (1,189) -

- 237 (237) - 169 (169) - -
(21) 3) (99) (1,210) (1,333) (16) (2,356) (1,160) (3,532)
2,831 521 3,352 770 - 770
(835) (6,683) (2,427) (9,945) (809) (6,462) (2,360) (9,631)
(157) (65) - (222) 286 238 524
38,504 62,886 26,268 9,359 137,017 35,694 62,459 24,339 8,915 131,407
38,504 63,606 85,897 15,734 203,741 35,694 64,252 81,360 15,151 196,457
(720) (59,629) (6,375) (66,724) (1,793) (57,021) (6,236) (65,050)
38,504 62,886 26,268 9,359 137,017 35,694 62,459 24,339 8,915 131,407

Land and buildings consist largely of occupied office buildings.

Lands are largely utilised for farming operations. In determining the fair value of lands, their potential

for development within a reasonable period is assessed, and if such potential exists, the fair value
reflects that potential.
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

8.1 Analysis of intangible assets and changes for the year

2011 2010
Customer & Syndicate Customer & Syndicate
Goodwill broker capacity & Software Total Goodwill broker capacity & Software Total
relationships licences relationships licences
Net book value, beginning of year 57,948 32,569 20,331 12,531 123,379 58,289 36,978 21,021 13,140 129,428
Additions at cost - - 6,226 6,226 - - 5,066 5,066
e e - S
Amortisation and impairment - (3,130) (49) (6,0086) (9,185) (3,080) (47) (4,954) (8,081)
Disposals and divestitures - - (896) (2,353) (739) (3,988)
Effects of exchange rate changes (205) (236) (248) (133) (822) 555 1,024 (643) 18 954
Net book value, end of year 57,743 29,203 20,034 13,807 120,787 57,948 32,569 20,331 12,531 123,379
Represented by:
Cost or valuation 59,556 46,567 20,231 39,169 165,523 59,761 46,962 20,484 31,997 159,204
Accumulated depreciation (1,813) (17,364) (197) (25,362) (44,736) (1,813) (14,393) (153) (19,466) (35,825)
57,743 29,203 20,034 13,807 120,787 57,948 32,569 20,331 12,531 123,379
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8.2 Impairment of intangible assets

Goodwill arises from past acquisitions and is allocated to cash generating units (CGUs). Syndicate
capacity is the only other intangible asset with an indefinite useful life. Goodwill and syndicate capacity are
tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amount of a CGU or an intangible asset with an indefinite
useful life is determined as the higher of its value in use or its fair value less costs to sell.

Annually, the management of each operating segment or other operating company prepares financial
projections for the next three years. Cash flows are extracted from these projections and are extrapolated
for subsequent years. For those CGU’s where the fair value less costs to sell methodology is used, the
financial projections are used as inputs to determine maintainable earnings over time. The Group uses
external data or obtains independent professional advice in order to select the relevant discount factors,
growth factors and earnings multiples which are to be applied to the relevant cash flows and earnings.

From 2011, the Group has used after tax earnings multiples and discount rates to assess impairment. An
iterative method has been used to determine the corresponding pre tax factors. The carrying values of
goodwill and syndicate capacity and the impairment test factors used were as follows:

it PR s
Carryi |
arrying vale multiple multiple
Sagicor Life Inc segment 27,077 10.1, 14.5 8.69, 12.34
Sagicor Life Jamaica segment 21,561 7.40 6.25
After t Pre t
Herfax retax Residual
discount discount
growth rate
factor factor
Sagicor Europe segment 23,774 11.8 % 12.3% 2.5%
Other operating companies 4,869 13.5%,11.3%  15.2%, 13.2%  4.9%, 4.2%
77,281

8.2 Impairment of intangible assets (continued)

Pre t Pre t

2010 e Residual re fax

Carrying value discount growth rate eamngs

factor multiple
Sagicor Life Inc segment 27,102 n/a n/a 9.9
Sagicor Life Jamaica segment 21,688 n/a n/a 6.4
Sagicor Europe segment 24,073 11.5% 1.5% n/a
Other operating companies 4,868 14.8% 4.1% n/a

77,731

Sensitivity
Possible impairment of goodwill and syndicate capacity is sensitive to changes in earnings multiples,

discount factors or residual growth rates. This is illustrated in the following table.

Sagicor Life Inc segment
10.1, 14.5 9.56, 12.1 9.1,11.5
39,046 - (16,963)

After tax earnings multiples

Excess of recoverable amount / (impairment)

Sagicor Life Jamaica segment

After tax earnings multiples 7.40 5.38 5.00

Excess of recoverable amount / (impairment),

74,169 - 13,815
representing Sagicor's 59% interest in the segment ( )

The Sagicor Europe goodwill and intangible assets are sensitive to the terminal rate of return in the
valuation model. Adjusting that rate in the model would produce the following results:

Sagicor Europe segment

Change in terminal rate of return - -2.8% -4.0%

Excess of recoverable amount / (impairment) 43,661 - (18,193)
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9. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

9.1 Analysis of financial investments

2011 2010
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
value value value value
Held to maturity securities:
Debt securities 19,874 21,776 19,691 20,396
Available for sale securities:
Debt securities 2,056,457 2,056,457 1,742,835 1,742,835
Equity securities 77,532 77,532 87,713 87,713
2,133,989 2,133,989 1,830,548 1,830,548
Financial assets at fair value through income:
Debt securities 113,732 113,732 96,333 96,333
Equity securities 28,980 28,980 23,839 23,839
Derivative financial instruments (note 41.6) 15,201 15,201 12,070 12,070
Mortgage loans 40,674 40,674 46,876 46,876
Securities purchased for re-sale 492 492 2,982 2,982
199,079 199,079 182,100 182,100
Loans and receivables:
Debt securities 916,877 962,761 749,693 798,626
Mortgage loans 232,306 232,832 250,206 251,461
Policy loans 124,626 134,856 123,250 130,092
Finance loans and finance leases 158,450 160,558 144,065 172,397
Securities purchased for re-sale 11,590 11,590 25,585 25,585
Deposits 295,375 295375 311,694 311,694
1,739,224 1,797,972 1,604,493 1,689,855
Total financial investments 4,092,166 4,152,816 3,636,832 3,722,899

9.1 Analysis of financial investments (continued)

2011 2010
Non-derivative financial assets at fair value through
income comprise:
Assets designated at fair value upon initial recognition 183,878 170,030
Debt securities comprise:
Government and government-guaranteed debt securities 1,808,509 1,497,082
Collateralised mortgage obligations 161,999 159,574
Corporate debt securities 1,072,238 898,452
Other securities 64,194 53,444
3,106,940 2,608,552

Debt securities include $7,818 (2010 - $4,559) that contain options to convert to common shares of
the issuer.

Corporate debt securities include $20,451 (2010 - $21,745) in bonds issued by an associated
company.

Equity securities include $6,311 (2010 - $6,559) in mutual funds managed by the Group.
9.2 Pledged assets

Debt securities include $20,040 (2010 - $20,894) and policy loans include $20,671 (2010 - $22,461) in
assets held in trust for a reinsurer (note 20). The income from these assets accrues to the reinsurer.

Debt and equity securities include $111,891 (2010 - $162,100) as collateral for loans payable and
other funding instruments.
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9.2 Pledged assets (continued)

Collateral for the obligation to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas (FHLB) which is included in
other funding instruments (note 17), consists of an equity holding in the FHLB with a market value of
$5,984 (2010 - $5,294), and mortgages and mortgage backed securities having a total market value of
$131,258 (2010 - $123,312).

Debt securities are pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements with customers and other
financial institutions and for security relating to overdraft and other facilities with other financial
institutions. As of December 31, 2011, these pledged assets totalled $682,479 (2010 - $581,911). Of
these assets pledged as security, $90,705 (2010 — $94,761) represents collateral for securities sold
under agreements to repurchase in instances when the transferee has the right by contract or by
custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral.

Deposits include $46,624 (2010 — $47,029) pledged as collateral for a letter of credit facility (note
39.2).

9.3 Returns accruing to the benefit of contract-holders

Financial investments include the following amounts for which the full income and capital returns
accrue to the holders of unit linked policy and deposit administration contracts.

2011 2010
Debt securities 106,058 95,156
Equity securities 25,576 19,517
Mortgage loans 40,674 46,876
Securities purchased for re-sale 492 2,982

172,800 164,531

9.4 Reclassification of financial investments

In 2008, the Group reclassified certain securities from the available for sale classification to the loans
and receivables classification. The assets reclassified were primarily:
. Government of Jamaica debt securities with a maturity date of 2018 and after, which are
held to back long-term insurance liabilities; and
*  Non-agency collateralised mortgage obligations in the USA.

The reclassifications were made because the markets for these securities were considered by
management to have become inactive.

The following disclosures are in respect of these reclassified assets.

2011 2010
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
G t debt iti turi lit
overnment debt securities maturing after 56,403 50,642 76,095 79.049
September 2018
Other debt securities 11,755 12,663 15,089 15,968
68,158 63,305 91,184 95,017
2011 2010
Cumulative net fair value loss, beginning of year (4,885) (41,805)
Net fair value (losses) / gains subsequent to restatement (7,555) 23,835
Disposals 945 12,869
Effect of exchange rate changes 46 216
Cumulative net fair value loss, end of year (11,449) (4,885)
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9.4 Reclassification of financial investments (continued)

The net fair value gain or loss subsequent to restatement approximates the fair value gain or loss that
would have been recorded in total comprehensive income had the reclassification not been made.
The disposal amount represents the net loss that would have been reclassified from other
comprehensive income to income on disposal.

10. REINSURANCE ASSETS

2011 2010

Reinsurers’ share of:
Actuarial liabilities (note 13.1) 169,159 178,078
Policy benefits payable (note 14.2) 115,801 57,907
Provision for unearned premiums (note 14.3) 41,608 40,909
Other items 4,741 4,954
331,309 281,848

The provision for unearned premiums and other items are expected to mature within one year of the
financial statements date.

11. INCOME TAX ASSETS

2011 2010

Deferred income tax assets (note 33) 17,803 9,209
Income and withholding taxes recoverable 23,903 18,555
41,706 27,764

Income and withholding taxes recoverable are expected to be recovered within one year of the
financial statements date.

12. MISCELLANEOUS ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES

Pension plan assets (note 31)

Real estate developed or held for resale
Deferred policy acquisition costs
Prepaid and deferred expenses
Premiums receivable

Other accounts receivable

2011 2010
3,356 3,826
15,468 12,322
62,115 60,486
29,733 33,771
150,225 145,754
39,661 39,708
300,558 295,867

Other accounts receivable include $4,705 (2010 — $3,097) due from managed funds.

(a) Real estate developed or held for resale

Real estate developed for resale includes $7,703 (2010 - $2,990) which is expected to be realised

within one year of the financial statements date.

(b) Deferred policy acquisition costs

Deferred policy acquisitions costs are expected to mature within one year of the financial statements

date. The movement in these balances for the year was as follows:

Gross amount 2011 2010
Balance, beginning of year 60,486 46,525
Expensed (131,726) (102,150)
Additions 134,070 118,381
De-recognised on divestiture (1,238)
Effect of exchange rate changes (715) (1,032)
Balance, end of year 62,115 60,486
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13. ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES 13.2 Movement in actuarial liabilities

13.1 Analysis of actuarial liabilities

L . Gross liability Reinsurers’ share
Gross liability Reinsurers’ share
2011 2010 2011 2010
2011 2010 2011 2010
Contracts issued to individuals: Balance, beginning of year 1753712 1,612,531 178,078 207,696
Life insurance - participating policies 312,428 316,100 1,348 1,497 Assumed on acquisitions ; 2.409 _ 1345
Life insura.m.ce ?nd anTu'Jity 1,063,021 995,371 137,003 143 545 Changes in actuarial liabilities:
- non-participating policies
Recorded in income 108,152 117,889 (8,862) (27,695)
Health insurance 2,147 1,981 647 739 S, -
ecorded in other comprehensive
Unit linked funds 130,082 110,386 income e et ; :
Reinsurance contracts held 17,125 13,995 De-recognised on divestiture : (3,489) _ (3,260)
1,524,803 1,437,833 138,998 145,781 Effect of exchange rate changes (3,926) 9,331 (57) (8)
Contracts issued to groups: Balance, end of year 1876477 1,753,712 169,159 178,078
Life insurance 33,158 30,914 3,586 3,625
Annuities 281,902 248,111 26,428 28,549 AUEVED G G ]
liabilities
Health insurance 36,614 36,854 147 123 . ;
Arising from increments and
351,674 315,879 30,161 32,297 decrements of inforce policies and 149,277 144,559 (8,862) (27,927)
Total actuarial liabilities 1,876,477 1,753,712 169,159 178,078 from the issuance of new policies
Arising from changes in assumptions
The following notes are in respect of the foregoing table: for mortality, lapse, expenses, (11,439) (7.138) - 232
e Life insurance includes coverage for disability and critical illness. investment yields and asset default
e Actuarial liabilities include $113,542 (2010 - $117,341) in assumed reinsurance. Other changes:
e The liability for reinsurance contracts held occurs because the reinsurance premium costs Actuarial modelling, refinements
exceed the mortality costs assumed in determining the gross liability of a policy contract. improvements and Ycorrections Y (5,321) (8,288) = -
Margins for adverse deviations (4,277) 368 - -
Other items (1,549) 3,429 - -
Total 126,691 132,930 (8,862) (27,695)
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13.3 Assumptions - life insurance and annuity contracts

(a) Process used to set actuarial assumptions and margins for adverse deviations

At each date for valuation of actuarial liabilities, the Appointed Actuary (AA) of each insurer reviews
the assumptions made at the last valuation date. The AA tests the validity of each assumption by
reference to current data, and where appropriate, changes the assumptions for the current valuation.
A similar process of review and assessment is conducted in the determination of margins for adverse
deviations.

Any recent changes in actuarial standards and practice are also incorporated in the current valuation.

(b) Assumptions for mortality and morbidity

Mortality rates are related to the incidence of death in the insured population. Morbidity rates are
related to the incidence of sickness and disability in the insured population.

Annually, insurers update studies of recent mortality experience. The resulting experience is
compared to external mortality studies including the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (CIA) 1986 - 1992
tables.  Appropriate modification factors are selected and applied to underwritten and non-
underwritten business respectively. Annuitant mortality is determined by reference to CIA tables or to
other established scales.

Assumptions for morbidity are determined after taking into account insurer and industry experience
and established guidelines from Actuarial Institutes.

(c) Assumptions for lapse

Lapses relate to the forced termination of policies due to non-payment of premium or to the voluntary
termination of policies by policyholders.

Lapse studies are updated annually by insurers to determine the most recent experience of
persistency. Appropriate rates of termination by policy duration were determined and applied in the
actuarial valuations.

13.3 Assumptions - life insurance and annuity contracts (continued)

(d) Assumptions for investment yields

Returns on existing variable rate securities, shares, investment property and policy loans are linked to
the current economic scenario. Yields on reinvested assets are also tied to the current economic
scenario. Returns are however assumed to decrease and it is assumed that at the end of twenty years
from the valuation date, all investments, except policy loans, are reinvested in long-term, default free
government bonds.

The ultimate rate of return is the assumed rate that will ultimately be earned on government bonds. It
is established for each geographic area and is summarised in the following table.

Ultimate rate of return 2011 2010
Barbados 5.25% 5.0%
Jamaica 7.0% 7.0%
Trinidad & Tobago 5.0% 5.5%
Other Caribbean 5.0% 5.0-5.5%
USA 4.0% 4.0%

(e) Assumptions for operating expenses and taxes

Policy acquisition and policy maintenance expense costs for the long-term business of each insurer
are measured and monitored using internal expense studies. Policy maintenance expense costs are
reflected in the actuarial valuation after adjusting for expected inflation. Costs are updated annually
and are applied on a per policy basis.

Taxes reflect assumptions for future premium taxes and income taxes levied directly on investment
income (see note 32). For income taxes levied on net income, actuarial liabilities are adjusted for
policy related recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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13.3 Assumptions - life insurance and annuity contracts (continued) 14. OTHER INSURANCE LIABILITIES
() Asset defaults 14.1 Analysis of other insurance liabilities
The AA of each insurer includes a provision for asset default in the modelling of the cash flows. The 2011 2010
provision is based on industry and Group experience and includes specific margins, where
appropriate, for assets backing the actuarial liabilities, e.g. for investment property, equity securities, Dividends on deposit and other policy balances 69,726 70,101
debt ities, mort I d deposits. . :
bl securties, morigage foans and deposits Policy benefits payable 494,198 355,395
) Margins for adverse deviations Provision for unearned premiums 224,756 240,138
788,680 665,634
Margins for adverse deviations are determined for the assumptions in the actuarial valuations. The
application of these margins resulted in the following provisions for adverse deviations being included
in the actuarial liabilities: 14.2 Policy benefits payable
Provisions for adverse deviations 2011 2010 Gross liability Reinsurers’ share
Mortality and morbidity 67,813 50,155 2ol 2ol 2ol 2ol
Lapse 48,553 39.209 Analysis of policy benefits payable:
Investment yields and asset default 67814 67620 Life insurance and annuity benefits 55,396 54,969 9,930 10,565
Operating expenses and taxes 18,511 18,561 Health claims 3,021 2,647 2,025 2,643
202,691 175,545 Property and casualty claims:
Notified outstanding claims 262,506 174,640 66,500 31,035
Claims incurred but not reported 173,275 123,139 37,346 13,664
13.4 Assumptions - health insurance contracts
494,198 355,395 115,801 57,907
The outstanding liabilities for health insurance claims incurred but not yet reported and for claims
reported but not yet paid are determined by statistical methods using expected loss ratios which have Claims dISCOUﬂF included in-property 16,154 14,440 2,089 1645
been derived from recent historical data. No material claim settlements are anticipated after one year and casualty claims payable
from the date of the financial statements. Discount rate percentages (') 0.1-37 0.27 - 3.40 0.1-3.7 0.27 - 3.40

() The discount rates reflect the achievable yield over 10 years of the insurer’s investment portfolio.
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14.2 Policy benefits payable (continued)

Movement for the year:
Balance, beginning of year
Policy benefits incurred
Policy benefits paid
De-recognised on divestiture

Effect of exchange rate changes

Balance, end of year

Gross liability Reinsurers’ share
2011 2010 2011 2010
355,395 232,406 57,907 35,900
764,429 626,071 121,966 77,419
(620,742) (496,884) (61,549) (49,607)
(7,014) (5,701)
(4,884) 816 (2,523) (104)
494,198 355,395 115,801 57,907

14.3 Provision for unearned premiums

Analysis of the provision:
Property and casualty insurance

Health insurance

Movement for the year:
Balance, beginning of year
Premiums written

Premium revenue
De-recognised on divestiture

Effect of exchange rate changes

Gross liability Reinsurers’ share
2011 2010 2011 2010
223,889 239,385 41,608 40,909
867 753
224,756 240,138 41,608 40,909
240,138 202,200 40,909 45,766

519,399 514,085 119,478 111,087
(532,787) (457,938) (118,486) (103,984)

Balance, end of year

(14,348) - (11,811)
(1,994) (3,861) (293) (149)
224,756 240,138 41,608 40,909

The provision for unearned premiums
statements’ date.

is expected to mature within a year of the financial
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15. INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES

At amortised cost:
Deposit administration liabilities

Other investment contracts

At fair value through income:

Unit linked deposit administration
liabilities

16. NOTES AND LOANS PAYABLE

7.5% senior notes due 2016

6.5% convertible redeemable
preference shares due 2016
12.5% cumulative redeemable
preference shares due 2013

Bank loans and other funding
instruments

2011 2010
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
113,434 113,434 109,739 109,739
109,125 111,744 100,752 101,537
222,559 225,178 210,491 211,276
93,000 93,000 83,847 83,847
315,559 318,178 294,338 295,123
2011 2010
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
145,217 156,017 144,028 154,696
87,313 90,072 - -
- - 7,191 7,191
- - 30,666 30,666
232,530 246,089 181,885 192,553

16. NOTES AND LOANS PAYABLE (continued)

The Group issued ten year $150,000 senior notes which are repayable in 2016. The notes carry a
7.5% rate of interest fixed for the period and interest is payable semi-annually. The notes are traded
and are listed on the Luxembourg Euro MTF Market. Financial covenants in respect of these notes
are summarised in note 45.3(a).

Details of the 6.5% convertible redeemable preference shares due 2016 are set out in note 21.2. The
movement during the year in the liability for their redemption value is as follows:

2011
Initial fair value of subscription proceeds 87,586
Issue costs (2,989)
Initial carrying value 84,597
Finance cost recognised during the year 2,716
Carrying value, end of year 87,313

The initial fair value of the subscription proceeds was determined by discounting the ultimate
redemption value ($120,000), at a rate of 6.5% for 5 years. The discount rate was determined as the
estimated interest rate of 5.71% for 5 year borrowings, plus a premium of 0.79% attributable to the
non-contractual nature of the dividends. The finance cost recognised is the amortisation for the period
from issue to December 31, 2011, of the difference between the ultimate redemption value and the
initial carrying value, calculated on an effective interest method for the 5 years to maturity.

The 12.5% cumulative redeemable preference shares were issued by Pan Caribbean Financial
Services Limited in February 2008. The shares, which are denominated in Jamaican dollars, were
redeemed in 2010 and 2011.

Other bank loans and funding instruments carried interest rates between 4.75% and 7.5% and were
repaid in 2011.
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17. DEPOSIT AND SECURITY LIABILITIES

At amortised cost:

Other funding instruments
Customer deposits

Securities sold for re-purchase

Bank overdrafts

At fair value through income:
Structured products

Derivative financial instruments
(note 41.6)

Other funding instruments consist of loans from banks and other financial institutions and include
balances of $130,307 (2010 - $120,402) due to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas (FHLB). The
Group participates in the FHLB program in which funds received from the Bank are invested in
mortgages and mortgage backed securities.

Structured products are offered by a banking subsidiary. A structured product is a pre-packaged
investment strategy created to meet specific needs that cannot be met from the standardised financial
instruments available in the market. Structured products can be used as an alternative to a direct
investment, as part of the asset allocation process to reduce risk exposure of a portfolio, or to

capitalise on current market trends.

Collateral for other funding instruments and securities sold under agreements to resell is set out in

note 9.2.

2011 2010
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
261,524 268,825 229,617 240,875
194,104 187,871 168,134 202,620
612,981 602,735 575,716 644,094
3,657 3,657 2,580 2,580
1,072,266 1,063,088 976,047 1,090,169
3,184 3,184 5,655 5,655
8,115 8,115 1,849 1,849
11,299 11,299 7,504 7,504
1,083,565 1,074,387 983,551 1,097,673

18. PROVISIONS

2011 2010
Pension plans and other retirement benefits (note 31) 37,429 32,006
Cash-settled compensation benefits (note 30.4) 6,677 4,448
Other provisions 66 2,380
44,172 38,834

19. INCOME TAX LIABILITIES
2011 2010
Deferred income tax liabilities (note 33) 22,705 16,089
Income taxes payable 8,465 7,711
31,170 23,800

Income taxes payable are expected to be settled within a year of the financial statements’ date.

20. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2011 2010

Amounts due to policyholders 25,537 24,095
Amounts due to reinsurers 66,975 60,714
Amounts due to managed funds 875 3,046
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 101,000 99,380
194,387 187,235

() Includes $40,711 (2010 - $43,355) in respect of assets held in trust (see note 9.2).
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21. COMMON AND PREFERENCE SHARES

The Company is authorised to issue:

e an unlimited number of common shares,

e anunlimited number of preference shares, and

e anunlimited number of convertible redeemable preference shares.
In each case the shares are without nominal or par value.

21.1 Common shares

2011 2010
Number Share Number Share
in 000’s capital in 000’s capital
Issued and fully paid:
Balance, beginning of year 291,341 281,801 290,903 281,142
Allotments arising from:
New share issue " 12,576 19,799 - -
LTI - - 438 659
Balance, end of year 303,917 301,600 291,341 281,801
Treasury shares:
Shares held for LTI and ESOP,
2,966 5,552 2,381 4,629
end of year (note 30.1) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
Total 300,951 296,048 288,960 277,172

The common shares are listed on the Barbados, Trinidad & Tobago and London stock exchanges.

() Share issue at US $1.63 or Barbados $3.26 per share on July 18, 2011. Price protection rights

in relation to the new share issue are disclosed in note 45.3(c).

21.2 Convertible redeemable preference shares

On July 18, 2011, the Company issued 120,000,000 convertible redeemable preference shares with
the following features:
 Issue price of US $1.00 or Barbados $2.00 per share;
e Annual dividend rate of 6.5%, dividends to be declared by the Company’s directors’ and
payable half yearly on May 15 and November 15;
¢ Convertible into common shares at a ratio of 1.98 preference shares to 1.00 common
shares, conversion to be at the option of the shareholder and exercisable on May 16 or
November 16 in any year prior to the redemption date;
¢ Redeemable on July 18, 2016 at issue price, if not converted before.

The preference shares are listed on the Barbados and Trinidad & Tobago stock exchanges. Put
option rights in respect of the preference shares are disclosed in note 45.3(c)

These preference shares are accounted for as a compound financial instrument (see note 2.20(b)).
The subscription consideration, the issue costs, and the initial recognition of the shares in the
statement of financial position are set out in the following table:

2011
Subscription proceeds 120,000
Issue costs (4,094)
Initial carrying value 115,906
Recognised as:
Liability for redemption value, net of issue costs of $2,988 (note 16) 84,597
Preference share reserve, net of issue costs of $1,106 (note 22) 31,309
115,906
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21.3 Dividends

The dividends declared in respect of the Company’s convertible redeemable preference shares and
common shares are set out in the following table.

Dividends declared and paid:

Preference shares - November 15

Common shares - final for prior year

Common shares - interim for current year

Total dividends declared and paid

Declared dividends to be recorded in
the next year:

Preference shares - May 15

Common shares - final for current year

Dividend Total Dividend Total
per share dividends per share dividends
212¢ W 2,544
20¢ 5,765 20¢ 5,794
20¢ 6,019 20¢ 5,797
40¢ 11,784 40¢ 11,591
6.12 ¢ 14,328 40¢ 11,591
325¢ 3,900 -
20¢ 6,078 20¢ 5,765

() Prorated amount from issue date to November 15.

21.4 Restrictions on common share dividends

On June 2, 2011, the Company’s Articles of Incorporation were amended to impose the following
limitations on the payment of common share dividends.

()  For any 6 month period that the convertible redeemable preference shares are not paid,
dividends on common shares shall be suspended for that period plus the next 6 month period,
and the Company shall not repurchase any of its common shares, except when pursuant to
the LTI pan and ESOP.

(i) The Company shall not pay any dividends on its common shares, in respect of the 2011
financial year or thereafter, or repurchase any of its common shares, other than a repurchase
pursuant to the LTI plan and ESOP, if the cumulative amount of such dividends and
repurchases after July 31, 2011 would exceed 50% of the cumulative amount of Group net
income from January 1, 2011.
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22. RESERVES

2011
Balance, beginning of year
Other comprehensive income
Transactions with holders of equity instruments:
Allocated to preference share reserve
Allocated to reserve for equity compensation benefits
Eliminated from reserve for equity compensation benefits
Transfers to retained earnings and other movements

Balance, end of year

2010

Balance, beginning of year

Other comprehensive income

Transactions with holders of equity instruments:
Allocated to reserve for equity compensation benefits
Eliminated from reserve for equity compensation benefits
Disposal of interest in subsidiaries

Transfers to retained earnings and other movements

Balance, end of year

Other reserves comprise reserves for equity compensation benefits of $10,031 (2010 — $7,984) and statutory reserves of $20,546 (2010 - $19,301).

<<<<<<<< Fair value reserves >>>>>>>>

Currency Preference
(SLiL] i 1 translation share Other Lzl
T Available for /I\ct%r?\flal Cash flow esarves osarve reserves reserves
Droperty sale assets liabilities hedges

21,137 24,237 (15,268) - (71,797) - 27,285 (14,4006)
2,282 12,152 (10,929) - (793) - - 2,712

- - - - - 31,309 - 31,309

- - . - - - 3,533 316588

- 8 - = - - (1,486) (1,486)
- - - - - (2,042) 1,245 (797)

23,419 36,389 (26,197) - (72,590) 29,267 30,577 20,865
20,444 (5,255) (5,424) 594 (73,762) - 20,79% (42,609)
693 28,834 (9,844) - 1,965 - - 21,648

- - - = - - 3,282 3,282
B, 8 - = - - (961) (961)

- 64 - - - - - 64

- 594 - (594) - - 4170 4170
21,137 24,237 (15,268) - (71,797) - 27,285 (14,406)
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23. PARTICIPATING ACCOUNTS

The movements in the participating accounts during the year and the amounts in the financial
statements relating to participating accounts were as follows:

Movement for the year:
Balance, beginning of year
Total comprehensive income / (loss)

Return of transfer to support profit
distribution to shareholders

Balance, end of year

Financial statement amounts:
Assets

Liabilities

Revenues

Benefits

Expenses

Income taxes

Closed participating Open participating
account account

2011 2010 2011 2010
6,585 9,158 (2,238) (3,307)
(2,438) (2,573) 545 1,326
(253) (257)
4,147 6,585 (1,946) (2,238)
100,520 101,498 246,167 248,922
96,373 94,913 248,113 251,160
9,380 10,602 30,007 33,472
10,179 11,392 22,927 24,704
1,477 1,623 5,948 6,536
154 211 580 873

24. PREMIUM REVENUE

Life insurance
Annuity
Health insurance

Life, annuity and health premium

Property and casualty insurance:
Direct property
Direct motor
Direct accident and liability
Reinsurance assumed

Property and casualty premium

Total premium revenue

Gross premium

Ceded to reinsurers

2011 2010 2011 2010
362,439 331,776 39,174 37,109
142,043 128,295 322 622
132,471 132,748 3,369 4,356
636,953 592,819 42,865 42,087
149,113 139,902 51,178 47,993
116,375 96,531 21,825 16,893
181,883 136,818 25,417 26,695

81,355 80,951 20,067 12,403
528,726 454,202 118,487 103,984
1,165,679 1,047,021 161,352 146,071
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25. NET INVESTMENT INCOME 25. NET INVESTMENT INCOME (continued)
2011 2010 Further details of interest income and investment gains are set out in the following table.
Investment income:
2011 2010
Interest income 258,062 244,893
Interest income:
Dividend income 3,071 3,988 )
Debt securities 200,662 187,055
Rental income from investment property 5,380 4,934
Mortgage loans 22,302 24,214
Net investment gains 33,895 42,172
Policy loans 7,998 8,268
Share of operating income of associated companies 2,997 2,478 ) .
Finance loans and finance leases 16,494 15,058
Other investment income 727 1,302
Securities purchased for re-sale 1,228 3,034
304,132 299,767 ;
Deposits 9,294 7,115
Investment expenses: Other balances 84 149
Allowances for impairment losses 15,493 3,186
258,062 244,893
Direct operating expenses of investment property 1,702 1,662
o Net investment gains / (losses):
Other direct investment expenses 1,970 1,639
Debt securities 25,284 27,744
19,165 6,487
Equity securities 13,824 11,168
Net investment income 284,967 293,280 Investment property (839) (1,399)
Other financial instruments (4,374) 4,659
The Group operates across both active and inactive financial markets. The financial investments
33,895 42,172

placed in both types of market support the insurance and operating financial liabilities of the Group.
Because the type of financial market is incidental and not by choice, the Group manages its financial
investments by the type of financial instrument (i.e. debt securities, equity securities, mortgage loans
etc). Therefore, the income from financial instruments is presented consistently with management
practice, rather than by accounting classification.

() Includes $1,750 (2010 - $2,172) from an associated company.

The capital and income returns of most investments designated at fair value through income accrue to
the holders of unit linked policy and deposit administration contracts which do not affect net income of
the Group.
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26. FEES AND OTHER REVENUE

Fee income — assets under administration

Fee income — deposit administration and policy funds
Commission income on insurance and reinsurance contracts
Other fees and commission income

Foreign exchange gains / (losses)

Other operating and miscellaneous income

2011 2010
15,838 15,587
1,282 1,050
17,184 16,102
15,011 11,559
(2,062) 1,120
14,069 16,449
61,322 61,867

27. POLICY BENEFITS AND CHANGE IN ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES

Life insurance benefits
Annuity benefits
Health insurance claims

Life, annuity and health benefits

Property & casualty insurance claims:
Direct property
Direct motor
Direct accident and liability
Reinsurance assumed

Property and casualty claims

Total policy benefits

Change in actuarial liabilities
(note 13.2)

Total policy benefits and change in
actuarial liabilities

Gross benefit

Ceded to reinsurers

2011 2010 2011 2010
165,259 154,950 18,449 23,574
111,810 89,629 9,894 12,279

99,877 97,932 2,480 3,827
376,946 342,511 30,823 39,680

68,270 60,689 2,521 5,162
110,270 87,236 25,808 5,661

66,556 74,166 770 11,525
141,001 62,588 62,594 19,037
386,187 284,679 91,699 41,385
763,133 627,190 122,522 81,065
108,152 117,889 (8,862)  (27,695)
871,285 745,079 113,660 53,370
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28. INTEREST EXPENSE

Insurance contracts
Investment contracts

Other funding instruments
Customer deposits

Securities sold for re-purchase

Other items

2011 2010
3,934 2,980
19,262 20,433
6,822 6,656
7,366 8,617
30,803 36,165
2,808 3,146
70,995 77,997

The Group manages its interest-bearing obligations by the type of obligation (i.e. investment contracts,
securities etc). Therefore, the interest expense is presented consistently with management practice,

rather than by accounting classification.

The capital and income returns of most financial liabilities designated at fair value through income
accrue directly from the capital and income returns of financial assets designated at fair value through
income. Therefore, the related interest expense does not affect the net income of the Group.

29. EMPLOYEE COSTS

Included in administrative expenses, commissions and related compensation are the following:

2011 2010

Administrative staff salaries, directors’ fees and short-term benefits 94,461 86,293
Employer contributions to social security schemes 7,914 7,381
Equity-settled compensation benefits (note 30.1 to 30.3) 4,045 3,862
Cash-settled compensation benefits (note 30.4) 2,612 (1,799)
Employer contribution to defined contribution pension schemes 1,724 1,522
Costs — defined retirement benefits (note 31 (b)) 9,208 8,506
119,964 105,765
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30. EQUITY COMPENSATION BENEFITS 30.1 The Company (continued)
30.1 The Company The movement in restricted share grants during the year is as follows:
Effective December 31, 2005, the Company introduced a Long Term Incentive (LTI) plan for 2011 2010

designated executives of the Sagicor Group and an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) for

permanent administrative employees and sales agents of the Group. A total of 26,555,274 common Rl B el B e

shares of the Company (or 10% of shares then in issue) have been set aside for the purposes of the gr?nts ave!'age gr?nts Ave.rage
LTI plan and the ESOP. 000 price 000 price

(a) LTI plan — restricted share grants Balance, beginning of year 752 US$1.45 353 US$1.59

Grants issued 1,101 US$1.44 1,023 US$1.43

Restricted share grants have been granted to designated key management of the Group. Share Grants vested (440) US$1 45 (624) US81.50

grants may vest over a four year period beginning at the grant date. The vesting of share grants is
conditional upon the relative profitability of the Group as compared to a number of peer companies. Balance, end of year 1413 US§1.44 752 US§1.45
Relative profitability is measured with reference to the financial year preceding the vesting date.

Grants issued may be satisfied out of new shares issued by the Company or by shares acquired in the
market. The shares acquired in the market and distributed during the year were as follows:

2011 2010
Number Number
in 000’s LS in 000’s LS
Shares acquired 317 459
Shares distributed (301) (435)
Balance, end of year 16 24
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30.1 The Company (continued)

(b) LTI plan — share options

Share options have been granted to designated key management of the Group during the year. Up to
2008, options were granted at the fair market price of the Company shares at the time that the option
is granted. From 2009, options are granted at the fair market price of the Company shares prevailing
one year before the option is granted. Options vest over four years, 25% each on the first four
anniversaries of the grant date. Options are exercisable up to 10 years from the grant date.

The movement in share options for the year and details of the share options and assumptions used in
determining their pricing are as follows:

2011 2010
i Weigh
Number of Weighted Number of eighted
. average . average
options exercise options exercise
‘000 . ‘000 .
price price
Balance, beginning of year 7,342 US $2.07 5,807 US $2.26
Options granted 2,557 US $1.48 1,749 US $1.60
Options lapsed/forfeited - - (214) US $2.09
Balance, end of year 9,899 US $1.92 7,342 US $2.07
Exercisable at the end of the year 4,658 US $2.13 2,966 Us $2.17
Share price at grant date US $1.48 - 2.50 US $1.60 - 2.50
Fair value of options at grant date US $0.39 - 0.69 US $0.41 - 0.69

Expected volatility 19.3% - 35.8% 19.3% - 35.8%
Expected life 7.0 years 7.0 years
2.8% -3.1% 2.8% -3.1%
4.8% - 6.8% 4.8% - 6.8%

Expected dividend yield

Risk-free interest rate

30.1 The Company (continued)

The expected volatility of options is based on statistical analysis of monthly share prices over the 8
years (2010 - 7 years) prior to grant date.

(c) ESOP

From 2006, the Company approved awards under the ESOP in respect of permanent administrative
employees and sales agents of the Company and certain subsidiaries. The ESOP is administered by
Trustees under a discretionary trust. The amount awarded is used by the Trustees to acquire
company shares. Administrative employees and sales agents are required to serve a qualifying period
of five years from the award date in order to qualify as a beneficiary. Shares are distributed to
beneficiaries upon their retirement or termination of employment.

The shares acquired by the Trustees during the year were as follows:

2011 2010
Number Number
in 000’s $000 in 000’s $000
Balance, beginning of year 2,381 4,629 1,201 2,890
Shares acquired 569 899 1,180 1,739
Balance, end of year 2,950 5,528 2,381 4,629

30.2 Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited (SLJ)

(@) Long-term incentive plan

Effective May 1, 2003, SLJ instituted a share based long-term incentive plan for senior executives.
150,000,000 ordinary shares (or 5% of the authorised share capital at that date) have been set aside
for the plan.
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30.2 Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited (SLJ) (continued)

SLJ introduced a new Long Term Incentive (LTI) plan effective January 2007, which replaced the
previous Stock Option plan. Under the LTI plan, stock options are granted each year following the
measurement year.

Stock options vest in 4 equal installments beginning the first December 31 following the grant date
and for the next three December 31 dates thereafter (25% per year). Options are not exercisable after
the expiration of 7 years from the date of grant. The number of stock options in each stock option
award is calculated based on the LTI opportunity via stock options (percentage of applicable salary)
divided by the Black-Scholes value of a stock option on SLJ stock on March 31 of the measurement
year. The exercise price of the options is the closing bid price on March 31 of the measurement year.

Under the previous Stock Option plan, options were granted on December 31 of each year. The strike
price was the closing bid price on the grant date. The number of stock options in each stock option
award was calculated based on a percentage of applicable salary divided by the strike price. Options
were exercisable beginning one year from the date of grant and had a contractual term of six years
from the date of grant.

Details of the share options outstanding are set out in the following table. J$ represents Jamaica $.

2011 2010
Weighted Weighted
Number of elgnte Number of elghte
. average . average
options exercise options exercise
‘000 i ‘000 .
price price

Balance, beginning of year 40,917 J$6.23 26,539 J$8.04
Options granted 17,393 J$6.51 20,564 J$4.20
Options exercised (6,937) J$6.44 (1,044) J$5.19
Options lapsed/forfeited (3,251) J$8.10 (5,142) J$9.20
Balance, end of year 48,122 J$6.18 40,917 J$6.23
Exercisable at the end of the year 25,494 J$6.56 20,040 J$7.30

30.2 Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited (SLJ) (continued)

Further details of share options and the assumptions used in determining their pricing are as follows:

2011 2010
Fair value of options outstanding J$48,122,000 J$40,917,000
Share price at grant date J$4.20 - 9.00 J$4.20 - 9.86
Exercise price J$4.20-9.00 J$4.20 - 9.86
Standard deviation of expected share price returns 39.0% 39.0%
Remaining contractual term 1-6 years 1-6 years
Risk-free interest rate 12.6% 9.4%

The expected volatility is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over three years.

(b) Employee share purchase plan

SLJ has in place a share purchase plan which enables its administrative and sales staff to purchase
shares at a discount. The proceeds from shares issued under this plan totalled $719 (2010 — $459).

30.3 Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited (PCFS)

PCFS offers share options to employees who have completed the minimum eligibility period of
employment. Options are conditional on the employee completing a minimum service period of one
year. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves PCFS before the options vest. Options vest over four
years at 25% on each anniversary date of the grant.
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30.3 Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited (PCFS) (continued)

The movement in share options are set out in the following table. J$ represents Jamaica $.

2011 2010

Weighted Weighted

Number of eghie Number of S

. average . average

options exercise options exercise

‘000 . ‘000 .
price price

Balance, beginning of year 11,393 J$16.01 4,799 J$18.53
Options granted 3,138 J$18.00 8,886 J$15.10
Options exercised (1,275) J$14.68 (192) J$12.20
Options lapsed / forfeited (300) J$21.75 (2,100) J$17.91
Balance, end of year 12,956 J$16.54 11,393 J$16.01
Exercisable at the end of the year 6,935 J$17.41 4,410 J$17.77

Further details of share options and the assumptions used in determining their pricing are as follows:

2011 2010

J$ 12,956,000 J$ 11,393,000
J$13.00-21.05  J$13.00-21.50
J$ 12.20 - 20.50 J$ 12.20-21.75
10.0% - 21.7%

Fair value of options outstanding
Share price at grant date
Exercise price

Standard deviation of expected share price returns 30%
Weighted average remaining contractual term 3 years 3 years

Risk-free interest rate 11.54% - 13.24% 11.6% - 21.79%

The expected volatility is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over one year.

30.4 Sagicor Europe Limited (SEL)

The minority shareholders of Sagicor Europe Limited are participating employees who have
subscribed in cash for shares of SEL. As of December 31, the total minority shareholding was 14% of
issued shares. SEL intends to issue additional shares to future participating employees until the
minority holdings total 15% of issued shares.

Each participating employee has contracted with SEL and the Company under a share subscription
agreement. Under the provisions of these agreements, participating employees can exercise a put
option to the Company to acquire their shares at the prevailing fair value. The put option may be
exercised over the period beginning from the 5% anniversary of the agreement, with a maximum of
50% of the employee’s shareholding being put on the 5t anniversary, a further maximum of 10% each
on the 6" to 10t anniversaries. The first tranche of put options vest in 2012.

The shares subscribed by participating employees, and the relevant fair values at the date of
subscription are set out in the following table.

2011 2010
Number of  Fair value at Number of Fair value at
Shares Subscription Shares  Subscription
‘000 (in £ 000) ‘000 (in £ 000)
Balance, beginning of year 337 2,489 337 2,489
Shares redeemed (4) (116) -
Balance, end of year 333 2,373 337 2,489

The fair values of SEL shares at subscription dates were established by determining the value in use
of Syndicate 1206 from 5 year internal cash flow projections.
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30.4 Sagicor Europe Limited (SEL) (continued)

The put options described above have been accounted for as cash settled share based payment
arrangements. As such the valuation of the put options at December 31, 2011 of $6,677 (2010 —
$4,448) is recognised in the financial statements. The valuation of the put options have been derived
from:
e Valuation of SEL using a variety of methods;
»  Discounting the expected cash outflows from the put options, assuming the options are
exercised at the earliest possible dates. The discount rate used was 11.8% (2010 - 11.5%).

The shares issued meet the definition of a financial liability in accordance with IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation. Consequently, SEL is consolidated as a 100% subsidiary, with the
accretion in liability recorded as an expense (see note 29).

31. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Certain Group subsidiaries have contributory defined benefit pension schemes in place for eligible
administrative staff. Some subsidiaries also offer medical and life insurance benefits that contribute to
the health care and life insurance coverage of retirees and beneficiaries.

31. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(a) Amounts recognised in the financial statements

Fair value of retirement plan assets

Present value of funded retirement obligations

Present value of unfunded retirement obligations
Unrecognised actuarial losses

Amounts recognised in the financial statements

Represented by:

Amounts held on deposit by the Group as deposit
administration contracts

Other recognised liabilities
Total recognised liabilities (note 18)

Recognised assets (note 12)

2011 2010
105,127 94,059
(109,083) (97,922)
(3,956) (3,863)
(38,635) (36,991)

8,518 12,674
(34,073) (28,180)
(25,101) (25,371)
(12,328) (6,635)
(37,429) (32,006)

3,356 3,826
(34,073) (28,180)

The net benefit defined obligation and experience adjustments for the last 5 years are as follows:

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Present value of (147,718)  (134913)  (110,952)  (107,289) (108,451
retirement obligations
Fair value of plan assets 105,127 94,059 81,062 75,883 77,231
Net obligation (42,591) (40,854) (29,890) (31,406) (31,220)
Experience adjustment on:
Plan liabilities 3,216 2,394 (2,238) (9,565) (1,848)
Plan assets (1,252) (759) (811) 9,952 965
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31. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Amounts recognised in the income statement

2011 2010
Current service cost 5,492 4,858
Interest cost 11,705 10,979
Net actuarial (gains) / losses recognised during the year 247 1,282
Past service cost 1,703 65
Curtailment gain 39
Expected return on retirement plan assets (9,978) (8,678)
Total cost 9,208 8,506
The actual return on retirement plan assets was $11,835 (2010 — $9,572).

(c) Retirement plan assets

Movement in retirement plan assets 2011 2010
Plan assets, beginning of year 94,059 81,062
Expected return on plan assets 9,978 8,678
Actuarial gains and losses 439 (203)
Contributions made by the Group 3,981 4,780
Contributions made by plan participants 3,625 2,337
Benefits paid (5,969) (3,560)
Other (370) (1,482)
Effects of exchange rate changes (616) 2,447
Plan assets, end of year 105,127 94,059

31.

Distribution of the plan assets

Equity unit linked pension funds under management

Other assets

Total plan assets

(d) Movement in retirement obligations

Retirement obligations, beginning of year
Current service cost

Interest cost

Contributions made by employees
Actuarial gains and losses

Benefits paid

Past service cost

Curtailments

Other

Effects of exchange rate changes

Retirement obligations, end of year

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

2011 2010
97,977 91,887
7,150 2172
105,127 94,059
2011 2010
134,913 110,952
6,912 6,149
11,705 10,979
2,814 2,563
(3.457) 5,987
(7,048) (4,302)
1,703 65
39
845 (158)
(708) 2,678
147,718 134,913

Pension plans have purchased annuities from insurers in the Group to pay benefits to plan retirees.
These obligations are included in actuarial liabilities in the statement of financial position and are
excluded from the table above.
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31. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(e) Principal assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions by geographic area used for 2011 were as follows:

Effect of 1%
decrease increase
; . . - Other
Pension benefits Barbados Jamaica Trinidad Caribb
aribbean Revised service cost 621 978
Discount rate 7.8%-8.0% 10.0% 7.0% 7.8% e p— 1,048 1453
Expected return on plan assets 7.8%-8.0% 1.0% 6.0% 1.8% Revised accumulated retirement benefit 9,090 12,448
Future salary increases 3.0%-6.5% 6.0% 2.5%-5.5%  2.0%-3.0%
Future pension increases 2.5%-3.5% 2.0% 1.0% 2.5%-3.5%

: . 32. INCOME TAXES
Portion of employees opting for early

retirement

15.0% - - -

Group companies operating in Caribbean countries are largely taxed according to the taxation rules of
3.5%-3.8% - 2.0% 3.5% the country where the operations are carried out. The principal rates of taxation are summarised in
note 2.19(b). The income tax expense and the income subject to taxation in the statement of income
are set out in the following table.

Future changes in National Insurance
Scheme Ceilings

Other retirement benefits Barbados Jamaica
2011 2010
Discount rate 8.0% 10.0%
Income tax expense:
Expected return on plan assets - 7.0% P
. Current tax 19,451 14,816
Future salary increases - 6.0%
_ i Deferred tax (6,141) 278
Long term increase in health costs 4.5% 8.0%
Share of tax of associated companies 176 216
13,486 15,310
Sources of income subject to tax:
Investment income subject to direct taxation 112,831 96,997
Net income subject to direct taxation 3,171 12,105
Total income subject to taxation 116,002 109,102
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32. INCOME TAXES (continued) 33. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
Income tax on the total income subject to taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 2011 2010
is as follows:
19 88 TOTOWS Analysis of deferred income tax assets:
2011 2010 Pensions and other retirement benefits 1,093 680
Unrealised losses on financial investments 522 261
Total income subject to taxation 116,002 109,102 Unused tax losses 16,238 7,579
Off-settable tax liabilities in respect of policy liability timing
Taxation at the applicable rates on income subject to tax 21,015 21,126 differences and other items (1,101) ®)
Adjustments to current tax for items not subject to / allowed for tax (14,521) (15,681) Other items 1,051 697
Other current tax adjustments 52 (26) Total deferred income tax assets (note 11) 17,803 9,209
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 23 (117) Deferred income tax assets to be recovered within one year 1,533 2,396
Movement in unrecognised deferred tax asset 6,185 6,708
Unrecognised tax balances:
Deferred tax relating to the origination of temporary differences 377 959
Tax losses 150,481 126,292
Deferred tax relating to changes in tax rates or new taxes 1,064 97
Potential deferred income tax assets 38,440 32,403
Deferred tax that arises from the write down / (reversal of a write
(1,300) 465
down) of a tax asset Expiry period for unrecognised tax losses:
Other taxes 591 1,779 2012 1262 914
13,486 15,310 2013 2,592 3,332
2014 9,178 9,570
In addition to the above, the income tax on items in other comprehensive income is set out in note 35.
2015-2016 33,218 33,080
2017 - 2019 70,478 70,478
After 2019 24,761
No specified expiry date 8,992 8,918
150,481 126,292
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33. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (continued)

Analysis of deferred income tax liabilities 2011 2010
Accelerated tax depreciation 1,549 2,184
Policy liabilities taxable in the future 28,306 29,245
Pensions and other retirement benefits - 1
Accrued interest 1,707 2,554
Unrealised gains on financial investments 23,265 13,812
Off-settable tax assets in respect of unused tax losses and

setabie fax @ . (35,264) (34,136)
other items
Other items 3,142 2,419
Total (note 19) 22,705 16,089
Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled within one year 9,923 9,222

34. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing earnings attributable to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, after deducting
treasury shares. Earnings attributable to common shareholders recognise the impact on net income
of the Company’s convertible redeemable preference shares (note 21.2).

The table below derives the earnings attributable to common shareholders and the basic earnings per
common share.

2011 2010
Net income attributable to common shareholders 973 16,560
Finance costs attributable to preference share subscription 2,114 -
Amortisation of issue expenses allocated to 72)
preference share reserve
Preference share dividends declared (2,544) -
Earnings attributable to common shareholders 471 16,560
Weighted average number of shares in issue in thousands 294,768 290,037
Basic earnings per common share 02¢ 57¢

The computation of diluted earnings per common share recognises the dilutive impact of LTI share
grants and share options (note 30.1), ESOP shares grants (note 30.1), and the convertible
redeemable preference shares. In computing diluted earnings per share, the income attributable to
common shareholders is adjusted by the dilutive impact of the convertible preference shares and the
weighted average number of common shares is adjusted by the dilutive impacts of the aforementioned
share grants, options and preference shares.
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34 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE (continued)

The table below derives the adjusted earnings attributable to common shareholders, the adjusted

weighted average number of common shares, and the fully diluted earnings per common share.

2011 2010

Earnings attributable to common shareholders 471 16,560
Weighted average number of shares in issue in thousands 294,768 290,037
LTI restricted share grants 966 605
ESOP shares 1,328 815
Adjusted weighted average number of shares in issue 297,062 291,457
Fully diluted earnings per common share 02¢ 57¢

By substituting net income with total comprehensive income, the amounts deriving basic total

comprehensive earnings per common share are set out below.

2011 2010
Total comprehensive income attributable to common shareholders 3,685 38,208
Total comprehensive earnings attributable to common shareholders 3,183 38,208
Weighted average number of shares in issue in thousands 294,768 290,037
Basic total comprehensive earnings per common share 11¢ 13.2¢
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35. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following additional information is provided in respect of items in other comprehensive income (OCI).

2011 2010
After tax OCl is attributable to After tax OCl is attributable to
OCl tax OCl tax
€Xpenseé  ghareholders PaTtICIPatlng .Mlnorlty Total €Xpense  ghareholders Pallftlmpatmg 'Mlnorlty Total
policyholders interests policyholders interests
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to income:
Available for sale assets:
Unrealised gains / (I isi
nrealised gains  (losses) arising on (8575) 16,007 530 749 17,286 (17,652) 33514 750 13,278 47,542
revaluation
(Gains) / losses transferred to income (2,011) (3,855) - (1,483) (5,338) (316) (4,680) - 235 (4,445)
Net change in actuarial liabilities 7,080 (10,929) (530) - (11,459) 4,465 (9,844) (732) - (10,576)
Retranslation of foreign currency operations - (793) (15) (995) (1,803) - 1,965 - 4,042 6,007
Other items - - - - - - - - (309) (309)
(3,506) 430 (15) (1,729) (1,314) (13,503) 20,955 18 17,246 38,219
Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to income:
Unrealised gain.s / (losses) arising on revaluation (345) 2282 ) 797 3,009 ) 693 ) 77 770
of owner occupied property
(3,851) 2,712 (15) (1,002) 1,695 (13,503) 21,648 18 17,323 38,989
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36. CASHFLOWS

36.1 Operating activities

Adjustments for non-cash items, interest and dividends:

Interest and dividend income

Net investment gains

Net increase in actuarial liabilities

Interest expense and finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation

Increase in provision for unearned premiums

Other items

Net increase in investments and operating assets:
Investment property

Debt securities

Equity securities

Mortgage loans

Policy loans

Finance loans and finance leases

Securities purchased for re-sale

Deposits

Other assets and receivables

2011 2010
(261,133) (248,881)
(33,895) (42,172)
117,014 145,584
88,072 94,366
19,307 18,269
(14,383) 46,377
21,402 (7,005)
(63,616) 6,538
(375) (3,857)
(450,809) (260,781)
309 (4,416)
20,432 16,512
(2,098) 795
(14,802) (16,650)
740 (1,563)
51,906 (56,512)
(64,335) (50,762)
(459,032) (377,234)

36.1 Operating activities (continued)

The gross changes in investment property, debt securities and equity securities are as follows.

2011 2010
Investment property:
Disbursements (626) (11,233)
Disposal proceeds 251 7,376
(375) (3,857)
Debt securities:
Disbursements (2,041,121) (1,731,222)
Disposal proceeds 1,590,312 1,470,441
(450,809) (260,781)
Equity securities:
Disbursements (73,130) (62,975)
Disposal proceeds 73,439 58,559
309 (4,416)
Net increase in operating liabilities:
Insurance liabilities 140,238 109,600
Investment contract liabilities 21,501 (14,536)
Other funding instruments 31,221 (14,154)
Deposits 20,713 11,925
Securities sold for re-purchase 46,869 85,005
Other liabilities and payables 8,565 (7,798)
269,107 170,042
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36.2 Investing activities
Property, plant and equipment:
Purchases

Disposal proceeds

36.3 Financing activities
Other notes and loans payable:

Repayments

36.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash resources

Call deposits and other liquid balances
Bank overdrafts

Other short-term borrowings

2011 2010
(14,947) (13,306)
2,155 3,054
(12,792) (10,252)
(36,808) (14,452)
184,662 218,635
99,181 80,085
(3,657) (2,580)
(15,527) (17,072)
264,659 279,068

37. STATUTORY RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS

Insurers are registered to conduct insurance business under legislation in place in each relevant
jurisdiction. This legislation may prescribe a number of requirements with respect to deposits,
investment of funds and solvency for the protection of policyholders. In general, these requirements
do not restrict the ability of the insurer to trade investments. Banking subsidiaries may also be
required to hold deposits with Central Banks which regulate the conduct of banking operations.

To satisfy the above requirements, invested assets and cash totalling $1,361,659 (2010 - $1,262,023)
have been deposited with regulators or are held in trust to the order of regulators.

In some countries where the Group operates, there are exchange controls or other restrictions on the
remittance of funds out of those countries.

38. COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into commitments at the date of the financial
statements for which no provision has been made in these financial statements. Non-cancellable
commitments for loan disbursements, operating lease and rental payments are disclosed in note
41.2(b).
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantee and financial facilities at the date of the financial statements for which no provision has
been made in these financial statements include the following:

2011 2010

Customer guarantees and letters of credit (1) 12,495 12,594
Letter of credit facility 80,550 81,559
93,045 94,153

() There are equal and offsetting claims against customers in the event of a call on the above
commitments for customer guarantees and letters of credit.

@ Collateral for this facility is disclosed on note 9.2 and the associated financial covenants are
disclosed in note 45.3(b).

(a) Legal proceedings

During the normal course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions which may affect the
reported amounts of liabilities, benefits and expenses. Management considers that any liability from
these actions, for which provision has not been already made, will not be material.

(b) Tax assessments

The Group is also subject to tax assessments during the normal course of business. Adequate
provision has been made for all assessments received to date and for tax liabilities accruing in
accordance with management's understanding of tax regulations. Potential tax assessments may be
received by the Group which are in addition to accrued tax liabilities. No provisions have been made
in these financial statements for such potential tax assessments.

39 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(c) Insurance contracts

The Group develops and markets insurance products under various types of insurance contracts. The
design of these products is consistent with international best practice and reflects the current thinking
at the time of development. The Group keeps its products under review to ensure that they meet both
policyholder and company expectations.

One such insurance product is the universal life product which was developed and launched in 1987
in Jamaica. The design of a Universal Life policy is such that on realistic assumptions, the fund value
built-up from premiums paid and from investment earnings is required in later years to pay the
administrative costs and mortality charges.

A review of the Universal Life portfolio revealed that approximately 17,000 policies were affected by
fund values which were insufficient to cover these costs through the life of the policies. Once the
issue was recognised, the Group initiated discussion with the Regulators, the Financial Services
Commission (FSC), as a result of which the affected policyholders were given the opportunity to
reduce their existing coverage under the policies or to increase the premiums at their expense.
Approximately 95% of these policyholders agreed to adjustments to their policies.

The Group estimates that less than 1% of the affected policyholders have filed complaints with the
FSC, which carried out investigations and made a submission to the Group. The FSC suggested a
number of alternatives to remedy the issue. The Group is in discussions with the FSC on the matter.
The cost, if any, of resolving this issue cannot be quantified at this time.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions and balances are included in notes 5, 9, 12, 20, 26, 30 and 44 of the
financial statements.

Key management transactions and balances

Key management comprises directors and senior management of the Company and of Group
subsidiaries. Key management includes those persons at or above the level of Vice President or its
equivalent. Compensation of and loans to these individuals are summarised in the following tables:

Compensation 2011 2010
Salaries, directors’ fees and other short-term benefits 18,079 17,412
Equity-settled and cash-settled compensation benefits 4,541 1,619
Pension and other retirement benefits 1,702 832

24,322 19,863

Mortgage loans Other loans Total loans

Balance, beginning of year 4,143 324 4,467
Advances 221 299 520
Repayments (397) (197) (594)
Effects of exchange rate changes (3) (2) (5)
Balance, end of year 3,964 424 4,388
Interest rates prevailing during the year 5% - 8.25% 5% -17.7%

41. FINANCIAL RISK

The Group’s activities of issuing insurance contracts, of accepting funds from depositors, of investing
insurance premium and deposit receipts in a variety of financial and other assets, banking and dealing
in securities, exposes the Group to various insurance and financial risks. Financial risks include credit
default, liquidity and market risks. Market risks arise from changes in interest rates, equity prices,
currency exchange rates or other market factors. The principal insurance risks are identified in notes
42 and 43.

The overriding objective of the Group’s risk management framework is to enhance its capital base
through competitive earnings growth and to protect capital against inherent business risks. This
means that the Group accepts certain levels of risk in order to generate returns, and the Group
manages the levels of risk assumed through enterprise wide risk management policies and
procedures. Identified risks are assessed as to their potential financial impact and as to their likelihood
of occurrence.
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the exposure that the counterparty to a financial instrument is unable to meet an
obligation, thereby causing a financial loss to the Group. Credit risks are primarily associated with
financial investments and reinsurance contracts held.

Credit risk from financial investments is minimised through holding a diversified portfolio of
investments, purchasing securities and advancing loans only after careful assessment of the
borrower, obtaining collateral before advancing loans, and placing deposits with financial institutions
with a strong capital base. Limits may be placed on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one
borrower.

The Group has developed an internal credit rating standard. The internal rating is a 10 point scale
which allows for distinctions in risk characteristics and is referenced to the rating scales of
international credit rating agencies. The scale is set out in the following table.

Sagicor
Category Risk Classification S&P Moody’s Fitch AM Best
Rating
1 Minimal risk AAA, AA Aaa, Aa AAA AA aaa, aa
Investment
2 Low risk A A A a
grade
3 Moderate risk BBB Baa BBB bbb
= Non- 4 Acceptable risk BB Ba BB bb
o investment
%’ grade 5 Average risk B B B b
=
6 Higher risk C, ©C Caa,Ca : CCC,CC €56, €T
Watch
7 Special mention C C C €
8 Substandard DDD
Default 9 Doubtful D C DD d
10 Loss D

41.1 Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies this rating scale to three categories of exposures:

* Investment portfolios, comprising debt securities, deposits, securities purchased for re-sale, and cash
balances;

* Lending portfolios, comprising mortgage, policy and finance loans and finance leases;

* Reinsurance exposures, comprising reinsurance assets for life, annuity and health insurance (see
note 43.3) or realistic disaster scenarios for property and casualty insurance (see note 42.3).

The 3 default grades are used for lending portfolios while investment portfolios and reinsurance
exposures use one default grade: 8.

The maximum exposures of the Group to credit risk without taking into account any collateral or any
credit enhancements are set out in the following table.

2011 2010
$000 % $000 %
Investment portfolios 3,599,059 76.9 3,167,448 75.5
Lending portfolios 556,056  11.9 564,397 13.5
Reinsurance assets 289,701 6.2 240,939 5.7
Other financial assets 205,087 4.3 197,532 4.7
Total financial statement exposures 4,649,903 99.3 4,170,316 994
Loan commitments 17,465 0.4 13,002 0.3
Customer guarantees and letters of credit 12,495 0.3 12,594 0.3
Total off financial statement exposures 29,960 0.7 25,596 0.6
Total 4,679,863 100.0% 4,195,912  100.0%

The amounts in respect of customer guarantees and letters of credit represent potential claims against
customers in the event of a call on customer guarantees and letters of credit issued by the Group.
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41.1 Credit risk (continued) 41.1 Credit risk (continued)
The Group’s largest exposures to individual counterparty credit risks as of December 31 are set out (a)  Investment portfolios
below. The individual ratings reflect the rating of the counterparty listed below, while the amounts
include exposures with subsidiaries of the counterparty. The results of the risk rating of investment portfolios are as follows:
Sagicor Sagicor Investment portfolios
RI?k 2011 lek 2010 . 2011 2010
Rating Rating Risk L
Rating Classification Exposure  Exposure  Exposure  Exposure
0, 0,
Investment portfolios: $000 & $000 &
; 1 Minimal risk 638,481 18% 641,112 20%
Government of Jamaica 5 1,122,561 5 916,457
. 2 Low risk 679,735 19% 563,679 18%
Government of Trinidad and Tobago 2 143,613 2 126,697
3 Moderate risk 764,604 21% 623,461 20%
Government of Barbados 3] 182,740 8 133,892
i 4 Acceptable risk 179,571 5% 142,013 4%
The Bank of Nova Scotia 1 130,307 1 115,260
5 Average risk 1,297,212 36% 1,098,358 35%
Government of USA 1 102,452 1 108,305
6 Higher risk 16,712 1% 17,091 1%
The Federal National Mortgage Association 1 72,394 1 77,149 ner s ’ °
1 1 0, 0,
The Federal Home Loan Morlgage 1 w170 1 s 7 Special mention 4,055 0% 19,030 1%
Corporation ’ ’ 8 Substandard 4,903 0% 3,466 0%
CIBC 2 61,897 2 34,963 TOTAL RATED EXPOSURES 3,585,273 100% 3,108,210 99%
UN-RATED EXPOSURES 13,786 0% 59,238 1%
Lending portfolios:
. TOTAL 3,599,059 100% 3,167,448 100%
I\-/.aIL.Jteé-\ssets International S.A. and Egret 4 54,247 4 44193
mite Investment portfolio assets are mostly unsecured except for securities purchased under agreement to
. resell for which title to the securities is transferred to the Group for the duration of each agreement.
Reinsurance assets:
Scottish Re (U.S.) Inc () 7 104,112 7 109,624
Washington National Insurance Company ) 5 53,238 5 56,745

 The reinsurance asset held in the name of Scottish Re is secured by assets held in trust by a third
party and by the Group (see note 9.2). The total assets held in trust amount to $147,782 (2010 -
$149,819).

@ The reinsurance asset arises from reinsurance assumed on a block of life insurance policies.

144



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

41.1 Credit risk (continued)

(b) Lending portfolios

The results of the risk rating of lending portfolios are as follows:

Lending portfolios

. 2011 2010
Risk S
Rating Classification Exposure  Exposure Exposure  Exposure
$000 % $000 %

1 Minimal risk 124,626 22% 141,614 25%
2 Low risk 129,312 23% 92,948 16%
3 Moderate risk 133,991 24% 154,455 27%
4 Acceptable risk 35,055 6% 35,561 6%
5 Average risk 34,559 6% 39,320 %
6 Higher risk 8,837 2% 12,512 2%
7 Special mention 5,675 1% 3,487 1%
8 Substandard 16,123 3% 24,830 4%
9 Doubtful 4,500 1% 5,099 1%
10 Loss 3,051 1% 1,404 1%

TOTAL RATED EXPOSURES 495,729 89% 511,230 90%

UN-RATED EXPOSURES 60,327 11% 53,167 10%

TOTAL 556,056 100% 564,397 100%

41.1 Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and guarantees for lending
portfolios. For mortgage loans, the collateral is real estate property, and the approved loan limit is 75%
to 95% of collateral value. For finance loans and finance leases, the collateral often comprises a
vehicle or other form of security and the approved loan / lease limit is 80% to 100% of the collateral
value. Unsecured finance loans and finance leases are only granted when the initial amount is less
than $15.

Policy loans are advanced on the security of the underlying insurance policy cash values. Cash loans
are advanced to a maximum of 82% to 100% of the cash surrender value. Automatic premium loans

may be advanced to the extent of available cash surrender value.

Exposure to the lending portfolios by geographic area is as follows.

2011 2010

Barbados 193,204 187,761
Jamaica 129,442 131,492
Trinidad & Tobago 93,873 106,038
Other Caribbean 74,790 72,299
USA 64,747 66,807
556,056 564,397

(c) Past due and impaired financial assets

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make payment when contractually due.
The Group is most exposed to the risk of past due assets with respect to its debt securities, mortgage
loans, finance loans and finance leases.

Debt securities are assessed for impairment when amounts are past due, when the borrower is
experiencing cash flow difficulties, or when the borrower’s credit rating has been downgraded.
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41.1 Credit risk (continued)

Mortgage loans less than 90 to 180 days past due and finance loans and finance leases less than 90
days past due are not assessed for impairment unless other information is available to indicate the
contrary.

The assessment for impairment includes a review of the collateral. If the past due period is less than
the trigger for impairment review, the collateral is not normally reviewed and re-assessed.
Accumulated allowances for impairment reflect the Group’s assessment of total individually impaired
assets at the date of the financial statements. The following tables set out the carrying values of debt
securities, mortgage loans, finance loans and finance leases, analysed by past due or impairment
status.

Debt Mortgage Finance
securities loans loans &
leases
2011
Neither past due nor impaired 3,060,640 184,501 126,485
Past due up to 3 months, but not impaired 34,233 53,269 23,333
Past due up to 12 months, but not impaired 470 11,438 1,403
Past due up to 5 years, but not impaired 3,082 7121 5
Past due over 5 years, but not impaired 31 5,473
Total past due but not impaired 37,816 77,301 24,741
Impaired assets 8,484 11,178 7,224
Total carrying value 3,106,940 272,980 158,450
Accumulated allowances on impaired assets 9,961 2,486 3,764
Accrued interest on impaired assets 52 309 7

41.1 Credit risk (continued)

Finance
Debt Mortgage
. loans &
securities loans
leases

2010

Neither past due nor impaired 2,589,040 202,034 100,325

Past due up to 3 months, but not impaired 10,945 54,833 39,599
Past due up to 12 months, but not impaired 1,836 9,296 598
Past due up to 5 years, but not impaired 331 6,952

Past due over 5 years, but not impaired 33 8,127

Total past due but not impaired 13,145 79,208 40,197
Impaired assets 6,367 15,840 3,543
Total carrying value 2,608,552 297,082 144,065
Accumulated allowances on impaired assets 6,437 3,325 2,706
Accrued interest on impaired assets 43 461 23

The Group is also exposed to impaired premiums receivable. Property and casualty insurers
frequently provide settlement terms to customers and intermediaries which extend up to 6 months.
However, under the terms of insurance contracts, insurers can usually lapse an insurance policy for
non-payment of premium, or if there is a claim, recover any unpaid premiums from the claim
proceeds.

(d) Repossessed assets

The Group may foreclose on overdue mortgage loans and finance loans and finance leases by
repossessing the pledged asset. The pledged asset may consist of real estate, equipment or
vehicles which the Group will seek to dispose of by sale. In some instances, the Group may provide
re-financing to a new purchaser on customary terms.
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41.1 Credit risk (continued)

(e) Renegotiated assets

The Group may renegotiate the terms of any financial investment to facilitate borrowers in financial
difficulty. Arrangements to waive, adjust or postpone scheduled amounts due may be entered into.
The Group classifies these amounts as past due, unless the original agreement is formally revised,
modified or substituted.

41.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the exposure that the Group may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial or insurance liabilities that are settled by cash or by another financial asset. Liquidity risk
also arises when excess funds accumulate resulting in the loss of opportunity to increase investment
returns.

Asset liability matching is a tool used by the Group to mitigate liquidity risks particularly in operations
with significant maturing short-term liabilities. For long-term insurance contracts, the Group has
adopted a policy of investing in assets with cash flow characteristics that closely match the cash flow
characteristics of its policy liabilities. The primary purpose of this matching is to ensure that cash
flows from these assets are synchronised with the timing and the amounts of payments that must be
paid to policyholders.

Group companies monitor cash inflows and outflows in each operating currency. Through experience
and monitoring, the Group is able to maintain sufficient liquid resources to meet current obligations.

Investment property may be held to back insurance liabilities. As these assets are relatively illiquid,
the insurers hold less than 2% - 10% of their total assets in investment property.

41.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

(@) Insurance liabilities

The Group’s monetary insurance liabilities mature in periods which are summarised in the following
table. Amounts are stated at their carrying values recognised in the financial statements and are
analysed by their expected due periods, which have been estimated by actuarial or other statistical
methods.

Expected discounted cash flows

Maturing Maturing Maturing

within 1to 5 after Total

1 year years 5 years
2011
Actuarial liabilities 105,910 354,577 1,415,990 1,876,477
Other insurance liabilities 272,061 188,662 103,201 563,924
Total 377,971 543,239 1,519,191 2,440,401
2010
Actuarial liabilities 79,292 326,522 1,347,898 1,753,712
Other insurance liabilities 244530 88,881 92,085 425,496
Total 323,822 415,403 1,439,983 2,179,208
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41.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and commitments

Contractual cash flow obligations of the Group in respect of its financial liabilities and commitments are summarised in the following table. Amounts are analysed by their earliest contractual maturity dates and
consist of the contractual un-discounted cash flows. Where the interest rate of an instrument for a future period has not been determined as of the date of the financial statements, it is assumed that the interest rate
then prevailing continues until final maturity.

2011 - Contractual un-discounted cash flows 2010 - Contractual un-discounted cash flows
ozrdv:in?: ‘ 1to3 After Total ozrdv:in?: ‘ 1to3 After Total
T years 5 years - years 5 years
Financial liabilities:
Investment contract liabilities 280,669 30,877 10,261 321,807 264,112 27,785 6,221 298,118
Notes and loans payable 11,250 308,963 - 320,213 42,929 52,963 151,845 247,737
Deposit and security liabilities:
Other funding instruments 213,949 51,066 15,755 280,770 179,998 37,413 32,707 250,118
Customer deposits 159,067 35,020 14,894 208,981 135,637 38,943 12,107 186,687
Structured products - 1,055 3,162 4,217 4,702 6,057 2,598 13,357
Securities sold for re-purchase 618,036 128 - 618,164 578,773 709 - 579,482
Derivative financial instruments 5,211 2,608 296 8,115 1,372 66 411 1,849
Bank overdrafts 3,657 - - 3,657 2,750 - - 2,750
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 163,936 5,628 28,842 198,406 149,510 7,054 30,894 187,458
Total financial liabilities 1,455,775 435,345 73,210 1,964,330 1,359,783 170,990 236,783 1,767,556
Off financial statement commitments:
Loan commitments 13,024 3,296 1,145 17,465 12,793 199 10 13,002
Non-cancellable operating lease and rental payments 3,858 7,703 7,569 19,130 4,253 6,214 - 10,467
Guarantees, acceptances and other financial facilities 1,277 4,831 387 12,495
Total off financial statements commitments 24,159 15,830 9,101 49,090 17,046 6,413 10 23,469
Total 1,479,934 451,175 82,311 2,013,420 1,376,829 177,403 236,793 1,791,025
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41.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

(c) Einancial and insurance assets

The contractual maturity periods of monetary financial assets and the expected maturity periods of monetary insurance assets are summarised in the following table. Amounts are stated at their carrying values
recognised in the financial statements. For this disclosure, monetary insurance assets comprise policy loans and reinsurance assets.

2011 - Contractual or expected discounted cash flows 2010 - Contractual or expected discounted cash flows
Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing Maturing
within 1t05 after Total within 1t05 after Total
1 year years 5 years 1 year years 5 years
Debt securities 421,159 879,013 1,806,768 3,106,940 373,984 682,412 1,552,156 2,608,552
Mortgage loans 19,878 47,570 205,532 272,980 25,527 32,884 238,671 297,082
Policy loans 6,482 14,241 103,903 124,626 3,958 14,155 105,137 123,250
Finance loans and finance leases 65,511 54,177 38,762 158,450 65,832 58,481 19,752 144,065
Securities purchased for re-sale 12,082 - - 12,082 28,530 - 37 28,567
Deposits 282,538 11,842 995 295,375 264,670 46,270 754 311,694
Derivative financial instruments 7,234 7,671 296 15,201 2,018 9,640 412 12,070
Reinsurance assets: share of actuarial liabilities 15,118 51,030 103,011 169,159 15,688 53,875 108,515 178,078
Reinsurance assets: other 56,035 51,639 12,868 120,542 44,921 13,366 4,574 62,861
Premiums receivable 150,225 - - 150,225 145,754 - - 145,754
Other accounts receivable 36,588 2,753 320 39,661 33,491 1,174 5,043 39,708
Cash resources 184,662 ° ° 184,662 218,635 ° ° 218,635
Total 1,257,512 1,119,936 2,272,455 4,649,903 1,223,008 912,257 2,035,051 4,170,316
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41.3  Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest
rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The occurrence of an adverse change in interest rates on invested assets may
result in financial loss to the Group in fulfilling the contractual returns on insurance and financial
liabilities.

The return on investments may be variable, fixed for a term or fixed to maturity. On reinvestment of a
matured investment, the returns available on the new investment may be significantly different from the
returns formerly achieved. This is known as reinvestment risk.

Guaranteed minimum returns exist within cash values of long term traditional insurance contracts, long
term universal life insurance contracts, annuity options, deposit administration liabilities and policy
funds on deposit. Where the returns credited exceed the guaranteed minima, the insurer usually has
the option to adjust the return from period to period. For other financial liabilities, returns are usually
contractual and may only be adjusted on contract renewal or contract re-pricing.

The Group is therefore exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase or decrease as a result of
such changes. Interest rate changes may also result in losses if asset and liability cash flows are not
closely matched with respect to timing and amount.

The Group is exposed to risk under embedded derivatives contained in a host insurance contract.
These risks include exposures to investment returns which may produce losses to the insurer arising
from the following contract features:
*  minimum annuity rates which are guaranteed to be applied at some future date;
*  minimum guaranteed death benefits which are applicable when the performance of an
interest bearing or unit linked fund falls below expectations;
*  minimum guaranteed returns in respect of cash values and universal life investment
accounts.

41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group manages its interest rate risk by a number of measures, including where feasible the
selection of assets which best match the maturity of liabilities, the offering of investment contracts
which match the maturity profile of assets, the re-pricing of interest rates on loans receivable, policy
contracts and financial liabilities in response to market changes. In certain Caribbean markets, where
availability of suitable investments is often a challenge, the Group holds many of its fixed rate debt
securities to maturity and therefore mitigates the transient interest rate changes in these markets.
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41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

The table following summarises the exposures to interest rates on the Group’s monetary insurance and financial liabilities (excluding actuarial liabilities which are disclosed in note 43). It includes liabilities at
carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. Insurance liabilities are categorised by their expected maturities.

2011 2010
Exposure Exposure Exposure Not Exposure Exposure Exposure Not
within 1to5 after exposed to Total within 1to5 after exposed to Total
1 year years 5 years interest 1 year years 5 years interest
Other insurance liabilities 237,565 5,062 54,660 266,637 563,924 183,753 5,430 56,134 180,179 425,496
Investment contract liabilities 279,237 27,895 8,357 70 315,559 257,945 26,400 5,096 4,897 294,338
Notes and loans payable - 236,553 - (4,023) 232,530 30,527 7,155 145,838 (1,635) 181,885
Deposit and security liabilities:
Other funding instruments 204,615 42,657 11,477 2,775 261,524 174,792 27,445 27,033 347 229,617
Customer deposits 154,203 30,938 7,973 990 194,104 125,948 31,479 9,655 1,052 168,134
Structured products - - - 3,184 3,184 2,309 740 1,533 1,073 5,655
Securities sold for re-purchase 609,043 116 - 3,822 612,981 571,198 649 - 3,869 575,716
Derivative financial instruments - - - 8,115 8,115 - - - 1,849 1,849
Bank overdrafts 3,657 - - - 3,657 2,580 - - - 2,580
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18 - - 194,369 194,387 264 108 - 186,863 187,235
Total 1,488,338 343,221 82,467 475,939 2,389,965 1,349,316 99,406 245,289 378,494 2,072,505
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41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

The table following summarises the exposures to interest rate and reinvestment risks of the Group’s monetary insurance and financial assets. Assets are stated at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of
contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. Reinsurance assets and policy loans are categorised by their expected maturities.

2011 2010
Exposure Exposure Exposure Not Exposure Exposure Exposure Not

within 1to5 after exposed to Total within 1to5 after exposed to Total

1 year years 5 years interest 1 year years 5 years interest
Debt securities 666,613 779,874 1,604,613 55,840 3,106,940 580,495 567,323 1,416,369 44365 2,608,552
Equity securities - - - 106,512 106,512 - - - 111,552 111,552
Mortgage loans 79,786 46,907 142,052 4,235 272,980 84,318 27,457 180,850 4,457 297,082
Policy loans 5,653 14,496 100,858 3,619 124,626 3,220 13,991 102,400 3,639 123,250
Finance loans and leases 66,883 53,959 36,423 1,185 158,450 64,476 58,318 20,104 1,167 144,065
Securities purchased for re-sale 12,017 - - 65 12,082 28,401 - 37 129 28,567
Deposits 277,498 11,811 670 5,396 295,375 307,682 1,389 431 2,192 311,694
Derivative financial instruments 2,829 - - 12,372 15,201 845 1,661 - 9,564 12,070
Reinsurance assets: other 34,835 94 4,564 81,049 120,542 18,216 114 4,574 39,957 62,861
Premiums receivable 715 - - 149,510 150,225 72 - - 145,682 145,754
Other accounts receivable 415 359 17 38,870 39,661 415 1,159 - 38,134 39,708
Cash resources 119,042 - - 65,620 184,662 122,528 1,568 - 94,539 218,635
Total 1,266,286 907,500 1,889,197 524,273 4,587,256 1,210,668 672,980 1,724,765 495,377 4,103,790
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41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

The table below summarises the average interest yields on financial assets and liabilities held during
the year.

2011 2010
Financial assets:
Debt securities 7.3% 8.1%
Mortgage loans 8.1% 8.3%
Policy loans 7.7% 8.6%
Finance loans and finance leases 11.5% 11.4%
Securities purchased for re-sale 6.2% 5.6%
Deposits 3.1% 2.5%
Financial liabilities
Investment contract liabilities 8.3% 7.5%
Notes and loans payable 8.6% 8.7%
Other funding instruments 2.8% 2.9%
Deposits 4.2% 5.3%
Securities sold for re-purchase 5.3% 7.0%

a) Sensitivity

Sensitivity to interest rate risk is considered by operating subsidiaries. The effects of changes in
interest rates of assets backing actuarial liabilities are disclosed in note 43.4. The Group’s property
and casualty operations are not exposed to a significant degree of interest rate risk, since the majority
of its interest bearing instruments has short-term maturities. The sensitivity of the Group’s principal
operating subsidiaries engaged in banking, investment management and other financial services are
considered in the following paragraphs.

41.3  Interest rate risk (continued)

Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited and its subsidiaries (PCFS)

The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, on net income and total comprehensive income (TCI) of PCFS.

The sensitivity of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on net income based on
the floating rate of financial assets and financial liabilities. The sensitivity of TCl is calculated by revaluing
fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates. The
correlation of a number of variables will have an impact on market risk. It should be noted that
movements in these variables are non-linear and are assessed individually.

2011 2010
Change in Effect on Change in Effect on
Effect on . Effect on
interest rate net interest rate net
: TCI , TCI

JVMD usD income JVMD © USD income
-1% - 0.5% 2,413 8,727 : -1% -0.5% 1,841 10,112
+1% @ +0.5% (2,413) (9,071): +2% : +0.5% (3,401) (14,974)

41.4 Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates since its
financial assets and liabilities are denominated in a number of different currencies.

In order to manage the risk associated with movements in currency exchange rates, the Group seeks

to maintain investments and cash in each operating currency, which are sufficient to match liabilities
denominated in the same currency. Exceptions are made to invest limited proportions in United
States dollar assets which are held to back liabilities in Caribbean currencies. Management considers
that these assets diversify the range of investments available in the Caribbean, and in the long-term
are likely to either maintain capital value and/or provide satisfactory returns.

Assets and liabilities by currency are summarised in the following tables.
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41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

US$ 000 equivalents of balances denominated in

2011 . . Other
Barbados $ Jamaica $ Trinidad $ UK £ Us$ Currencies Total

ASSETS
Financial investments(?) 370,443 786,116 309,268 67,514 2,053,524 398,789 3,985,654
Reinsurance assets 5,637 1,129 10,215 69,918 195,317 7,485 289,701
Receivables (1) 17,047 24,372 9,364 49,183 54,481 35,439 189,886
Cash resources 10,106 9,557 34,868 29,960 60,963 39,208 184,662

403,233 821,174 363,715 216,575 2,364,285 480,921 4,649,903
Other assets @ 212,963 158,255 83,145 109,259 96,002 54,546 714,170
Total assets 616,196 979,429 446,860 325,834 2,460,287 535,467 5,364,073
LIABILITIES
Actuarial liabilities 396,429 306,089 264,960 2,854 789,036 117,109 1,876,477
Other insurance liabilities() 64,067 20,260 25,328 181,124 143,756 129,389 563,924
Investment contracts 34,254 73,461 98,988 - 66,782 42,074 315,559
Notes and loans payable 13,078 - - - 219,452 - 232,530
Deposit and security liabilities 58,299 377,336 3,215 9,558 614,214 20,943 1,083,565
Provisions 13,248 9,857 7,443 6,677 433 6,514 44172
Accounts payable and accruals 6,601 41,698 11,168 20,486 83,995 30,439 194,387

585,976 828,701 411,102 220,699 1,917,668 346,468 4,310,614
Other liabilities 14,824 13,850 18,880 76,825 85,592 45,955 255,926
Total liabilities 600,800 842,551 429,982 297,524 2,003,260 392,423 4,566,540
Net position 15,396 136,878 16,878 28,310 457,027 143,044 797,533
() Monetary balances (2 Non-monetary balances, income tax balances and retirement plan assets
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41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

US$ 000 equivalents of balances denominated in

2010 ) . Other
Barbados $ Jamaica $ Trinidad $ UK £ Us$ currencies Total

ASSETS
Financial investments(?) 325,300 660,971 306,771 66,939 1,836,535 328,764 3,525,280
Reinsurance assets 4,336 515 7,791 17,425 203,283 7,589 240,939
Receivables (1) 11,196 27,524 9,293 48,788 53,431 35,230 185,462
Cash resources 14,242 9,260 24,456 33,506 75,669 61,502 218,635

355,074 698,270 348,311 166,658 2,168,918 433,085 4,170,316
Other assets @ 217,804 141,862 80,029 98,314 105,278 54,227 697,514
Total assets 572,878 840,132 428,340 264,972 2,274,196 487,312 4,867,830
LIABILITIES
Actuarial liabilities 403,035 248,201 238,997 2,085 729,644 131,750 1,753,712
Other insurance liabilities() 62,412 20,179 19,739 146,242 120,193 56,731 425,496
Investment contracts 32,251 69,758 90,011 - 63,789 38,529 294,338
Notes and loans payable - 7,192 - - 174,693 - 181,885
Deposit and security liabilities 53,573 342,108 7,299 4,216 562,405 13,950 983,551
Provisions 11,467 7,772 6,539 4,448 2,669 5,939 38,834
Accounts payable and accruals 20,022 36,538 19,346 18,253 77,242 15,834 187,235

582,760 731,748 381,931 175,244 1,730,635 262,733 3,865,051
Other liabilities 14,969 12,204 17,943 79,952 88,352 50,518 263,938
Total liabilities 597,729 743,952 399,874 255,196 1,818,987 313,251 4,128,989
Net position (24,851) 96,180 28,466 9,776 455,209 174,061 738,841
() Monetary balances (2 Non-monetary balances, income tax balances and retirement plan assets
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41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

(@) Sensitivity

The matching of assets and liabilities by currency prevents economic exposure to currency risk, but it
does not prevent exposure to exchange gains or losses in the income statement created as a result of
the accounting treatment of monetary and non-monetary items. The gross and reinsurers’ share of the
provision for unearned premiums, and the gross and reinsurers share of deferred policy acquisition
costs are non-monetary assets and liabilities which are translated at their average historic rate. This
means that these items in the statement of financial position are carried at a different exchange rate to
the related assets and liabilities, such as policy benefits payable, premium receivables and cash, with
the resulting exchange differences that are created being recognised in the income statement.

The phenomenon in the foregoing paragraph occurs in the Sagicor at Lloyd’s Syndicate 1206
operations, which writes a significant proportion of its insurance business in currencies other than the
pound sterling, which is its functional currency. Its impact on reported net income is disclosed in note
4.1 as foreign exchange unwinding.

41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to currency risk in its operating currencies whose values have noticeably
fluctuated against the United States dollar (USD).

The exposure to currency risk may result in three types of risk, namely:

J Currency risk relating to the future cash flows of monetary balances

This occurs when a monetary balance is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the reporting unit to which it belongs. In this instance, a change in currency exchange rates results
in the monetary balances being retranslated at the date of the financial statements and the exchange
gain or loss is taken to income (note 26).

. Currency risk of reported results of foreign operations

This occurs when a reporting unit’s functional currency depreciates or appreciates in value when
retranslated to the USD, which is the Group’s presentational currency. In this instance, the conversion
of the reporting unit's results at a different rate of exchange results in either less or more income being
consolidated in the Group’s income statement.

. Currency risk of the Group’s investment in foreign operations

This occurs when a reporting unit's functional currency depreciates or appreciates in value when
retranslated to the USD, which is the Group’s presentational currency. In this instance, the conversion
of the reporting unit's assets and liabilities at a different rate of exchange results in a currency loss or
gain which is recorded in the currency translation reserve (note 22). If the reporting unit was disposed
of, either wholly or in part, then the corresponding accumulated loss or gain in the currency translation
reserve would be transferred to income.

The operating currencies whose values noticeably fluctuate against the USD are the Jamaica dollar
(JMD) and the Pound Sterling (GBP). The theoretical impact of JMD and GBP currency risk on
reported results and of the Group’s investment in foreign operations is considered below.
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41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

(i) JMD currency risk

The effect of a 5% depreciation in the JMD relative to the USD arising from JMD reporting units as of

December 31, 2011 and for the year then ended are considered in the following table.

Amounts denominated in Total Effect of a 5%
JMD usD amounts depreciation
Financial position:
Assets 975,474 728,782 1,704,256 (48,774)
Liabilities 842,382 508,925 1,351,307 (42,119)
Net position 133,092 219,857 352,949 (6,655)
Represented by:
Currency risk of the Group’s investment in foreign operations (6,655)
Income statement:
Revenue 311,790 49,721 361,511 (4,534)
Benefits (167,712) (16,420) (184,132) 8,386
Expenses (100,319) (4,046) (104,365) 5,016
Income taxes (10,244) - (10,244) 512
Net income 33,515 29,255 62,770 9,380
Represented by:
Currency risk relating to the future cash flows of monetary balances 11,056
Currency risk of reported results of foreign operations (1,676)
9,380

A 5% appreciation in the JMD relative to the USD would have equal and opposite effects to those

disclosed above.

41.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

(ii) _GBP currency risk

The effect of a 10% depreciation in the GBP relative to the USD arising from GBP reporting units as of
December 31, 2011 and for the year then ended are considered in the following table.

Amounts denominated in Total Effect of a 10%
GBP uSsD amounts depreciation
Financial position:
Assets 316,024 224,371 540,395 (31,616)
Liabilities 280,701 193,091 473,792 (28,082)
Net position 35,323 31,280 66,603 (3,534)
Represented by:
Currency risk of the Group’s investment in foreign operations (3,534)
Income statement:
Revenue 133,313 125,107 258,420 (4,907)
Benefits (68,704) (82,636) (151,340) 6,869
Expenses (82,843) (50,746) (133,589) 8,283
Income taxes 8,351 - 8,351 (835)
Net income (9,883) (8,275) (18,158) 9,410
Represented by:
Currency risk relating to the future cash flows of monetary balances 8,423
Currency risk of reported results of foreign operations 987
9,410

A 10% appreciation in the GBP relative to the USD would have equal and opposite effects to those

disclosed above.
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments

(@) Financial instruments carried at amortised cost

The carrying values of the Group’s non-traded financial assets and financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost approximate their fair value, except as disclosed in notes 9, 15, 16 and 17.

In estimating the fair value of non-traded financial assets, the Group uses a variety of methods such
as obtaining dealer quotes and using discounted cash flow techniques. Where discounted cash flow
techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are discounted at market derived rates for
government securities in the same country of issue as the security; for non-government securities, an
interest spread is added to the derived rate for a similar government security rate according to the
perceived additional risk of the non-government security.

In assessing the fair value of non-traded financial liabilities, the Group uses a variety of methods
including obtaining dealer quotes for specific or similar instruments and the use of internally
developed pricing models, such as the use of discounted cash flows. If the non-traded liability is
backed by a pool of assets, then its value is equivalent to the value of the underlying assets.

(b)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

Financial instruments carried at fair value in the financial statements are measured according to a fair
value hierarchy which reflects the significance of market inputs in the valuation. This hierarchy is
described and discussed in sections (i) to (iii) below.

(i) Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange or other independent source, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The Group considers that
market transactions should occur with sufficient frequency that is appropriate for the particular market,
when measured over a continuous period preceding the date of the financial statements. If there is
no data available to substantiate the frequency of market transactions of a financial instrument, then
the instrument is not classified as Level 1.

41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Level 2 — inputs that are observable for the instrument, either directly or indirectly

A financial instrument is classified as Level 2 if:
e The fair value is derived from quoted prices of similar instruments which would be classified
as Level 1; or
e The fair value is determined from quoted prices that are observable but there is no data
available to substantiate frequent market trading of the instrument.

The techniques and methods described in 41.5 (a) for non traded financial assets and liabilities may
also be used in determining the fair value of Level 2 instruments.

Certain of the Group’s policy liabilities are unit linked, i.e. derive their value from a pool of assets
which are carried at fair value. The Group assigns a fair value hierarchy of Level 2 to the contract
liability if the liability represents the unadjusted fair value of the underlying pool of assets.

(i) Level 3— inputs for the instrument that are not based on observable market data.

A financial instrument is classified as Level 3 if:
e The fair value is derived from quoted prices of similar instruments that are observable and
which would be classified as Level 2; or
e The fair value is derived from inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Level 3 available for sale securities comprise primarily of corporate and government agency debt
instruments issued in the Caribbean, with significant amounts in Jamaica and Trinidad. The fair values
of these instruments have been derived from December 31 market yields of government instruments
of similar durations in the country of issue of the instruments.

Level 3 assets designated include mortgage loans and securities purchased for re-sale for which the
full income return and capital returns accrue to holders of unit linked policy and deposit administration
contracts. These assets are valued with inputs other than observable market data.

The techniques and methods described in 41.5 (a) for non traded financial assets and liabilities may
also used in determining the fair value of Level 3 instruments.
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The following tables present the financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy.

2011 2010
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Available for sale securities:
Debt securities 470,805 1,548,210 37,442 2,056,457 377,490 1,323,030 42,315 1,742,835
Equity securities 49,717 19,170 8,645 77,532 57,770 22,038 7,905 87,713
520,522 1,567,380 46,087 2,133,989 435,260 1,345,068 50,220 1,830,548
Investments at fair value through income:
Debt securities 19,205 88,030 6,497 113,732 14,699 79,283 2,351 96,333
Equity securities 14,742 10,834 3,404 28,980 15,548 3,969 4,322 23,839
Derivative financial instruments - 6,894 8,307 15,201 - 889 11,181 12,070
Mortgage loans - - 40,674 40,674 - - 46,876 46,876
Securities purchased for re-sale - - 492 492 - - 2,982 2,982
33,947 105,758 59,374 199,079 30,247 84,141 67,712 182,100
Total assets 554,469 1,673,138 105,461 2,333,068 465,507 1,429,209 117,932 2,012,648
Total assets by percentage 24% 2% 4% 100% 23% 1% 6% 100%

There have been no material transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2011 and 2010.
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Policy liabilities:

Unit linked deposit administration liabilities

Deposit and security liabilities:
Structured products

Derivative financial instruments

Total liabilities

Total liabilities by percentage

2011 2010
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
93,000 93,000 - 83,847 - 83,847
3,184 3,184 - - 5,655 5,655
1,291 6,824 - 8,115 1,328 521 1,849
1,291 6,824 3,184 11,299 1,328 521 5,655 7,504
1,291 99,824 3,184 104,299 1,328 84,368 5,655 91,351
1% 96% 3% 100% 1% 93% 6% 100%

There have been no material transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2011 and 2010.

For Level 3 instruments, reasonable changes in inputs which could be applied to the valuation of available for sale instruments would affect other comprehensive income. Reasonable changes in inputs which
could be applied to the valuations of Level 3 instruments designated at fair value are largely offset in income, since the changes in fair value are borne by contract holders.
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41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

The following table presents the movements in Level 3 instruments for the year.

Balance, beginning of year

Additions

Issues

Transfers in

Fair value changes recorded in income

Fair value changes recorded in other
comprehensive income

Disposals and divestitures
Settlements

Transfers out

Effect of exchange rate changes
Balance, end of year

Fair value changes recorded in income
for instruments held at end of year

(c) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from changes in the market values of its equity securities.

2011

2010 2011 2010
Available Investments
for sale at fair value Derivative Total Total Structured Total Total
securities t.hrough instruments assets assets products liabilities liabilities
income
50,220 56,531 11,181 117,932 161,619 5,655 5,655 5,299
11,618 16,068 3,827 31,513 16,857 390
- 48
50 - 50 95
943 521 (4,891) (3,427) 3,751
713 - 713 2,206
(17,098) (21,793) (1,790) (40,681) (53,684)
- (2,427) (2,427) (77)
- - (15,507)
(359) (260) (20) (639) 2,595 (44) (44) (5)
46,087 51,067 8,307 105,461 117,932 3,184 3,184 5,655
17 343 360 3,655

portfolio and by maintaining diversified holdings within each portfolio of equity securities.

The Group mitigates this risk by establishing overall limits of equity holdings for each investment

161



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

41.5 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(d)  Sensitivity

The sensitivity to fair value changes in equity securities arises from those instruments classified as
available for sale. There is no significant sensitivity to those instruments classified at fair value through
income, since fair value changes are borne by policy contract holders.

The effects of an across the board 20% change in equity prices of the Group’s available for sale
equity securities as of December 31, 2011 on total comprehensive income before tax (TCIBT) are as
follows.

Available for sale equities Carrying value 2(::/: :(I;Ia;?e
Listed on Caribbean stock exchanges and markets 25,094 5,019
Listed on US stock exchanges and markets 42,811 8,562
Listed on other exchanges and markets 9,627 1,925
77,532 15,506

41.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are carried at fair value and presented in the financial statements as separate assets and
liabilities. Asset values represent the cost to the Group of replacing all fransactions with a fair value in
the Group’s favour assuming that all relevant counterparties default at the same time, and that
transactions can be replaced instantaneously. Liability values represent the cost to the Group
counterparties of replacing all their transactions with the Group with a fair value in their favour if the
Group were to default. Derivative assets and liabilities on different transactions are only set off if the
transactions are with the same counterparty, a legal right of set-off exists and the cash flows are
intended to be settled on a net basis.

41.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

The contract or notional amounts of derivatives and their fair values are set out below.

2011

Derivatives held for trading:
Currency forwards

Exchange traded funds — short sale
Equity indexed options

Interest rate swap

2010

Derivatives held for trading:
Currency forwards

Exchange traded funds - short sale
Foreign exchange collar option
Equity indexed options

Interest rate swap

Contract/ Fair value

notional

amount Assets Liabilities

275 6,573 6,503

1,292 - 1,291

75,380 5,799 321

20,008 2,829 -

96,955 15,201 8,115

- 71 -

1,328 - 1,328

- 298 -

47,905 9,197 521

19,986 2,506 -

69,219 12,072 1,849
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41.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

(i) Currency forward

Currency forwards represent commitments to buy and sell foreign currencies on a gross basis at
future dates at specified prices. The credit risk is evaluated for each contract and is collateralised
where deemed necessary. The currency forward contracts are settled on a gross basis. The
contracts expire on various settlement dates.

(ii) Exchange traded funds — short sale

During 2009, the Group entered into transactions to sell euro currencies that were borrowed from a
broker. The Group benefits if there is a decline in the asset price between the sale and the repurchase
date. The contract expires in January 2012.

(iii) Equity indexed options

The Group has purchased equity indexed options in respect of structured products and in respect of
life and annuity insurance contracts.

For certain structured product contracts with customers (note 17), equity indexed options give the
holder the ability to participate in the upward movement of an equity index while being protected from
downward risk. The Group is exposed to credit risk on purchased options only, and only to the extent
of the carrying amount, which is their fair value.

For certain universal life and annuity insurance contracts, an insurer has purchased custom call
options that are selected to materially replicate the policy benefits that are associated with the equity
indexed components within the policy contract. These options are appropriate to reduce or minimise
the risk of movements in specific equity markets. Credit risk that the insurer has regarding the options
is mitigated by ensuring that the counterparty is sufficiently capitalised. Both the asset and the
associated actuarial liability are valued at fair market value on a consistent basis, with the change in
values being reflected in the income statement. The valuations combine external valuations with
internal calculations.

41.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

(iv) Interest rate swap

The fixed interest rate is 10.2% and the floating rate is USD-LIBOR-BBA. The amounts and timing of
future cash flows, representing both principal and interest flows are based on their contractual terms.
The critical terms of the interest rate swap had been negotiated to match the terms of an available-
for-sale financial instrument. Both the interest rate swap and the floating rate available-for-sale
financial instrument mature in 2015. The interest rate swap is settled on a net basis.

On January 1, 2010 the Group discontinued hedge accounting as the hedge relationship was no
longer effective. The hedge accounting gains and losses up to December 31, 2009 will be transferred
to the statement of income as interest income is recognised on the floating rate financial instrument.
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42. INSURANCE RISK - PROPERTY & CASUALTY CONTRACTS

Property and casualty insurers in the Group are exposed to insurance risks such as underwriting,
claims, availability of reinsurance and claims liability estimation, and to credit risk in respect of
reinsurance counterparties.

The capital supporting Sagicor Europe’s Lloyd’s syndicate 1206 operations is derived in part from the
significant insurance, financial and operational risks and how they are identified, quantified, measured,
assessed and managed. The risk management process has the following features:
e The use of appropriate and reliable tools, including risk indicators, risk and control self
assessments and stress and scenario testing.
» Executive Directors, management and staff are accountable for managing risk in line with
established roles and responsibilities.
e Compliance with relevant legislation, regulatory requirements, guidance and codes of
practice.
» Assurance that the syndicates are managing all significant risks.

Insurance and other risks are recorded within the risk register with the prime risks stresses to
calculate the syndicate’s capital requirements (ICA — see also note 45.2(b)).

42. INSURANCE RISK - PROPERTY & CASUALTY CONTRACTS (continued)

The Corporation of Lloyd's oversees the operations of all syndicates. Lloyd’s uses various tools to
control and monitor insurance risk, including:
 Setting guidelines for catastrophe exposure and reinsurance usage,
e Setting realistic disaster scenarios to assist in the measurement and management of
catastrophe exposures at syndicate level,
 Establishing and monitoring underwriting standards, including claims and exposure
management principles,
e Reviewing annual underwriting year business plans and determining appropriate capital
requirements.

In the submission of annual plans, consideration is given to cycle management, historical and
projected performance, reinsurance ceded, syndicate specific issues and franchise guidelines. The
key risks assessed are:

* Exposures ( premium and loss ratios),

» Catastrophe losses and realistic disaster scenarios,

 Claims reserves.
Syndicates submit quarterly returns and performance is benchmarked against plan.

Sagicor General Insurance is the other insurer within the Group that issues a significant amount of
property and casualty insurance contracts. It operates mainly in Barbados and Trinidad and Tobago
and has experienced management, supported by external professional expertise, which manages all
aspects of insurance risk.

The principal insurance risks affecting property and casualty contracts are disclosed below. These
apply to both direct insurance written and reinsurance assumed by insurers.
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42. INSURANCE RISK - PROPERTY & CASUALTY CONTRACTS (continued)
42.1 Underwriting risk

Risks are priced to achieve an adequate return on capital on the insurer’s business as a whole. This
return is expressed as a premium target return. Budgeted expenses and reinsurance costs are
included in the pricing process. Various pricing methodologies are used and are generally applied by
class of insurance. The principal methodologies are:

¢ Benchmark exposure rates,

¢ External stochastic models,

¢ Internal stochastic models,

¢ Historic experience.
All methods produce a technical price, which is compared against the market to establish a price
margin.

Pricing techniques are subject to constant review from independent pricing audits, claims patterns,
underwriters” input, market developments and actuarial best practice. There are minimum pricing
margins for each class of business.

Annually, the overall risk appetite is reviewed and approved. The risk appetite is defined as the
maximum loss the insurer is willing to incur from a single event or proximate cause. Risks are only
underwritten if they fall within the risk appetite. Individual risks are assessed for their contribution to
aggregate exposures by nature of risk, by geography, by correlation with other risks, before
acceptance. Underwriting a risk may include specific tests and enquiries which determine the insurer’s
assessment of the risk. Insurers may also establish deductibles, exclusions, and coverage limits which
will limit the potential losses incurred.

Inaccurate pricing or inappropriate underwriting of insurance contracts, which may arise from poor
pricing or lack of underwriting control, can lead to either financial loss or reputational damage to the
insurer.

421 Underwriting risk (continued)

Sagicor Europe writes a proportion of its premium by delegated authority to insurance intermediaries.
Due to delays in the notification of complete and accurate premium income written, the premium
income earned and the associated reinsurance and commission balances may have to be estimated.
Accordingly, premium income written has to be re-assessed in future periods and adjustments made
to earned premium, reinsurance and commissions. These intermediaries are assessed and are
subject to authority limits and reporting procedures. The performance of contracts written by each
delegated authority is monitored periodically.

42.2 Claims risk

Incurred claims are triggered by an event and may be categorised as:

o attritional losses, which are expected to be of reasonable frequency and are less than
established threshold amounts;

e large losses, which are expected to be relatively infrequent, are greater than established
threshold amounts;

e catastrophic losses, which are an aggregation of losses arising from one incident or
proximate cause, affecting one or more classes of insurance. These losses are infrequent
and are generally very substantial.

The insurer records claims based on submissions made by claimants. In certain instances, the insurer
obtains additional information from loss adjustors, medical reports and other specialist sources.
However, the possibility exists that claim submissions are either fraudulent or are not covered under
the terms of the policy. The initial claim recorded may only be an estimate, which has to be refined
over time until final settlement occurs. In addition, from the pricing methodology used for risks, it is
assumed that at any particular date, there are claims incurred but not reported (IBNR).

Claims risk is the risk that incurred claims may exceed expected losses. Claims risk may arise from
e invalid claim submissions;
* the frequency of incurred claims;
 the severity of incurred claims;
* the development of incurred claims.
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42.2 Claims risk (continued)

Claims risk may be concentrated in geographic locations, altering the risk profile of the insurer. The
most significant exposure for this type of risk arises where a single event could result in a large
number of claims. The concentration of insurance risk may be illustrated by the distribution of
premium revenue by geographical location and by type of risks assumed.

Region 201,1 Property Motor ACCi.der.]t. & Total
premium liability
United Kingdom Gross 20,872 105,257 49,561 175,690
Net 15,603 93,069 45,447 154,119
Europe & Ireland Gross 8,751 1,428 25,723 35,902
Net 5,065 1,216 22,479 28,760
USA Gross 79,782 142 43,035 122,959
Net 68.370 126 37,669 106,165
Canada Gross 23,022 818 18,486 42,326
Net 19,908 696 15,638 36,242
Caribbean Gross 38,648 21,730 10,058 70,436
Net 7,268 10,543 5,368 23,179
Asia & Australasia Gross 17,499 259 46,508 64,266
Net 7,255 221 40,493 47,969
Rest of the world Gross 10,973 313 5,861 17,147
Net 8,332 267 5,206 13,805
Total Gross 199,547 129,947 199,232 528,726
Net 131,801 106,138 172,300 410,239

Concentration of risk is mitigated through risk selection, line sizes, event limits, quota share
reinsurance and excess of l0ss reinsurance.

42.2 Claims risk (continued)

The Group assesses its exposures by modelling realistic disaster scenarios of potential catastrophic
events. Claims arising from wind storms, earthquakes, floods, terrorism, failure or collapse of a major
corporation (with liability insurance cover) and events triggering multi coverage corporate liability
claims are considered to be the potential sources of catastrophic losses arising from insurance risks. "

Six realistic disaster scenarios modelled for 2011 are presented below and resulted in estimated gross
and net losses. Amounts are stated in currency 000's.

Gross loss Net loss

Prescribed Lloyd’s scenarios:

California Quake - San Francisco. A $78,000,000 industry property
(shake and fire following) loss, including consideration of demand
surge, from an earthquake originating from the San Andreas Fault
(North) near San Francisco.

$71,807 $13,822

North East Windstorm: A $78,000,000 industry loss, for a major
hurricane making landfall in New York State, with damage also $69,078 $29,707
occurring in neighbouring states.

Canadian Earthquake — British Columbia. Market return period 1 in

£28,570 £11,490
250 years

A Northern European windstorm hitting southern England, France,
Belgium, Netherlands, Luxembourg, Germany and Denmark, with an £25,260 £9,736
industry property loss of €23,000,000

Scenarios developed by management:

Florida Caribbean hurricane clash. Storm is a category 4 at US
landfall. Property loss is across Bahamas, Puerto Rico, US Virgin $76,194 $33,272
Islands, St. Martin & Florida.

A Barbados and St. Lucia windstorm having a 250 year return period. $238,717 $5,000
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42.2 Claims risk (continued)

Therefore, the occurrence of one or more catastrophic events in any year may have a material impact
on the reported net income of the Group.

42.3 Reinsurance risk

To limit the potential loss for single policy claims and for aggregations of catastrophe claims, the
insurer may cede certain levels of risk to a reinsurer. Reinsurance however does not discharge the
insurer’s liability. Reinsurance risk is the risk that reinsurance is not available to mitigate the potential
loss on an insurance policy. The risk may arise from

 the credit risk of holding a recovery from a reinsurer;

 the unavailability of reinsurance cover in the market at adequate levels or prices,

 the failure of a reinsurance layer upon the occurrence of a catastrophic event.

The Group selects reinsurers which have well established capability to meet their contractual
obligations and which generally have a Sagicor credit risk rating of 1 or 2. Insurers also place
reinsurance coverage with various reinsurers to limit their exposure to any one reinsurer.

The reinsurance programmes are negotiated annually with reinsurers for coverage generally over a 12
month period. It is done by class of insurance, though for some classes there is aggregation of
classes and / or subdivision of classes by the location of risk.

For its property risks, insurers use quota share and excess of loss catastrophe reinsurance treaties to
obtain reinsurance cover. Catastrophe reinsurance is obtained for multiple claims arising from one
event or occurring within a specified time period. However, treaty limits may apply and may expose
the insurer to further claim exposure. Under some treaties, when treaty limits are reached, the insurer
may be required to pay an additional premium to reinstate the reinsurance coverage. Excess of loss
catastrophe reinsurance treaties typically cover up to four separate catastrophic events per year.

For other insurance risks, insurers limit their exposure by event or per person by excess of loss or
quota share treaties.

42.3 Reinsurance risk (continued)

Retention limits represent the level of risk retained by the insurer. Coverage in excess of these limits is
ceded to reinsurers up to the treaty limit. Claim amounts in excess of reinsurance treaty limits revert to
the insurer. Principal features of retention programs used for Sagicor Europe and for Sagicor General
are summarised in the tables below. However, these arrangements are not exhaustive and do not
represent a complete schedule of all reinsurance arrangements for each line of insurance business
written.

SAGICOR EUROPE

Type of risk Retention by insurers - currency amounts in thousands

e maximum retention of $2,500 per risk;

e maximum retention of $15,000 for 1stloss, $5,000 for 2" |oss,
for catastrophe exposed events;

e treaty limits apply.

Property direct and facultative

e maximum retention of $2,000 per risk;

e maximum retention of $3,000 per event;

Personal accident e maximum retention of $2,000 per person

e maximum retention of £300 per travel and medical risk;
e treaty limits apply

e maximum retention of £2,000 per event;
e maximum retention £2,000 for 15t loss, £1,000 for 29 |oss;
e treaty limits apply.

Special lines (liability) and
liability

e maximum retention of £5,000 for 15t loss, £5,000 for 29 |oss;

International treaty property -
treaty limits apply.

e 70% quota share retention per event;
Direct motor e maximum retention - £500 per event;
e treaty limits apply.
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42.3 Reinsurance risk (continued)

SAGICOR GENERAL
Type of risk Retention by insurers - currency amounts in thousands
e maximum retention of $4,500 for a single event;
e maximum retention of $5,000 for a catastrophic event;
Property e quota share retention to maximum of 30% in respect of treaty limits;
e quota share retention is further reduced to a maximum of $500 per
event.

e maximum retention of $500 for a single event;
Motor and liability e quota share retention a maximum of 50% in respect of treaty limits;
e treaty limits apply.

e maximum retention of $75 for a single event;

Miscellaneous accident o
o treaty limits apply.

e maximum retention of $250 for a single risk;

Engineering business . : o :
* treaty limits apply for material damage and for liability claims.

¢ catastrophic excess of loss reinsurance cover is available per event

Property, motor, and : .
for amounts in excess of treaty limits;

engineering

* ftreaty limits apply to catastrophic excess of loss coverage.

The effects of reinsurance ceded are disclosed in notes 14, 24 and 27. Information on reinsurance
balances are disclosed in notes 10, 20 and 41.

In order to assess the potential reinsurance recoveries on the occurrence of a catastrophic insurance
event, the Sagicor credit risk ratings of the reinsurance recoverable are assessed using the following
realistic disaster scenarios:

* California Quake - San Francisco. A $78,000,000 industry property (shake and fire following)
loss, including consideration of demand surge, from an earthquake originating from the San
Andreas Fault (North) near San Francisco;

* Hurricane with a 250 year return period affecting Barbados and St. Lucia and an earthquake
with a 250 year return period affecting Trinidad within a 24 hour period.

42.3 Reinsurance risk (continued)

The reinsurance recoveries derived from the above are assigned internal credit ratings as follows:

R:it?:g Classification EX:;:: e Expo;)ure
1 Minimal risk 244,876 30%
2 Low risk 577,791 70%
3 Moderate risk - 0%
4 Acceptable risk - 0%
5 Average risk - 0%
6 Higher risk - 0%
7 Special mention - 0%
8 Substandard - 0%
TOTAL 822,667 100%

42.4 Estimation of claim liabilities

Due to the inherent uncertainties in estimating claim liabilities described above and in note 3.5, the
development of an insurer's claims in the course of settlement provides a measure of its ability to
estimate the ultimate value of claims incurred. In the following tables, estimates of total ultimate
claims incurred and recoverable from reinsurers for each year are provided at successive year ends.
The most recent estimate is then reconciled to the recognised liability.

For Sagicor Europe, the disclosures are by underwriting year. Underwriting year is the period to which
a policy’s annual premium has been allocated.

For Sagicor General, the disclosures are by accident year. Accident year is the financial period in
which the claim is incurred.
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42.4 Estimation of claim liabilities (continued)

SAGICOR EUROPE - BY UNDERWRITING YEAR Prior years(! 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total
Estimate of gross claims incurred as of December 31 47,687 55,412 109,125 191,625 266,859 242,228 912,936
One year later 36,285 57,064 118,348 215,736 355,821
Two years later 34,267 58,029 133,434 204,015
Three years later 33,318 58,525 137,089
Four years later 32,649 59,003
Five years later 31,835
Most recent year 31,835 59,003 137,089 204,015 355,821 242,228 1,029,991
Cumulative payments to date (31,058) (55,226) (104,745) (148,869) (146,828) (12,646) (499,372)
Claims on unearned premiums = - - (240) (9,294) (118,635) (128,169)
Gross liability recognised 9,560 777 3,777 32,344 54,906 199,699 110,947 412,010
Net favourable (unfavourable) development 15,852 (3,991) (27,964) (12,390) (88,962) (117,055)
Estimate of reinsurers’ share as of December 31 13 9,836 8,043 15,070 27,556 60,518
One year later 2,779 6,726 15,016 64,880
Two years later 95 2,043 18,168 14,332
Three years later 23 2,125 18,578
Four years later - 50 1,907
Five years later = 37
Most recent year 37 1,907 18,578 14,332 64,880 27,556 127,290
Cumulative receipts to date (33) (1,158) (7,414) (6,350) (14,912) (29,867)
Recoverable from claims on unearned premiums = = (475) (303) (6,395) (7,173)
Total recoverable recognised from reinsurers 1,285 4 749 11,164 7,507 49,665 21,161 91,535
Net (favourable) unfavourable development (24) (1,907) (8,742) (6,289) (49,810) (66,772)

() Claims development of prior years is not included.
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42.4 Estimation of claim liabilities (continued)

SAGICOR GENERAL - BY ACCIDENT YEAR Prior years() 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total
Estimate of gross claims incurred as of December 31 o 21,306 16,952 15,338 18,290 17,956 89,842
One year later - 16,228 16,239 15,030 17,812
Two years later - 15,251 16,087 15,174
Three years later 15,183 16,136
Four years later 15,147
Most recent year 15,147 16,136 15,174 17,812 17,956 82,225
Cumulative payments to date (14,385) (14,413) (12,107) (13,411) (9,164) (63,480)
Gross liability recognised 4,168 762 1,723 3,067 4,401 8,792 22,913
Net favourable (unfavourable) development - 6,159 816 164 478 7,617
Estimate of reinsurers’ share as of December 31 o 9,903 9,410 8,209 10,667 - 38,189
One year later - 6,674 9,523 8,022 10,366
Two years later - 6,273 9,378 7,997
Three years later 6,239 9,392
Four years later 6,205
Most recent year 6,205 9,392 7,997 10,366 - 33,960
Cumulative receipts to date (6,180) (8,418) (6,462) (7,729) - (28,789)
Total recoverable recognised from reinsurers 1,975 25 974 1568 2,637 - 7,146
Net (favourable) unfavourable development - 3,698 18 212 301 4,229

() Claims development of prior years is not included.
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42.5 Sensitivity of incurred claims

The impact on claims expense of incurring a maximum likely loss from a catastrophic insurance event
is disclosed in the table of realistic disaster scenarios in the foregoing note 42.2. The impact on gross
claims of increasing the total claims liability by 5% for un-reinsured losses is illustrated in the following
table.

2011 2010
0 0,

Claims . 5% . Claims . S% .
liabilit increase in liabilit increase in

' iability ' Jiability
Direct property 64,229 3,211 54,930 2,747
Direct motor 96,983 4,849 64,267 3,213
Direct accident and liability 105,170 5,259 80,667 4,033
Reinsurance assumed 169,399 8,470 97,915 4,896
435,781 21,789 297,779 14,889

43. INSURANCE RISK - LIFE, ANNUITY & HEALTH CONTRACTS

Insurers are exposed to insurance risks such as product design and pricing, mortality and morbidity,
lapse, expense, reinsurance, and actuarial liability estimation in respect of life, annuity and health
contracts. Disclosure of these risks is set out in the following sections.

43.1 Contracts without investment returns

These contracts are principally term life, critical illness and health insurance. Individual term life and
critical illness products are generally long-term contracts while group term life and health insurance
products are generally one year renewable. The principal insurance risks associated with these
contracts are product design and pricing and mortality and morbidity.

43.1 Contracts without investment returns (continued)

(a) Product design and pricing risk

Product design and pricing risk arises from poorly designed or inadequately priced contracts and can
lead to both financial loss and reputational damage to the insurer.

Risks are priced to achieve an adequate return on capital on the insurer's business as a whole. In
determining the pricing of an insurance contract, the insurer considers the nature and amount of the
risk assumed, and recent experience and industry statistics of the benefits payable. Pricing
inadequacy may arise either from the use of inadequate experience and statistical data in deriving
pricing factors or from market softening conditions.

The underwriting process has established pricing guidelines, and may include specific medical tests
and enquiries which determine the insurer's assessment of the risk. Insurers may also establish
deductibles and coverage limits for health risks which will limit the potential claims incurred. Term life
and critical illness risks have limitations of insured amounts. The pricing of a contract therefore
consists of establishing appropriate premium rates, deductibles and coverage limits.

(b)  Mortality and morbidity risk

Mortality risk is the risk that worsening mortality rates will result in an increase of death claims.
Morbidity is the incidence of disease or illness and the associated risk is that of increased disability
and medical claims. Insurance claims are triggered by the incurrence of a medical claim, the
diagnosis of a critical illness or by death of the person insured.

For contracts providing death benefits, higher mortality rates would result in an increase in death
claims. The Group annually reviews its mortality experience and compares it to industry mortality
tables. This review may result in future adjustments to the pricing or re-pricing of these contracts.

Critical illness claims arise from the diagnosis of a specific illness incurred by the policy beneficiary.
The Group annually reviews its critical illness claims experience and compares it to industry statistics.
This review may result in future adjustments to the pricing or re-pricing of these contracts.

The concentration risks of term life and critical illness contracts are included in the related disclosure
on other long-term contracts in note 43.2(b).
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43.1 Contracts without investment returns (continued)

The cost of health related claims depends on the incidence of beneficiaries becoming ill, the duration
of their iliness, and the cost of providing medical services. An increase in any of these three factors
will result in increased health insurance claims. In such circumstances, the insurer may adjust the"
pricing or re-pricing of these contracts.

For health insurance contracts, the concentration of insurance risk is illustrated by the distribution of
premium revenue by the location of the insured persons.

2011 Premium revenue by location of insureds Gross Ceded Net
Barbados 20,576 805 19,771
Jamaica 67,365 1,344 66,021
Trinidad & Tobago 17,175 126 17,049
Other Caribbean 27,109 889 26,220
USA 246 205 41
Total 132,471 3,369 129,102

(c) Sensitivity of incurred claims

The sensitivity of term life and critical illness claims is included in the related disclosure on other long-
term contracts in note 43.4. The impact on gross claims of increasing the total liability by 5% for un-
reinsured health insurance claims is illustrated in the following table.

2011 2010
N 5% increase . 5% increase
Liability - Liability -
in liability in liability
Actuarial liability 38,761 1,938 38,835 1,942
Claims payable 3,021 151 2,647 132
41,782 2,089 41,482 2,074

43.2 Contracts with investment returns

Life and annuity insurance contracts with investment returns generally have durations of 5 or more
years. The contract terms provide for the policyholder to pay either a single premium at contract
inception, or periodic premiums over the duration of the contract. From the premium received,
acquisition expenses and maintenance expenses are financed. Investment returns are credited to the
policy and are available to fund surrender, withdrawal and maturity policy benefits. The principal risks
associated with these policies are in respect of product design and pricing, mortality and longevity,
lapse, expense and investment.

(@) Product design and pricing risk

Product design and pricing risk arises from poorly designed or inadequately priced contracts and can
lead to both financial loss and reputational damage to the insurer.

Risks are priced to achieve an adequate return on capital on the insurer's business as a whole. In
determining the pricing of a contract, the insurer considers the age of the policyholder and/or
beneficiary, the expenses and taxes associated with the contract, the prospective investment returns
to be credited to the contract, and the guaranteed values within the contract. Pricing inadequacy may
arise either from the use of inadequate experience and statistical data in deriving pricing factors or
from future changes in the economic environment.

(b)  Mortality and longevity risk

Mortality risk is the risk that worsening mortality rates will result in an increase of death claims.
Longevity risk is the risk that improving mortality rates will lengthen the payout period of annuities.

For contracts providing death benefits, higher mortality rates will result in an increase in death claims
over time. For contracts providing the payout of annuities, improving mortality rates will lead to
increased annuity benefits over time. Insurers annually review their mortality experience and compare
it to industry mortality tables. This review'mmay result in future adjustments to the pricing or re-pricing of
these contracts.
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43.2 Contracts with investment returns (continued)

Mortality risk may be concentrated in geographic locations, affecting the risk profile of the insurer. The
most significant exposure for this type of risk arises where a single event or pandemic could result in a
large number of claims.

Total insurance coverage on insurance policies provides a quantitative measure of absolute mortality
risk. However, claims arising in any one year are a very small proportion in relation to the total
insurance coverage provided. The total amounts insured by the Group at December 31, gross and
net of reinsurance, are summarised by geographic area below.

2011 2010

AT TR Individual Group Individual Group
contracts contracts contracts contracts

Barbados Gross 2,971,794 1,566,161 2,919,752 1,594,171
Net 2,602,757 1,451,511 2,539,688 1,485,842

Jamaica Gross 6,502,180 3,798,600 5,836,078 3,556,172
Net 6,160,337 3,779,952 5,466,309 3,537,377

Trinidad & Tobago ~ Gross 2,251,480 1,474,597 2,086,410 1,483,627
Net 1,716,213 1,361,386 1,565,267 1,293,226

Other Caribbean Gross 6,409,169 2,875,174 6,192,439 3,345,078
Net 5,608,097 1,823,219 5,133,811 1,924,583

UK & Europe Gross 303,766 3,031,670 662,388 1,431,105
Net 142,178 2,267,343 434,323 951,843

USA Gross 1,704,249 123,381 1,688,931 87,941
Net 894,842 74,726 848,621 43,902

Total Gross 20,142,638 12,869,583 19,385,998 11,498,094
Net 17,124,424 10,758,137 15,988,019 9,236,773

43.2 Contracts with investment returns (continued)

(c) Lapse risk

Lapse risk is that, on average, policyholders will terminate their policies ahead of the insurer's
expectation. Early lapse may result in the following:
* Acquisition costs are not recovered from the policyholder;
* In order to settle benefits, investments are liquidated prematurely resulting in a loss to the
insurer;
* Maintenance expenses are allocated to the remaining policies, resulting in an increase in
expense risk.

(d) Expense risk

The Group monitors policy acquisition and policy maintenance expenses. Expenses are managed
through policy design, fees charged and expense control. However, there are a significant number of
inforce contracts for which insurers have limited or no ability to re-price for increases in expenses
caused by inflation or other factors. Therefore growth in maintenance expenses has to be funded
either by increasing the volume of inforce policies or by productivity gains. Failure to achieve these
goals will require increases in actuarial liabilities held.

(e)  Investment risk

A substantial proportion of the Group’s financial investments support insurer obligations under life and
annuity contracts with investment returns. The financial risks outlined in note 41 pertaining to credit,
liquidity, interest rate, foreign exchange and equity price are considered integral investment risks
associated with these insurance contracts.

Asset defaults, mismatches in asset and liability cash flows, interest rate and equity price volatility
generally have the effect of increasing investment risk and consequential increases in actuarial
liabilities held.
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43.3 Reinsurance risk

To limit its exposure of potential loss on an insurance policy, the insurer may cede certain levels of
risk to a reinsurer. The Group selects reinsurers which have well established capability to meet their
contractual obligations and for new business a Sagicor credit risk rating of 1 or 2 is usually selected.
Reinsurance ceded does not discharge the insurer’s liability and failure by a reinsurer to honour its
commitments could result in losses to the Group.

Insurers have limited their exposure per person by excess of loss or quota share treaties. Retention
limits represent the level of risk retained by the insurer. Coverage in excess of these limits is ceded to
reinsurers up to the treaty limit. The principal features of retention programs used by insurers are
summarised in the following table.

Retention by insurers

Type of insurance contract .
- currency amounts in thousands

Health insurance contracts with individuals Retention per individual to a maximum of $75

Health insurance contracts with groups Retention per individual to a maximum of $75

Life insurance contracts with individuals Retention per individual life to a maximum of $773

Life insurance contracts with groups Retention per individual life to a maximum of $773

Life insurance and annuity blocks of

0% to 37.5% retention on policy liabilities
contracts

43.4 Sensitivity arising from the valuation of actuarial liabilities

The estimation of actuarial liabilities is sensitive to a number of assumptions. Changes in those
assumptions could have a significant effect on the valuation results which are discussed below.

The valuation of actuarial liabilities of life insurance and annuity contracts is sensitive to:
» the economic scenario used in CALM,
¢ the investments allocated to back the liabilities,
e the underlying assumptions used (note 13.3 (b) to (f)), and
e the margins for adverse deviations (note 13.3 (g)).

Under the CALM methodology, the AA is required to test the actuarial liability under 9 economic
scenarios. These tests have been done and the results of the valuation provide adequately for
liabilities derived from the worst of these different scenarios.
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43.4 Sensitivity arising from the valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

The scenarios developed and tested by insurers were as follows.

Sensitivity Scenario
Sagicor Life Inc Sagicor Life Jamaica
. ! Sagicor USA segment
segment segment
: Lapse rates were either doubled or halved, and the
Worsening Lapse  rates  were
more adverse result was selected.
rate of lapse doubled.
Assumed increases in the
investment portfolio yield: Assumed increases in .
P y A 1% increase was

High interest
rate

rates of 0.25% per year for
5 years, with the rates
remaining constant
thereafter.

the investment portfolio
yield rates of 0.5% for 10
years.

applied to the investment
portfolio rate.

Low interest
rate

Assumed decreases in
investment portfolio yield
rates of 0.25% per year for
5 years, with the rates
remaining constant
thereafter.

Assumed decreases in
investment portfolio yield
rates of 0.5% per year
for 10 years.

A 1%
applied to the investment
portfolio rate.

decrease was

Mortality and morbidity rates for insurance and critical

For life insurance
products only, the base

Worsening illness products were increased by 3% of the base rate
. assumed rates were
mortality and : per year for 5 years. )
o , , increased annually by
morbidity For annuity products, the mortality rates were )
3% cumulatively over the
decreased by 3% of the base rate for 5 years.
next 5 years.
Higher Policy unit maintenance expense rates were increased by 5% per year for 5 years
expenses above those reflected in the base scenario.

43.4 Sensitivity arising from the valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued)

The following table represents the estimated sensitivity of each of the above scenarios to net actuarial
liabilities for insurers by segment. Correlations that may exist between scenario assumptions were not

explicitly taken into account.

Base net actuarial
liability

Scenario

Worsening rate
of lapse

High interest rate
Low interest rate

Worsening mortality /
morbidity

Higher expenses

Sagicor Life Inc Sagicor Life Jamaica Sagicor USA
segment segment segment
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
785,729 759,399 403,926 347,449 508,715 454,397

increase in liability

increase in liability

increase in liability

64660 64,978
(94.935)  (62479)
132,801 106,512
25538 24,830
26164 30,509

44540 37,183
(75,447)  (57,884)
11371 93,590
27,997 24,229
19936 19,967

16,881 19,022
(28,115)  (27,401)
32223 31,559
8,048 8,795
2,784 1,166

43.5 Dynamic capital adequacy testing (DCAT)

DCAT is a technique used by the Group to assess the adequacy of the insurer’s financial position and
financial condition in the light of different future economic and policy experience scenarios. DCAT
assesses the impact over the next 5 years on the insurer’s financial position and financial condition

under specific scenarios.

175



Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2011

Sagicor Financial Corporation
Amounts expressed in US $000

43.5 Dynamic capital adequacy testing (continued)

The financial position of an insurer is reflected by the amounts of assets, liabilities and equity in the
financial statements at a given date. The financial position therefore relies on the valuation
assumptions used for establishing the actuarial liabilities being adequate to measure future adverse
deviations in experience. The financial position does not offer any indication of an insurer's ability to
execute its business plan.

The financial condition of an insurer at a particular date is its prospective ability at that date to meet its
future obligations, especially obligations to policyholders, those to whom it owes benefits and to its
shareholders. The financial condition analysis examines both an insurer's ability to execute its
business plan and to absorb adverse experience beyond that provided for when its actuarial liabilities
are established.

The purpose of the DCAT is
* to develop an understanding of the sensitivity of the total equity of the insurer and future
financial condition to changes in various experience factors and management policies;
e toalert management to material, plausible and imminent threats to the insurer’s solvency;
* and to describe possible courses of action to address these threats.

Full DCAT is conducted periodically by some insurers within the Group.

44. FIDUCIARY RISK

The Group provides investment management and pension administration services to investment and
pension funds which involve the Group making allocation, purchase and sale decisions in relation to a
wide range of investments. These assets are held in a fiduciary capacity and are not included in these
financial statements. These services give rise to fiduciary risk that may expose the Group to claims
for mal-administration or under-performance of these funds.

In the ordinary course of business, the Group manages assets of pension funds, mutual funds and
unit trusts which are not included in the Group’s financial statements. The investments and cash
under administration are summarised in the following table.

2011 2010

Pension and insurance fund assets 1,247,709 1,134,473
Mutual fund, unit trust and other investment fund assets 364,749 348,593
1,612,458 1,483,066
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45. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital resources according to the following objectives:

*  To comply with capital requirements established by insurance, banking and other financial
intermediary regulatory authorities;

*  To comply with internationally recognised capital requirements for insurance, where local
regulations do not meet these international standards;

*  To safeguard its ability as a going concern to continue to provide benefits and returns to
policyholders, depositors, note-holders and shareholders;

e To provide adequate returns to shareholders;

*  To maintain a strong capital base to support the future development of Group operations.

45.1 Capital resources

The principal capital resources of the Group are as follows:

2011 2010
Shareholders’ equity 607,135 565,552
Minority interest 188,197 168,942
Notes and loans payable 232,530 181,885
Total financial statement capital resources 1,027,862 916,379
Letter of credit facilities, net of collateral assets 33,926 34,530
Total off financial statement resources 33,926 34,530
Total capital resources 1,061,788 950,909

The Group deploys its capital resources through its operating activities. These operating activities are
carried out by subsidiary companies which are either insurance entities or provide other financial
services. The capital is deployed in such a manner as to ensure that subsidiaries have adequate and
sufficient capital resources to carry out their activities and to meet regulatory requirements.

45.2 Capital adequacy

The capital adequacy of the principal operating subsidiaries is discussed in this section.

(@) Life insurers

Capital adequacy is managed at the operating company level. It is calculated by the Appointed
Actuary and reviewed by executive management, the audit committee and the board of directors. In
addition, the Group seeks to maintain internal capital adequacy at levels higher than the regulatory or
internationally recognised requirements.

To assist in evaluating the current business and strategy opportunities, a risk-based capital approach
is a core measure of financial performance. The risk-based assessment measure which has been
adopted is the Canadian Minimum Continuing Surplus and Capital Requirement (MCCSR) standard.
The minimum standard recommended by the Canadian regulators for companies is an MCCSR of
150%. A number of jurisdictions in the Caribbean region have no internationally recognised capital
adequacy requirements, and in accordance with its objectives for managing capital, the Group has
adopted the Canadian MCCSR standard.

The consolidated MCCSR for the Sagicor Group as of December 31 was 269% (2010 — 224%) and is
the main standard of capital adequacy used by the Sagicor Group.

(i) Sagicor Life Inc

The consolidated MCCSR of Sagicor Life Inc (comprising the life insurance entities within the Sagicor
Life Inc. and Sagicor Life Jamaica operating segments) was 222% as of December 31, 2011 (2010 —
197%).

Sagicor Life Jamaica is governed by the Jamaican MCCSR regime which requires an insurer to
maintain a minimum ratio of 150%. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, this ratio was
160% and 203% respectively. The decline in ratio in 2011 is primarily a consequence of the
reorganisation of holdings of a subsidiary within the Sagicor Life Jamaica Group and additionally, the
increase in fair value of the investment in subsidiaries reported by Sagicor Life Jamaica.
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45.2 Capital adequacy (continued)

(ii) Sagicor Life Insurance Company (USA)

A risk-based capital (RBC) formula and model were adopted by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (NAIC) of the United States. RBC is designed to assess minimum capital
requirements and raise the level of protection that statutory surplus provides for policyholder
obligations. The RBC formula for life insurance companies measures four major areas of risk: (i)
underwriting, which encompasses the risk of adverse loss developments and property and casualty
insurance product mix; (i) declines in asset values arising from credit risk; (i) declines in asset values
arising from investment risks, including concentrations; and (iv) off-balance sheet risk arising from
adverse experience from non-controlled assets such as reinsurance guarantees for affiliates or other
contingent liabilities and reserve and premium growth. If an insurer's statutory surplus is lower than
required by the RBC calculation, it will be subject to varying degrees of regulatory action, depending
on the level of capital inadequacy.

The RBC methodology provides for four levels of regulatory action. The extent of regulatory
intervention and action increases as the ratio of surplus to RBC falls. The least severe regulatory
action is the "Company Action Level" (as defined by the NAIC) which requires an insurer to submit a
plan of corrective actions to the regulator if surplus falls below 200% of the RBC amount.

Sagicor Life Insurance Company looks to maintain at least 300% of the Company Action Level, and
has maintained these ratios as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively.

45.2 Capital adequacy (continued)

(b) Sagicor Europe - Lloyd's syndicates 1206 & 44

The Financial Services Authority (FSA) Lloyd’s sourcebook requires Lloyd’s syndicates to comply with
an Individual Capital Adequacy Standards regime. A key objective of the regime is that syndicate
management focuses on risk management and there is a clearly defined link between risk and capital
setting.

Sagicor at Lloyd’s has adopted an approach whereby risks which are identified as having a material
effect on the capital requirements are documented within a risk register, are shown as prime risks. It is
recognised that this register is dependent on both the identification and subsequent analysis of
individual risks by management. The risk register is subject to regular review and is updated to reflect
the changes in the syndicate’s risk profile. The risk classes comprise insurance, credit, market,
liquidity, Group and operational risks.

The Individual Capital Assessment (ICA) is calculated using “stress and scenario” methodology for
prime risk categories except for reserving risk where a stochastic model is used. Prime risks have
been correlated to minimise potential aggregation of risks.

Each year, an ICA is prepared based on a one year event horizon and capital requirements are based
on the 99.5% confidence level over the next year. The ICA provides for all losses modelled to ultimate.
An overall ICA number is computed. To this is added a premium and the resulting total, known as the
Funds at Lloyd's requirement (Fal) is placed at the disposal of Lloyd's of London.

The FalL may consist of cash, securities, banker’s irrevocable standby letters of credit or reinsurance
financing. The FaL is put into effect before the start of the underwriting year and remains in place until
the underwriting year closes and its profits are distributed or its losses are assumed by the
participating member. An underwriting year is normally held open for a period of three years.
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45.2 Capital adequacy (continued)

The FaL requirements for the Syndicates at the beginning of each underwriting are as follows:

Underwriting year

2012 - £000 2011 - £000 2010 - £000

FaL requirement:
Syndicate 1206 152,004 137,241 98,440
Syndicate 44 5,199 4,438 4,899
157,203 141,679 103,339

Represented by:
Banker's letters of credit 52,100 52,100 52,100
Financial investments 31,619 31,622 30,934
Reinsurance financing 78,750 78,750 18,750
Solvency surplus 238 - 1,555
162,707 162,472 103,339

(c) Pan Caribbean Financial Services (PCFS) Group

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored monthly by the PCFS Group
management employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Financial Services
Commission (FSC), the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ), Basel Il and the Risk Management and Compliance
Unit. The required information is filed with the respective Regulatory Authorities at stipulated intervals.
The BOJ and the FSC require each regulated entity to hold the minimum level of regulatory capital, and
to maintain a minimum ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets.

45.2 Capital adequacy (continued)

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified
according to the nature of each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or
guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off financial statements exposure, with some
adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarises the ratios of the regulated companies within the PCFS Group (PCFS
itself and PanCaribbeanBank Limited (PCB)). During 2011 and 2010, these companies complied with
all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.

PCFS PCB
2011 2010 2011 2010

Actual capital base to risk weighted assets 21% 46% 26% 32%

Required capital base to risk weighted assets 10% 10% 10% 10%

The risk-weighted capital ratios declined in 2011 due to the inclusion of new capital charges for market
risks of Government of Jamaica debt securities.

45.3 Financial covenants

(@) 7.5% senior notes due 2016

Under an indenture entered into by the Group on the issue of the senior notes (see note 16), the
Group has to comply with a permitted lien covenant, which will not allow the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries to directly or indirectly, incur or permit to exist any lien to secure any indebtedness or any
guarantee of indebtedness, other than permitted liens, without effectively providing that the senior
notes are secured equitably and rateably with (or, if the obligation to be secured by the lien is
subordinated in right of payment to the senior notes, prior to) the obligations so secured for so long as
such obligations are so secured.

Permitted liens are liens existing on the date of issue of the senior notes, certain liens which would
arise in the course of normal business, and other liens whose outstanding principal amounts in
aggregate outstanding principal amount do not exceed 10% of the consolidated net tangible assets
(as is defined in the indenture). As of December 31, 2011, the Group satisfied this requirement.
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45.3 Financial covenants (continued)
(b)  Letter of credit facilities

Financial covenants in the letter of credit facility granted by the Bank of Nova Scotia are as follows:

Covenant Description

Tandible net The Group is required to maintain a tangible net worth greater than $250,000 at all

worti (1) times, such covenant to be tested annually. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
the Group satisfied this requirement.

Interest The Group is required to maintain an interest coverage ratio of at least 5:1 at all

soverage times, such covenant to be tested annually. For the years ended December 31,

ratio (1? 2011 and 2010, the Group’s interest coverage ratio was 4.8:1 and 5.6:1
respectively.

Financial Sagicor Life Inc is required to maintain minimum financial strength ratings of BBB-

strenath @ from Standard & Poor’s and of B+ from A.M. Best. Sagicor Life Inc has maintained

g the required financial strength ratings for the year and up to the date of issue of

these financial statements.

Permitted liens : The covenant described in section (a) is incorporated in the facility.

() As defined in the letter of credit agreement.
Failure to satisfy these covenants may result in an event of default in which case the bank may
cancel the facility; the facility currently has a four year notice period with Lloyd’s of London.

(2) There is a further requirement of no material adverse change in the financial condition of Sagicor
Life Inc.
Failure to satisfy the ratings and / or material adverse change criteria may result in the bank
requiring the Group to fully collateralise the facility.

45.3 Financial covenants (continued)

() International Finance Corporation (IFC)

On March 31, 2011, the Company entered into subscription and policy agreements with IFC,
regarding the latter's participation in the issue of new common and convertible redeemable
preference shares. Pursuant to the aforementioned agreements, on July 18, 2011, 12,269,938
common shares and 78,339,530 convertible redeemable preference shares were issued to IFC. The
financial covenants included in these agreements are summarised below.

(i) Price protection rights

IFC has been granted price protection rights to in relation to the common shares held. If within a 2
year period of the subscription date, the Company issues or sells any shares, except as pursuant to
any employee stock incentive plan, at a price less than Barbados $3.26 per share, the Company shall
compensate IFC by the issue to IFC of additionally fully-paid true-up shares to place IFC in the
position as if it had subscribed at the lower price.

(i) Put option

IFC has been granted the right to require the Company to purchase IFC’s holding of convertible
redeemable preference shares in the event that the Company is in breach of any of the policy
reporting or IFC policy covenants. The Company may nominate a third party to purchase the shares.
The purchase must take place within 10 and 60 days of the date of notice. If the Company either fails
to purchase or does not arrange a third party purchase, IFC may sell the shares to a third party and
the Company is required to pay a late payment charge of 6.5% per annum.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of US 2 cents per common share, approved for the half-year ended June 30, 2011, was paid on November 15, 2011 to
the holders of common shares, including depositary interest holders, whose names were registered on the books of the Company at the
close of business on October 17, 2011. A final common dividend of US 2 cents per common share, payable on May 15, 2012, was approved
for the financial year ended December 31, 2011 to the holders of common shares, including depositary interest holders, whose names
were registered on the books of the Company at the close of business on April 16, 2012. The total dividend on common shares for the 2011
financial year amounted to US 4 cents per share.

An interim dividend of US 2.12 cents per convertible redeemable preference share was paid on November 15, 2011 to the holders of
convertible redeemable preference shares, whose names were registered on the books of the Company at the close of business on
October 17, 2011. A final dividend of US 3.25 cents per convertible redeemable preference share, payable on May 15, 2012, was approved
for the financial year ended December 31, 2011 to the holders of convertible redeemable preference shares, whose names were registered
on the books of the Company at the close of business on April 16, 2012. The total convertible redeemable preference dividend for the 2011
financial year amounted to US 5.37 cents per share.

SHARES

The following Shareholders own more than 5% and 3% respectively of the capital of the Company as at December 31, 2011:

Convertible Redeemable

Common Shares
Preference Shares

Number of Shares Percentage Number of Shares Percentage
International Finance Corporation: 12,269,938 4.04% 78,339,530 65.28%
National Insurance Board, Barbados: 18,950,000 6.24% 10,000,000 8.33%
Republic Bank Limited — 1162: 10,998,300 3.62% 4,000,000 3.33%

The total number of common shares issued in 2011 was 12,575,676, which were issued on July 18, 2011 following a Rights Issue of new
common shares to Shareholders resident in Barbados and Trinidad and Tobago, and an additional allotment of new common shares
to International Finance Corporation. The total number of issued common shares as at December 31, 2011 was 303,917,020 (2010:

291,341,344).




The total number of new convertible redeemable preference shares issued in 2011 was 120,000,000, which were issued on July 18, 2011,
following a new issue of new convertible redeemable preference shares to Shareholders resident in Barbados and Trinidad and Tobago and

International Finance Corporation. The total number of issued convertible redeemable preference shares as at December 31, 2011 was
120,000,000 (2010: nil).

LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (LTI)

The Tables below show grants of restricted stock and stock options as at December 31, 2011 under the LTI for Executives.

Restricted Stock

Not Vested
Awards Awards Awards in Vested as of Vested Vested as of as of
Award Year | Value - US$ Made Forfeited Effect Jan 1, 2011 in 2011 Dec 31, 2011 | Dec 31, 2011
2008 2.50 674,828 (10,106) 664,722 566,979 65,455 632,434 32,288
2009 1.58 430,122 0 430,122 430,122 0 430,122 0
2010 1.60 1,041,423 0 1,041,423 379,490 184,330 563,820 477,603
2011 1.48 1,092,912 0 1,092,912 0 190,209 190,209 902,703
Totals: 3,239,285 (10,106) 3,229,179 1,376,591 439,994 1,816,585 1,412,594
Less: allocated for settlement of tax (139,236)
Total converted to shares 300,758
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Stock Options
. . N

pwardvar | Bt | mrts | RS a5 | vesed |00 | OSSR N

Forfeited Jan 1, 2011 Dec 31, 2011|Dec 31, 2011|Dec 31, 2011|Dec 31, 2011
2006 1.98 932,387 | (130,232) 802,155 802,155 0 802,155 120,443 681,712 0
2007 2.01 2,049,598 | (239,686) | 1,809,912 | 1,357,441 452,471 | 1,809,912 72,839 | 1,737,073 0
2008 2.50 1,422,949 | (180,820) | 1,242,129 621,070 310,533 931,603 0 931,603 310,526
2009 2.50 1,595,496 (83,033) | 1,512,463 378,117 378,121 756,238 0 756,238 756,225
2010 1.60 2,204,408 0 2,204,408 0 551,108 551,108 0 551,108 | 1,653,300
2011 1.48 2,522,188 0 2,522,188 0 0 0 0 0| 2,522,188
Totals: 10,727,026 | (633,771) [10,093,255 | 3,158,783 | 1,692,233 | 4,851,016 193,282 | 4,657,734 | 5,242,239




ANALYSIS OF COMMON SHAREHOLDING

Shareholders by Size of Holding

Number of Common Shareholders by Size of Holding as at December 31, 2011 (with 2010 Comparison)

Size of Holding Number of Shareholders :i;creer:;gdeef: Total Shares Held Percentage of Shares Held
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
1- 1,000 6,491 6,577 17.38 17.42 3,943,827 4,014,284 1.30 1.38
1,001 - 2,500 15,439 15,625 41.33 41.38 25,623,946 | 25,962,039 8.43 8.91
2,501 - 5,000 7,252 7,324 19.42 19.39 25,176,454 | 25,430,237 8.28 8.73
5,001 - 10,000 4,180 4,229 11.19 11.20 29,874,915 | 30,231,859 9.83 10.38
10,001 - 25,000 3,045 3,073 8.15 8.14 43,882,707 | 44,284,005 14.44 15.20
25,001 - 100,000 701 693 1.88 1.84 33,306,340 | 32,351,711 10.96 11.10
100,001 - 1,000,000 223 225 0.60 0.60 63,785,367 | 65,236,735 20.99 22.39
1,000,001 & above 21 18 0.06 0.05 78,323,464 | 63,830,474 25.77 21.91
Total 37,352 37,764 100.00 100.00 303,917,020 | 291,341,344 100.00 100.00
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Country Staff, Advisors Companies Individuals Total
Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders %
Trinidad and Tobago 82 0.22 720 1.93 15,568 41.68 16,370 43.83
Barbados 172 0.46 264 0.71 11,895 31.85 12,331 33.01
Eastern Caribbean 27 0.07 55 0.15 7,218 19.32 7,300 19.54
Other Caribbean 15 0.04 62 0.17 163 0.44 240 0.64
Other 14 0.04 45 0.12 1,052 2.82 1,111 2.97
Total 310 0.83 1,146 3.07 35,896 96.10 37,352 100.00
Number of Common Shareholders by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2010
Country Direc;c;;f,, '\Aﬂj\zzif?ent’ Companies Individuals Total
Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders %
Trinidad and Tobago 61 0.16 468 1.24 15,999 4237 16,528 43.77
Barbados 139 0.37 229 0.61 12,199 32.30 12,567 33.28
Eastern Caribbean 25 0.07 32 0.08 7,317 19.38 7,374 19.53
Other Caribbean 12 0.03 51 0.14 193 0.51 256 0.68
Other 11 0.03 5 0.01 1,023 2.71 1,039 2.75
Total 248 0.66 785 2.08 36,731 97.26 37,764 100.00




Shares held by Country of Residence

Number of Common Shares Held by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2011

Country Direc;i);é I;‘/Ij\zi:nent, Companies Individuals Total
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
Trinidad and Tobago 1,776,247 0.58 71,562,431 23.55 78,752,220 25.91 152,090,898 50.04
Barbados 3,814,925 1.26 41,430,546 13.63 61,220,581 20.14 106,466,052 35.03
Eastern Caribbean 79,783 0.03 580,875 0.19 20,510,383 6.75 21,171,041 6.97
Other Caribbean 539,905 0.18 4,490,028 1.48 1,086,618 0.36 6,116,551 2.01
Other 422,326 0.14 13,358,668 4.40 4,291,484 1.41 18,072,478 5.95
Total 6,633,186 2.18 131,422,548 43.24 165,861,286 54.57 303,917,020 | 100.00
Number of Common Shares Held by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2010
Country Direc;c;;f,, I\A/Ij\zziznent, Companies Individuals Total
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
Trinidad and Tobago 459,429 0.16 32,930,332 11.30 105,070,214 36.06 138,459,975 47.53
Barbados 2,700,650 0.93 33,764,569 11.59 66,667,115 22.88 103,132,334 35.40
Eastern Caribbean 68,298 0.02 450,516 0.15 20,706,220 7.1 21,225,034 7.29
Other Caribbean 548,000 0.19 3,652,034 1.25 3,482,243 1.20 7,682,277 2.64
Other 184,052 0.06 162,880 0.06 20,494,792 7.03 20,841,724 7.15
Total 3,960,429 1.36 70,960,331 24.36 216,420,584 74.28 291,341,344 | 100.00
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ANALYSIS OF CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHAREHOLDING

Shareholders by Size of Holding

Number of Preference Shareholders by Size of Holding as at December 31, 2011

Size of Holding

Number of

Percentage of

Total Shares Held

Percentage of Shares

Shareholders Shareholders Held

1- 1,000 417 35.86 227,809 0.19

1,001 - 2,500 190 16.34 380,904 0.32

2,501 - 5,000 264 22.70 1,214,810 1.01

5,001 - 10,000 108 9.29 939,598 0.78

10,001 - 25,000 71 6.10 1,309,995 1.09

25,001 - 100,000 73 6.28 4,398,549 3.67

100,001 - 1,000,000 34 2.92 13,940,000 11.62

1,000,001 & above 6 0.52 97,588,335 81.32

Total 1,163 100.00 120,000,000 100.00




Shareholders by Country of Residence

Number of Preference Shareholders by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2011

Directors, Management,

Country Staff, Advisors Companies Individuals Total
Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders % Shareholders %
USA 0 0.00 1 0.09 0 0.00 1 0.09
Trinidad and Tobago 11 0.95 63 5.42 435 37.40 509 43.77
Barbados 36 3.10 41 3.53 576 49.53 653 56.15
Total 47 4.04 105 9.03 1,011 86.93 1,163 100.00
Shares held by Country of Residence
Number of Preference Shares Held by Country of Residence and by Type as at December 31, 2011
Country Direc;(z;f,’ l\;l:\:ziznent, Companies Individuals Total
Shares % Shares % Shares % Shares %
USA 0 0.00 78,339,530 65.28 0 0.00 78,339,530 65.28
Trinidad and Tobago 663,000 0.55 12,496,307 10.41 7,200,404 6.00 20,359,711 16.97
Barbados 360,348 0.30 18,761,240 15.63 2,179,171 1.82 21,300,759 17.75
Total 1,023,348 0.85 109,597,077 | 91.33 9,379,575 7.82 120,000,000 | 100.00
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TEAMWORK IS THE FUEL THAT ALLOWS COMMON PEOPLE
TO ATTAIN UNCOMMON RESULTS.

TEAMWORK,



Annual Report 2011

ADVISORS AND BANKERS

APPOINTED ACTUARY
Sylvain Goulet, FCIA, FSA, MAAA, Affiliate Member of the (British) Institute of Actuaries
and Affiliate Member of the Caribbean Actuarial Association

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers SRL

LEGAL ADVISORS

Allen & Overy LLP, New York, USA

Allen & Overy LLP, London, United Kingdom
Carrington & Sealy, Barbados

Patterson K H Cheltenham, QC, LLM, Barbados
Barry LV Gale, QC, LLB (Hons), Barbados
Hobsons, Trinidad and Tobago

Shutts & Bowen LLP, Florida, USA

BANKERS

Butterfield Bank (Barbados) Limited

CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited
RBC Royal Bank (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited
RBC Royal Bank (Barbados) Limited

The Bank of Nova Scotia
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OFFICES

SAGICOR FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Cecil F de Caires Building
Wildey, St Michael
Barbados

Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: (246) 436-8829

Email: info@sagicor.com
Website: www.sagicor.com

SAGICOR LIFE INC
Sagicor Financial Centre
Lower Collymore Rock
St Michael, Barbados
Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: (246) 436-8829
Email: info@sagicor.com

Sagicor Life Inc Branch Offices
Barbados

1st Avenue, Belleville

St Michael

Tel: (246) 467-7700

Fax: (246) 429-4148

Email: info@sagicor.com

Antigua

Sagicor Financial Centre
#9 Factory Road,

St John's

Tel: (268) 480-5550

Fax: (268) 480-5520

Email: info_antigua@sagicor.com

Grenada

Young Street

St George's

Tel: (473) 440-1223

Fax: (473) 440-4169

Email: info_grenada@sagicor.com

St Lucia

Sagicor Financial Centre

Choc Estate, Castries

Tel: (758) 452-3169

Fax: (758) 450-3787

Email: info_stlucia@sagicor.com

Trinidad and Tobago

Sagicor Financial Centre

16 Queen'’s Park West, Port of Spain
Tel: (868) 628-1636/7/8

Fax: (868) 628-1639

Email: comments@sagicor.com

Sagicor Life Inc Agencies
Anguilla

Malliouhana Insurance Co Ltd
Caribbean Commercial Centre
The Valley

Tel: (264) 497-3712

Fax: (264) 497-3710

Dominica

WillCher Services Inc

44 Hillsborough Street

Corner Hillsborough & Independence Street
Roseau

Tel: (767) 440-2562

Fax: (767) 440-2563

Email: info_dominica@sagicor.com

Guyana

Hand-in-Hand Mutual Life Assurance Company
Limited

Lots 1, 2 and 3, Avenue of the Republic
Georgetown

Tel: (592) 251861

Fax: (592) 251867

Montserrat
Administered by Antigua Branch

St Kitts

Sagicor Life Inc

C/o The St Kitts Nevis Anguilla Trading and
Development Co. Ltd

Central Street, Basseterre

Tel: (869) 465-9476

Fax: (869) 465 6437

St Vincent

Incorporated Agencies Limited
Frenches

Kingstown

Tel: (784) 456-1159

Fax: (784) 456-2232

SAGICOR GENERAL INSURANCE INC
Beckwith Place, Lower Broad Street
Bridgetown, Barbados

Tel: (246) 431-2800

Fax: (246) 426-0752

Email: sgi-info@sagicorgeneral.com
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Sagicor General Insurance Branch Offices

Barbados

Mall Internationale
Haggatt Hall

St Michael

Tel: (246) 431-2886
Fax: (246) 426-8245

Sagicor Financial Centre
Lower Collymore Rock
St Michael

Tel: (246) 467-7650

Fax: (246) 428-6269

Building #2
Chelston Park
Culloden Road

St Michael

Tel: (246) 431-2886

Antigua

Sagicor Life Inc

Sagicor Financial Centre
9 Factory Road

PO Box 666

St Johns

Tel: (268) 480-5500

Fax: (268) 480-5520

Trinidad and Tobago
Sagicor Financial Centre
16 Queen'’s Park West
Port of Spain

Tel: (868) 628-1636/7/8
Fax: (868) 628-1639

Sagicor General Insurance Agencies
HHV Whitchurch & Company Limited
Old Street

PO Box 771

Roseau

Dominica

Tel: (767) 448-2181

Fax: (767) 448-5787

WillCher Services Inc

44 Hillsborough Street

Corner Hillsborough & Independence Street
Roseau

Dominica

Tel: (767) 440-2562

Fax: (767) 440-2563

JE Maxwell & Company Limited
PO Box GGM507

Bridge Street

Castries

St Lucia

Tel: (758) 451-7829

Fax: (758) 451-7271

GLOBE FINANCE INC

6 Rendezvous Court, Rendezvous Main Road
Christ Church, Barbados

Tel: (246) 426-4755

Fax: (246) 426-4772

Website: www.globefinanceinc.com

SAGICOR FUNDS INCORPORATED
Cecil F de Caries Building

Wildey, St Michael,

Barbados

Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: (246) 436-8829

Email: info@sagicor.com

SAGICOR ASSET MANAGEMENT INC
Cecil F de Caries Building

Wildey, St Michael,

Barbados

Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: (246) 426-1153

Email: info@sagicor.com

SAGICOR FINANCE INC
Sagicor Financial Centre
Choc Estate, Castries
Tel: (758) 452-4272

Fax: (758) 452-4279

SAGICOR ASSET MANAGEMENT (TRINIDAD
AND TOBAGO) LIMITED

Sagicor Financial Centre

16 Queen’s Park West, Port of Spain

Tel: (868) 628-1636/7/8

Fax: (868) 628-1639

NATIONWIDE INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED
Sagicor Financial Centre

16 Queen’s Park West

Port of Spain, Trinidad

Tel: (868) 628-1636

Fax: (868) 628-1639

Email: comments@sagicor.com



BARBADOS FARMS LIMITED
Bulkeley

St George

Barbados

Tel: (246) 427-5299

Fax: (246) 437-8873

SAGICOR PANAMA SA

Ave Samuel Lewis y Calle Santa Rita
Edificio Plaza Obarrio

3er Piso Oficina 201

Panama City, Panama

Tel: (507) 223-1511

Fax: (507) 264-1949

Email: capitall@sinfo.net

SAGICOR CAPITAL LIFE INSURANCE
COMPANY LIMITED

Sagicor Financial Centre

Lower Collymore Rock

St Michael

Barbados

Tel: (246) 467-7500

Fax: (246) 436-8829

Sagicor Capital Life Branch Offices
Belize

The Insurance Centre

212 North Front Street

Belize City

Tel: (501) 223-3147

Fax: (501) 223-7390

Email: capitalbe@btl.net

Curagao

Schottegatweg Oost #11

Tel: (599) 9 736-8558

Fax: (599) 9 736-8575

Email: capital.life@curinfo.an

Sagicor Capital Life Agencies
Curagao

Guillen Insurance Consultants
PO Box 4929

Kaya E, Salas No 34

Tel: (599) 9 461-2081

Fax: (599) 9 461-1675

Email: chris-guillen@betlinks.an

Haiti

Cabinet d’Assurance Fritz de Catalogne
Angles Rues de Peuple et des Miracles
Port-au-Prince

Tel: (509) 226695

Fax: (509) 230827

Email: capital@compa.net

St Maarten

C/o Charlisa NV, Walter Nisbeth Road #99B

Phillipsburg

Tel: (599) 542-2070

Fax: (599) 542-3079

Email: capital@sintmaarten.net

CAPITAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
BAHAMAS LIMITED

C/o Family Guardian Insurance Company Limited
East Bay & Shirley Street

PO Box $5-6232

Nassau, NP

Bahamas

Tel: (242) 393-4000

Fax: (242) 393-1100

Email: info@familyguardian.com

SAGICOR LIFE ARUBA NV
Fergusonstraat #106

AHMO Plaza Building, Suites 1 and 2
Oranjestad, Aruba

Tel: (297) 823967

Fax: (297) 826004

Email: calico@setarnet.aw

Lyder Insurance Consultants
Seroe Blanco 56A
Tel: (297) 582-6133

LO) HOLDINGS LTD
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica
Tel: (876) 929-8920(-9)
Fax: (876) 960-1927

SAGICOR LIFE JAMAICA LIMITED
28-48 Barbados Avenue

Kingston 5, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 929-8920(-9)

Fax: (876) 960-1927

Website: www.sagicorjamaica.com
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ADMINISTRATORS LTD
28-48 Barbados Avenue

Kingston 5, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 929-8920(-9)

Fax: (876) 960-1927

Website: www.sagicorjamaica.com

SAGICOR LIFE OF THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
LIMITED

Global House, 198 North Church Street
George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Tel: (345) 949-8211

Fax: (345) 949-8262

Email: global@candw.ky

SAGICOR INSURANCE MANAGERS LIMITED
1st Floor Harbour Place

103 South Church Street

George Town

Grand Cayman

Tel: (345)-949-7028

Fax: (345)-949-7457

SAGICOR PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
SERVICES LTD

78a Hagley Park Road,

Kingston 10,

Jamaica

Tel: (876) 929-9182-6

Fax: (876) 929-9187

SAGICOR RE INSURANCE LTD

Global House, 198 North Church Street
George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Tel: (345) 949-8211

Fax: (345) 949-8262

Email: global@candw.ky

HEALTH CORPORATION JAMAICA LTD

ST ANDREW’S DEVELOPERS LIMITED
SAGICOR INSURANCE BROKERS LIMITED
LESTED DEVELOPERS LIMITED

PANCARIBBEAN FINANCIAL SERVICES
LIMITED

Pan Caribbean Building

60 Knutsford Boulevard

Kingston 5, Jamaica

Tel: (876) 929-5583-4

Fax: (876) 926-4385

Email: options@gopancaribbean.com
Website: www.gopancaribbean.com

PANCARIBBEANBANK LIMITED

SAGICOR USA, INC

4010 W. Boy Scout Blvd, Suite 800
Tampa, Florida 33607, USA

Tel: (813)-287-1602

Fax: (813)-287-7420

SAGICOR LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
4010 W. Boy Scout Blvd, Suite 800
Tampa, Florida 33607, USA

Tel: (813) 287-1602

Fax: (813) 287-7420

SAGICOR LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
4343 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 300
Scottsdale, Arizona, 85251

USA

Tel: 1-800-531-5067

Fax: (345) 949-8262

Website: www.sagicorlifeusa.com

SAGICOR EUROPE LIMITED
Maples Corporate Services Limited
Ugland House

South Church Street

George Town, Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands

SAGICOR CAYMAN REINSURANCE, LTD
Maples Corporate Services Limited
Ugland House

South Church Street

George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

SAGICOR AT LLOYD’S LIMITED
1 Great Tower Street

London

United Kingdom

EC3R 5AA

Tel: +44 (0)20 3003 6800

Fax: +44 (0)20 3003 6999

Email: info@sagicor.eu
Website: www.sagicor.eu

SAGICOR SYNDICATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
SAGICOR SYNDICATE SERVICES LIMITED
SAGICOR CLAIMS MANAGEMENT INC
SAGICOR CORPORATE CAPITAL LIMITED
SAGICOR COPORATE CAPITAL TWO LIMITED

LLOYD’S SYNDICATE 1206

LLOYD’S SYNDICATE 44



SAGICOR UNDERWRITING LIMITED

1 Great Tower Street

London

United Kingdom

EC3R 5AA

Tel: +44 (0)20 3003 6969

Fax: +44 (0)20 3003 6997

Email: sul@sagicor.eu

Website: www.sagicorunderwriting.com

SAGICOR FINANCE LIMITED
Maples Corporate Services Limited
Ugland House

South Church Street

George Town, Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands

Associated Companies

FAMGUARD CORPORATION LIMITED
East Bay & Shirley Street

PO Box SS5-6232

Nassau, NP

Bahamas

Tel: (242) 396 4000

Fax: (242) 393 1100

Website: www.famguardbahamas.com

RGM LTD

Albion Plaza Energy Centre,
22-24 Victoria Avenue,

Port of Spain,

Trinidad

Tel: (868) 625-6505 ext. 26
Fax: (868) 624-7607
Mobile: (868) 678-3181
Direct: (868) 624-6975
Email: gpd@rgm.co.tt
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